# Ordinances to Ban Plastic Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County

INITIAL STUDY

PREPARED FOR:

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS ENVIRONMENTAL PROGRAMS DIVISION 900 SOUTH FREMONT AVENUE, 3RD FLOOR ALHAMBRA, CALIFORNIA 9 I 803

PREPARED BY:

SAPPHOS ENVIRONMENTAL, INC. 430 North Halstead Street Pasadena, California 91107

DECEMBER I, 2009

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

## **SECTIONS**

# PAGE

1.0	PROJI	ECT DESCRIPTION	
	1.1	Project Title	
	1.2	Lead Agency	
	1.3	Primary Contact Person	
	1.4	Project Location	
	1.5	Project Sponsor	
	1.6	General Plan Land Use Designation	
	1.7	Zoning	
	1.8	Background	
	1.9	Existing Conditions	
	1.10	Statement of Program Objectives	
	1.11	Description of Proposed Ordinances	
2.0	ENVI	RONMENTAL CHECKLIST	
	2.1	Aesthetics	
	2.2	Agriculture Resources	
	2.3	Air Quality	
	2.4	Biological Resources	
	2.5	Cultural Resources	
	2.6	Geology and Soils	
	2.7	Greenhouse Gas Emissions	
	2.8	Hazards and Hazardous Materials	
	2.9	Hydrology and Water Quality	
	2.10	Land Use and Planning	
	2.11	Mineral Resources	
	2.12	Noise	
	2.13	Population and Housing	
	2.14	Public Services	
	2.15	Recreation	
	2.16	Transportation and Traffic	
	2.17	Utilities and Service Systems	
	2.18	Mandatory Findings of Significance	
3.0		RONMENTAL ANALYSIS	
	3.1	Aesthetics	
	3.2	Agriculture Resources	
	3.3	Air Quality	
	3.4	Biological Resources	
	3.5	Cultural Resources	
	3.6	Geology and Soils	
	3.7	Greenhouse Gas Emissions	
	3.8	Hazards and Hazardous Materials	
	3.9	Hydrology and Water Quality	
	3.10	Land Use and Planning	
	3.11	Mineral Resources	
	3.12	Noise	
Ordina	ances to B	an Plastic Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County	Initial Study
	nber 1. 20		Sapphos Environmental, Inc.

	3.13	Population and Housing	
	3.14	Public Services	
	3.15	Recreation	
	3.16	Transportation and Traffic	
	3.17	Utilities and Service Systems	
	3.18	Mandatory Findings of Significance	
4.0	REFER	RENCES	4-1
5.0	REPO	RT PREPARATION PERSONNEL	
	5.1	County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works	
	5.2	County Counsel	
	5.3	County of Los Angeles Chief Executive Office	
	5.4	Sapphos Environmental, Inc	
		5.4.1 Subconsultants	
6.0	DISTR	RIBUTION LIST	6-1
	6.1	Client	
	6.2	Public Agencies	6-1
		6.2.1 State Agencies	
		6.2.2 Regional Agencies	
		6.2.3 County Agencies	
		6.2.3.1 Supervisorial Districts	
		6.2.3.2 Public Service Agencies	
	6.3	Private Organizations	
	6.4	Stakeholders	
TABLE	S		PAGE

3.4-1	Special-status Species with the Potential to Occur within the County of	
	Los Angeles	
3.12-1	County of Los Angeles Exterior Noise Standards	

# FIGURES

# FOLLOWS PAGE

1.4-1	Unincorporated Territories and Incorporated Cities within the County of Los Angeles 1-1
3.3-1	Air Quality Management Districts within the County of Los Angeles

The project, as defined by the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), being considered by the County of Los Angeles (County) consists of proposed Ordinances to Ban Plastic Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County (proposed ordinances). This project would entail adoption of an ordinance to ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores in the unincorporated territories of the County and the adoption of comparable ordinances by the 88 incorporated cities within the County. This Initial Study evaluates the potential for the adoption of such ordinances to result in significant impacts to the environment that would require the consideration of mitigation measures or alternatives.

# 1.1 **PROJECT TITLE**

Ordinances to Ban Plastic Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County

# 1.2 LEAD AGENCY

County of Los Angeles

# 1.3 PRIMARY CONTACT PERSON

Mr. Coby Skye County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works Environmental Programs Division 900 South Fremont Avenue, 3rd Floor Alhambra, California 91803 (626) 458-5163

# 1.4 **PROJECT LOCATION**

The proposed ordinances would affect an area of approximately 2,649 square miles encompassing the unincorporated territories of the County of Los Angeles and 1,435 square miles encompassing the incorporated cities of the County of Los Angeles, California. The affected areas are bounded by Kern County to the north, San Bernardino County to the east, and Ventura County to the west. To the south, the affected areas are bounded by Orange County to the southeast and the Pacific Ocean to the southwest. San Clemente and Santa Catalina Islands are both encompassed within the territory of the County, and thus are areas that would be affected by the proposed ordinances (Figure 1.4-1, *Unincorporated Territories and Incorporated Cities within the County of Los Angeles*). There are approximately 140 unincorporated communities located within the five County Supervisorial Districts.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> County of Los Angeles. Accessed June 2009. *Unincorporated Areas*. County of Los Angeles Web site. Available at: http://portal.lacounty.gov/



# **S**

Unincorporated Territories and Incorporated Cities within the County of Los Angeles

# 1.5 **PROJECT SPONSOR**

County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works Programs Development Division 900 South Fremont Avenue, 11th Floor Alhambra, California 91803

# 1.6 GENERAL PLAN LAND USE DESIGNATION

The proposed ordinances would apply to stores within the County that (1) meet the definition of a "supermarket" as found in the California Public Resources Code, Section 14526.5; (2) are buildings that have over 10,000 square feet of retail space that generates sales or use tax pursuant to the Bradley-Burns Uniform Local Sales and Use Tax Law and have a pharmacy licensed pursuant to Chapter 9 of Division 2 of the Business and Professions Code. In addition, the County is considering extending the jurisdiction of the proposed County ordinance to stores within the unincorporated territories of the County that are part of a chain of convenience food stores, including franchises primarily engaged in retailing a limited line of goods that includes milk, bread, soda, and snacks, that have a total combined area of 10,000 square feet or greater within the County. The 88 incorporated cities within the County would be encouraged to adopt comparable ordinances.

# Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The affected stores may be located within any of the eight general land use designations defined by the County of Los Angeles General Plan: (1) Residential (including low density, low-medium density, medium density, and high density), (2) Commercial, (3) Industrial, (4) Public and Semi-Public Facilities, (5) Non-urban, (6) Open Space, (7) Rural Communities, and (8) Significant Ecological Areas / Habitat Management.<sup>2</sup> The proposed ordinance would not require any changes to the established land use designations.

# Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The affected stores may be located within any of the land use designations defined by the 88 incorporated cities within the County. The proposed ordinances would not require any changes to established land use designations in any of the incorporated cities.

# 1.7 ZONING

# Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The Los Angeles County Code (County Code) contains ordinances that regulate zoning within the unincorporated territories of the County: Title 22, Planning and Zoning, the County Code provides for planning and zoning within these unincorporated territories and includes zones and districts for each of the 140 unincorporated communities.<sup>3</sup> As with the land use designation, the stores may occur within any of the seven general zoning designations: (1) Residential, (2) Agricultural, (3)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> County of Los Angeles. 2 June 2009. Los Angeles County Code. Tallahassee, FL. Available at: http://ordlink.com/codes/lacounty/index.htm

Commercial, (4) Industrial, (5) Publicly Owned Property, (6) Special Purpose and Combining, and (7) Supplemental Districts (such as equestrian, setback, flood protection, or community standards districts). Chapter 22.46 of Title 22 establishes procedures for consideration of specific plans within the unincorporated territories, which further describe the zoning within each of the communities.<sup>4</sup> The proposed ordinance would not require any changes to the established land use zoning designations.

## Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The affected stores may occur within any of the zoning designations that allow for commercial or retail uses defined by the 88 incorporated cities within the County. The proposed ordinances would not require any changes to the established zoning ordinances in any of the incorporated cities.

### 1.8 BACKGROUND

### Contribution of Plastic Carryout Bags to Litter Stream

It is estimated that litter from plastic carryout bags that are designed for single use accounts for as much as 25 percent of the litter stream.<sup>5,6</sup> According to research conducted by the Los Angeles County Department of Public Works (LACDPW), each year approximately 6 billion plastic carryout bags are consumed in the County, which is equivalent to approximately 1,600 bags per household per year.<sup>7,8</sup> Public agencies in California spend over \$375 million each year for litter prevention, clean up, and disposal.<sup>9</sup> The County of Los Angeles Flood Control District alone spent more than \$18 million annually for prevention, clean up, and enforcement efforts to reduce litter, of which plastic carryout bags are a component.<sup>10</sup>

#### **County Motion**

On April 10, 2007, the County Board of Supervisors instructed the Chief Executive Office to work with the director of Internal Services and the director of public works to solicit input from both environmental protection and grocer organizations related to three data areas and report their findings:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> County of Los Angeles. 2 June 2009. Los Angeles County Code. Tallahassee, FL. Available at: http://ordlink.com/codes/lacounty/index.htm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> City of Los Angeles. 10 June 2004. *Waste Characterization Study*. Los Angeles, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. October 2008. County of Los Angeles Single Use Bag Reduction and Recycling Program – Program Resource Packet. Alhambra, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> California Integrated Waste Management Board. 12 June 2007. Board Meeting Agenda, Resolution: Agenda Item 14. Sacramento, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>U.S. Census Bureau. 2000. "State & County Quick Facts: Los Angeles County, California." Available at: http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/06/06037.html (at an average of slightly fewer than three people per household)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> California Department of Transportation. Accessed September 2009. "Facts at a Glance." Don't Trash California. Available at: http://www.donttrashcalifornia.info/pdf/Statistics.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. *An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors*. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

- 1) Investigate the issue of polyethylene plastic and paper sack consumption in the County, including the pros and cons of adopting a policy similar to that of San Francisco;
- 2) Inventory and assess the impact of the current campaigns that urge recycling of paper and plastic sacks;
- 3) Investigate the impact an ordinance similar to the one proposed in San Francisco would have on recycling efforts in Los Angeles County, and any unintended consequences of the ordinance; and
- 4) Report back to the Board with finding and recommendations to reduce grocery and retail sack waste within 90 days.<sup>11,12</sup>

# An Overview of Carryout Bags

In response, the LACDPW submitted a staff report, *An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County*, in August 2007.<sup>13</sup> As noted in the report, a memorandum was sent to the Board of Supervisors on July 12, 2007, requesting a 45-day extension of the original report due date in order to incorporate feedback from interested stakeholders, consumers, industry, and environmental representatives.

As further noted in the LACDPW report, pursuant to the California Integrated Waste Management Act of 1989 [Assembly Bill (AB) 939], the County undertakes the numerous solid waste management functions:<sup>14,15</sup>

Unincorporated County Area

- Implements source reduction and recycling programs in the unincorporated County areas to comply with the State's 50 percent waste reduction mandate. In 2004, the County was successful in documenting a 53 percent waste diversion rate for the unincorporated County areas.
- Operates seven Garbage Disposal Districts providing solid waste collection, recycling, and disposal services for over 300,000 residents.
- Implements and administers a franchise solid waste collection system which, once fully implemented, will provide waste collection, recycling, and disposal services to over 700,000 residents, and will fund franchise area outreach programs to enhance recycling and waste reduction operations in unincorporated County areas that formerly operated under an open market system.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> County of Los Angeles Board of Supervisors. 10 April 2007. Board of Supervisors Motion. Los Angeles, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> California State Assembly. Assembly Bill 939: "Integrated Waste Management Act," Chapter 1095.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA, first page of Preface. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

# Countywide

- Implements a variety of innovative Countywide recycling programs, including: SmartGardening to teach residents about backyard composting and water wise gardening; Waste Tire Amnesty for convenient waste tire recycling; the convenient Environmental Hotline and Environmental Resources Program; interactive Internet Outreach Youth renowned Education/Awareness Programs; and the Household Hazardous/Electronic Waste Management and Used Oil Collection Programs.
- Prepares and administers the Countywide Siting Element, which is a planning document which provides for the County's long-term solid waste management disposal needs.
- Administers the Countywide Integrated Waste Management Summary Plan which describes how all 89 of the jurisdictions Countywide, acting independently and collaboratively, are complying with the State's waste reduction mandate.
- Provides staff for the Los Angeles County Solid Waste Management Task Force (Task Force). The Task Force is comprised of appointees from the League of California Cities, the County Board of Supervisors, the City of Los Angeles, solid waste industries, environmental groups, governmental agencies, and the private sector. The County performs the following Task Force functions:
  - Reviews all major solid waste planning documents prepared by all 89 jurisdictions prior to their submittal to the California Integrated Waste Management Board;
  - Assists the Task Force in determining the levels of needs for solid waste disposal, transfer and processing facilities; and
  - Facilitates the development of multi-jurisdictional marketing strategies for diverted materials.

# Key Findings of the Report

There were four key findings identified in this report:

- 1. Plastic carryout bags have been found to significantly contribute to litter and have other negative impacts on marine wildlife and the environment.
- 2. Biodegradable carryout bags are not a practical solution to this issue in Los Angeles County because there are no local commercial composting facilities able to process the biodegradable carryout bags at this time.
- 3. Reusable bags contribute towards environmental sustainability over plastic and paper carryout bags.
- 4. Accelerating the widespread use of reusable bags will diminish plastic bag litter and redirect environmental preservation efforts and resources towards "greener" practices.<sup>16</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA, p. 1. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

# Definitions

For the purposes of this Initial Study and Environmental Impact Report, the following terms are defined as follows:

- Reusable Bag(s): a bag with handles that is specifically designed and manufactured for multiple reuse and is either (a) made of cloth or other machine-washable fabric, or (b) made of durable plastic that is at least 2.25 mils thick
- Paper Carryout Bag(s): a carryout bag made of paper that is provided by a store to a customer at the point of sale
- Plastic Carryout Bag(s): a plastic carryout bag, excluding a reusable bag but including a compostable plastic carryout bag, that is provided by a store to a customer at the point of sale
- Compostable Plastic Carryout Bag(s): a plastic carryout bag, excluding reusable bags, that (a) conforms to California labeling law (Public Resources Code Section 42355 et seq.), which requires meeting the current American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) standard specifications for compostability; (b) is certified and labeled as meeting the ASTM standard by a recognized verification entity such as the Biodegradable Product Institute; (c) contains no petroleum-derived content; and (d) displays the word "compostable" in a highly visible manner on the outside of the bag
- Recyclable Paper Bag(s): a paper bag that (a) contains no old growth fiber, (b) is 100-percent recyclable overall and contains a minimum of 40 percent post-consumer recycled content; and (c) displays the words "reusable" and "recyclable" in a highly visible manner on the outside of the bag

#### 1.9 EXISTING CONDITIONS

#### **Plastic Carryout Bags**

In 1977, supermarkets began offering plastic carryout bags designed for single use to customers.<sup>17,18</sup> By 1996, four out of every five grocery stores were using plastic carryout bags.<sup>19,20</sup> Plastic carryout bags have been found to contribute substantially to the litter stream and to have other adverse effects on marine wildlife.<sup>21,22,23</sup> The prevalence of litter from plastic bags in the urban

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> SPI: The Plastics Industry Trade Association. 2007. Web site. Available at: http://www.plasticsindustry.org/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. *An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors*. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> SPI: The Plastics Industry Trade Association. 2007. Web site. Available at: http://www.plasticsindustry.org/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> United Nations Environment Programme. April 2009. *Marine Litter: A Global Challenge*. Nairobi, Kenya. Available at : http://www.unep.org/regionalseas/marinelitter/publications/docs/Marine\_Litter\_A\_Global\_Challenge.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> California Integrated Waste Management Board. 12 June 2007. Board Meeting Agenda, Resolution: Agenda Item 14. Sacramento, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

environment also compromises the efficiency of systems designed to channel storm water runoff. Furthermore, plastic bag litter leads to increased clean-up costs for the County, the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans), and other public agencies.<sup>24,25,26</sup> Plastic bag litter also contributes to environmental degradation and degradation of quality of life for County residents and visitors. In particular, the prevalence of plastic bag litter in the storm water system and coastal waterways hampers the ability of and exacerbates the cost to local agencies to comply with the National Pollution Discharge Elimination System, and total maximum daily loads (TMDL) limits for trash as specified pursuant to the federal Clean Water Act.<sup>27,28</sup>

Plastic bag litter is also a major economic operational issue for landfills and other solid waste processing facilities.<sup>29,30</sup> The California Integrated Waste Management Board estimates that approximately 3.9 percent of plastic waste can be attributed to plastic carryout bags related to grocery and other merchandise. That represents approximately 0.4 percent of the total waste stream in California.<sup>31,32</sup> Studies have been conducted by several organizations to assess the effects of plastic litter:<sup>33,34,35,36</sup> a study on freeway storm water litter was conducted by Caltrans; a waste characterization study on the Los Angeles River was conducted by the Friends of Los Angeles River; a waste characterization study on 30 storm drain basins was conducted by the City of Los Angeles; and a trash reduction and a waste characterization study of street sweeping and trash

<sup>29</sup> California Integrated Waste Management Board. 12 June 2007. Board Meeting Agenda, Resolution: Agenda Item 14. Sacramento, CA.

<sup>30</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

<sup>31</sup> California Environmental Protection Agency, Integrated Waste Management Board. December 2004. "Table ES-3: Composition of California's Overall Disposed Waste Stream by Material Type, 2003." *Contractor's Report to the Board: Statewide Waste Characterization* Study, p. 6. Produced by: Cascadia Consulting Group, Inc. Berkeley, CA. Available at: http://www.ciwmb.ca.gov/Publications/default.asp?pubid = 1097

<sup>32</sup> Note: Plastics make up approximately 9.5 percent of California's waste stream by weight, including 0.4 percent for plastic carryout bags related to grocery and other merchandise, 0.7 percent for non-bag commercial and industrial packaging film, and 1 percent for plastic trash bags.

<sup>33</sup> Combs, Suzanne, John Johnston, Gary Lippner, David Marx, and Kimberly Walter. 1998–2000. *Caltrans Litter Management Pilot Study*. Sacramento, CA: California Department of Transportation.

<sup>34</sup> Friends of the Los Angeles River and American Rivers. 2004. *Great Los Angeles River*. Los Angeles and Nevada City, CA.

<sup>35</sup> City of Los Angeles, Sanitation Department of Public Works. June 2006. *Technical Report: Assessment of Catch Basin Opening Screen Covers*. Los Angeles, CA.

<sup>36</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>California Integrated Waste Management Board. 12 June 2007. Board Meeting Agenda, Resolution: Agenda Item 14. Sacramento, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Combs, Suzanne, John Johnston, Gary Lippner, David Marx, and Kimberly Walter. 1998–2000. *Caltrans Litter Management Pilot Study*. Sacramento, CA: California Department of Transportation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> United States Code, Title 33, Section 1313: "Water Quality Standards and Implementation Plans." Clean Water Act, Section 303(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. *An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors*. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport 08-2007.pdf

capture systems, near and within the Hamilton Bowl, located in Long Beach, California was conducted by the LACDPW. These studies concluded that plastic film (including plastic bag litter) composed between 7 to 30 percent by mass and between 12 to 34 percent by volume of the total litter collected. Despite the implementation of best management practices (BMPs), installation of litter control devices such as cover fences for trucks, catch basins, and facilities to prevent airborne bags from escaping, and use of roving patrols to pick up littered bags, plastic bag litter remains prevalent throughout the County.<sup>37</sup>

Assembly Bill 2449 requires all supermarkets (grocery stores with over \$2 million in annual sales) and retail businesses of at least 10,000 square feet with a licensed pharmacy to establish a plastic carryout bag recycling program at each store. Starting on July 1, 2007, each store must provide a clearly marked bin that is easily available for customers to deposit plastic carryout bags for recycling. The stores' plastic bags must display the words "please return to a participating store for recycling."<sup>38</sup>

In addition, the regulated stores must make reusable bags available to their patrons. These bags can be made of cloth, fabric, or plastic with a thickness of 2.25 mils or greater.<sup>39</sup> The stores are allowed to charge their patrons for reusable bags.<sup>40</sup>

Manufacturers of plastic carryout bags must make available to stores educational materials to encourage the reduction, reuse, and recycling of plastic bags.

Store operators must maintain program records for a minimum of three years and make the records available to the local jurisdiction.<sup>41</sup>

## Paper Bags

The production, distribution, and disposal of paper carryout bags also have known adverse effects on the environment.<sup>42</sup> There is a considerable amount of energy that is used, trees that are felled, and pollution that is generated in the production of paper carryout bags.<sup>43,44</sup> The California Integrated Waste Management Board determined in the 2004 Statewide Waste Characterization Study that approximately 117,000 tons of paper carryout bags are disposed of each year throughout the County by consumers. This amount accounts for approximately 1 percent of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> *Public Resources Code*, Section 42250–42257. 2006. Assembly Bill 2449.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Public Resources Code, Section 42250–42257. 2006. Assembly Bill 2449.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> *Public Resources Code*, Section 42250–42257. 2006. Assembly Bill 2449.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> California Integrated Waste Management Board. 12 June 2007. Board Meeting Agenda, Resolution: Agenda Item 14. Sacramento, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. October 2008. County of Los Angeles Single Use Bag Reduction and Recycling Program – Program Resource Packet. Alhambra, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> County of Los Angeles Board of Supervisors. 22 January 2008. *Single Use Bag Reduction and Recycling Program* (*Resolution and Alternative 5*). Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/Resources.cfm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. October 2008. County of Los Angeles Single Use Bag Reduction and Recycling Program – Program Resource Packet. Alhambra, CA.

total 12 million tons of solid waste generated each year.<sup>45</sup> However, paper bags have the potential to biodegrade when exposed to oxygen, sunlight, moisture, soil, and microorganisms (such as bacteria); are denser and less susceptible to becoming airborne; and generally have a higher recycling rate than do plastic bags. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency reported that "the recycle rate for plastic bags, sacks and wraps measured just 9.1 percent in 2007 (compared to 36.8 percent of paper bags)."<sup>46</sup> The County anticipates that the national, state, and Countywide recovery amount of plastic bags from this category of recovered plastics is less than 5 percent.<sup>47,48</sup> Therefore, based upon the available evidence, paper carryout bags are less likely to become litter than are plastic carryout bags.

#### **Reusable Bags**

Reusable bags offer an alternative to plastic carryout bags, compostable plastic carryout bags, and paper carryout bags. The utility of a reusable bag has been noted in various reports such as the 2008 report by Green Seal, which estimates the life of a reusable bag as being between two to five years.<sup>49</sup> The Green Seal report encouraged an industry standard of a minimum of 300 reusable bag uses in 1994 and currently encourages a minimum of 500 uses during wet conditions (such as rainy seasons).<sup>50</sup> Furthermore, life-cycle studies for plastic products have documented the adverse impacts related to various types of plastic and paper bags; however, life-cycle studies have also indicated that reusable bags<sup>51</sup> are the preferable option to both paper and plastic bags.<sup>52,53</sup>

 $16\_reusable\_bag\_proposed\_revised\_standard\_background\%20 document.pdf$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> California Environmental Protection Agency, Integrated Waste Management Board. December 2004. *Contractor's Report to the Board: 2004 Statewide Waste Characterization Study*. Produced by: Cascadia Consulting Group, Inc. Berkeley, CA. Available at: http://www.ciwmb.ca.gov/publications/localasst/34004005.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. November 2008. *Municipal Solid Waste in the United States, 2007 Facts and Figures* (Table 21, Recovery of Products in Municipal Solid Waste, 1960 to 2007). Washington, DC. Available at: http://www.epa.gov/waste/nonhaz/municipal/pubs/msw07-rpt.pdf. The referenced table included the recovery of post-consumer wastes for the purposes of recycling or composting; it did not include conversion/fabrication scrap. The report includes the recovery of plastic bags, sacks, and wraps (excluding packaging) for a total of 9.1 percent of plastic recovered in this category. The County of Los Angeles conservatively estimates that the percentage of plastic bags in this category for the County of Los Angeles is less than 5 percent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> California Integrated Waste Management Board. 12 June 2007. Board Meeting Agenda, Resolution: Agenda Item 14. Sacramento, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Green Seal is an independent non-profit organization that uses science-based standards and the power of the marketplace to provide recommendations regarding sustainable products, standards, and practices.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Green Seal, Inc. 13 October 2008. Green Seal Proposed Revised Environmental Standard For Reusable Bags (GS-16). Washington, DC. Available at: http://www.greenseal.org/certification/gs-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Reusable bag manufacturers are also expected to enforce industry standards and recommendations to avoid adverse environmental impacts, including the use of recycled materials.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Green Seal, Inc. 13 October 2008. *Green Seal Proposed Revised Environmental Standard For Reusable Bags (GS-16)*. Washington, DC. Available at: http://www.greenseal.org/certification/gs-

 $<sup>16\</sup>_reusable\_bag\_proposed\_revised\_standard\_background\%20document.pdf$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Boustead Consulting & Associates, Ltd. 2007. *Life Cycle Assessment for Three Types of Grocery Bags – Recyclable Plastic; Compostable, Biodegradable Plastic; and Recycled, Recyclable Paper.* Available at: http://www.americanchemistry.com/s\_plastics/doc.asp?CID = 1106&DID = 7212

Reusable bags are intended to provide a viable alternative to the use of paper or plastic carryout bags.<sup>54</sup> Currently, some stores within the County, such as certain Whole Foods divisions, do not offer plastic bags at checkout and instead offer reusable bags for sale and provide rebates if its patrons bring their own reusable bags. Other stores, such as certain Ralph's divisions, offer reusable bags for purchase at registers and offer various incentives such as store rewards or store credit to customers who use reusable bags.<sup>55</sup>

# Voluntary Single Use Bag Reduction and Recycling Program

On January 22, 2008, the County Board of Supervisors approved a motion to implement the voluntary Single Use Bag Reduction and Recycling Program (Alternative 5) in partnership with large supermarkets and retail stores, the plastic bag industry, environmental organizations, recyclers and other key stakeholders to promote the use of reusable bags, increase at-store recycling of plastic bags, reduce consumption of single-use bags, increase the post-consumer recycled material content of paper bags, and promote public awareness of the effects of litter and consumer responsibility in the County. The voluntary program establishes benchmarks for measuring the effectiveness of the program, seeking a 30-percent decrease in the disposal rate of carryout plastic bags from the 2007–2008 fiscal year usage levels by July 1, 2010, and a 65-percent decrease by July 1, 2013.<sup>56</sup>

The County identified three tasks to be undertaken by the County, stores, and manufacturers as part of the voluntary program's key components:

- 1. Large supermarket and retail stores: development and implementation of storespecific programs such as employee training, reusable-bag incentives, and efforts related to consumer education
- 2. Manufacturer and trade associations: encourage members to participate in the program, provide technical assistance and marketing recommendations, and coordinate with large supermarkets and stores
- 3. County of Los Angeles Working Group: facilitate program meetings, determine specific definitions for target stores, establish a framework describing participant levels and participation expectations, and develop and coordinate program specifics such as educational material, reduction strategies, establishment of disposal rates and measurement methodology, progress reports, and milestones

In March 2008, the County provided each of its 88 incorporated cities a "Resolution to Join" letter that extended to the cities an opportunity to join the County in the abovementioned activities related to the Single Use Plastic Bag Reduction and Recycling Program. The letter invited the cities to join the County in a collaborative effort and to take advantage of the framework already developed by the County. Information related to the efforts by the LACDPW was presented to all 88 cities regarding the proposed ordinances and their actions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Green Seal, Inc. 13 October 2008. *Green Seal Proposed Revised Environmental Standard For Reusable Bags (GS-16)*. Washington, DC. Available at: http://www.greenseal.org/certification/gs-

<sup>16</sup>\_reusable\_bag\_proposed\_revised\_standard\_background%20document.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Ralphs Grocery Company. 2009. "Doing Your Part: Try Reusable Shopping Bags." Web site. Available at: http://www.ralphs.com/healthy\_living/green\_living/Pages/reusable\_bags.aspx

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> County of Los Angeles Board of Supervisors. 22 January 2008. *Single Use Bag Reduction and Recycling Program* (*Resolution and Alternative 5*). Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/Resources.cfm

There are currently 10 cities within the County that have signed resolutions to join the County in its efforts and in adopting similar ordinances for their cities: Azusa, Bell, Glendale, Hermosa Beach, Lomita, Pico Rivera, Pomona, Redondo Beach, Santa Fe Springs, and Signal Hill. These cities have implemented a variety of public education and outreach efforts to encourage participation within their cities, including developing public education brochures, running public service announcements on the city's cable television channel, establishing committees focused on community outreach, and distributing recycled-content reusable bags at community events.

The County is currently evaluating the efficacy of volunteer programs, including its own Single Use Bag Reduction and Recycling Program, in relation to the disposal rate of plastic carryout bags using three criteria:<sup>57</sup> (1) the reduction in consumption of plastic carryout bags, (2) the total number of plastic carryout bags recycled at stores, and (3) the total number of plastic carryout bags recycled via curbside recycling programs.

Since August 2007, the County has facilitated meetings that have been attended by representatives of grocery stores, plastic bag industry groups, environmental organizations, waste management industry groups, various governmental entities, and others. The County has further led efforts to disseminate outreach materials, attend community events, work with cities within the County, visit stores, and provide and solicit support for reusable bags. The American Chemistry Council's consultant and the Plastic Recycling Corporation of California have visited grocery stores within the County to provide stores and consumers with additional information and assistance to enhance their plastic bag recycling programs.

These endeavors were undertaken in an effort to increase the participation of grocery stores, to shift consumer behavior to the use of recycled plastic bags, and to encourage a considerable transition to the use of reusable bags.

# 1.10 STATEMENT OF PROGRAM OBJECTIVES

# **Program Goals**

The County is seeking to substantially reduce the operational cost and environmental degradation associated with the use of plastic carryout bags in the County, particularly the component of the litter stream composed of plastic bags and the associated government funds used for prevention, clean-up, and enforcement efforts.

The County has identified five goals of the proposed ordinances, listed in order of importance: (1) litter reduction, (2) blight prevention, (3) coastal waterways and animal and wildlife protection, (4) sustainability (as it relates to the County's energy and environmental goals), and (5) landfill reduction.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Methodology consumption rates based upon plastic bags generated in fiscal year 2007-2008, as provided in data reported to the California Integrated Waste Management Board as required by AB 2449. The methodology is described in its entirety in *County of Los Angeles Single Use Bag Reduction and Recycling Program – Program Resource Packet* published by County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division, Alhambra, CA.

# **Countywide Objectives**

The proposed ordinance program would have six objectives:

- Conduct outreach to all 88 incorporated cities of the County to encourage adoption of comparable ordinances.
- Reduce the Countywide consumption of plastic carryout bags from the estimated 1,600 plastic carryout bags per household in 2007, to fewer than 800 plastic bags per household in 2013.
- Reduce the Countywide contribution of plastic carryout bags to litter that blights public spaces Countywide by 50 percent.
- Reduce the Flood Control District's cost for prevention, clean-up, and enforcement efforts to reduce litter in the County by \$4 million.
- Substantially increase awareness of the negative impacts of plastic carryout bags and the benefits of reusable bags, and reach at least 50,000 residents (5 percent of the population) with an environmental awareness message.
- Reduce Countywide disposal of plastic carryout bags from landfills by 50 percent from 2007 annual amounts.

# City Objectives

If using a comparable standard to that of the County, cities would implement objectives that are comparable with the Countywide objectives. Should the cities prepare different objectives, those objectives may need to be evaluated to determine what further CEQA analysis would be required, if any.

# 1.11 DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED ORDINANCES

With input from the County of Los Angeles Working Group, the Board of Supervisors instructed County Counsel to prepare a draft ordinance for consideration by the Board of Supervisors by April 1, 2009, (revised to July 1, 2010) that would ban the issuance of plastic carryout bags by large supermarkets and retail stores in the unincorporated territories of the County. Any necessary environmental review in compliance with CEQA would be completed prior to considering the draft ordinance.<sup>58,59</sup>

The proposed ban on the issuance of plastic carryout bags consists of an ordinance to be adopted prohibiting certain retail establishments from issuing plastic carryout bags in the unincorporated territories of the County, as well as the County's encouragement of the incorporation of comparable ordinances by each of the 88 incorporated cities in the County.

As previously mentioned, there are currently 10 cities within the County that have signed resolutions to join the County in adopting similar ordinances in their cities. The proposed ordinances as described herein anticipate the adoption of similar proposed ordinances for each of the 88 incorporated cities within the County.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> County of Los Angeles Board of Supervisors. 22 January 2008. *Single Use Bag Reduction and Recycling Program* (*Resolution and Alternative 5*). Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/Resources.cfm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> County of Los Angeles Board of Supervisors. 22 January 2008. *Minutes of the Board of Supervisors*. Los Angeles, CA.

The proposed ordinances aim to significantly reduce the number of plastic carryout bags that are disposed of or that enter the litter stream by ensuring that certain retail establishments located in the County will not distribute or make available to customers any plastic carryout bags or compostable plastic bags.

The proposed ordinances being considered would ban the issuance of plastic carryout bags by any retail establishment, defined herein, that is located in the unincorporated territories or incorporated cities of the County. The retail establishments that would be subject to the proposed ordinances include any that (1) meet the definition of a "supermarket" as found in the California Public Resources Code, Section 14526.5; (2) are buildings that have over 10,000 square feet of retail space that generates sales or use tax pursuant to the Bradley-Burns Uniform Local Sales and Use Tax Law and have a pharmacy licensed pursuant to Chapter 9 of Division 2 of the Business and Professions Code. In addition, the County is considering extending the jurisdiction of the proposed ordinances to stores that are part of a chain of convenience food stores, including franchises primarily engaged in retailing a limited line of goods that includes milk, bread, soda, and snacks, that have a total combined area of 10,000 square feet or greater within the County.

# Transition Period Assumption

Should the proposed ordinances be adopted, it is anticipated that there would be a transition period during which consumers would switch to reusable bags. The County anticipates that a measurable percentage of affected consumers would subsequently use reusable bags (this percentage includes consumers currently using reusable bags) once the proposed ordinances take effect. The County further anticipates that some of the remaining consumers, those who choose to forgo reusable bags, may substitute plastic carryout bags with paper carryout bags.

This section contains the Environmental Checklist prepared for the proposed ordinances. This checklist is consistent with the Environmental Checklist Form found in Appendix G to the State CEQA Guidelines. This checklist also includes two recommended questions proposed by the Governor's Office of Planning and Research (OPR) in April 2009 as additions to Appendix G to the State CEQA Guidelines.<sup>1</sup> A summary of the substantial evidence that was used to support the responses in the Environmental Checklist is contained in Section 3.0, Environmental Analysis. The responses contained in this Environmental Checklist are based on reviews of relevant literature, technical reports, and regulations, and on analysis of existing geographical information from County maps and databases.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> California Governor's Office of Planning and Research. 2007. *CEQA Guidelines and Greenhouse Gases*. Available at: http://www.opr.ca.gov/index.php?a = ceqa/index.html

#### DETERMINATION

On the basis of this initial evaluation:

- I find that the proposed project COULD NOT have a significant effect on the environment, and a NEGATIVE DECLARATION will be prepared.
- I find that although the proposed project could have a significant effect on the environment, there will not be a significant effect in this case because revisions in the project have been made by or agreed to by the project proponent. A MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION will be prepared.
- X I find that the proposed project MAY have a significant effect on the environment, and an ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT is required.
- I find that the proposed project MAY have a "potentially significant impact" or "potentially significant unless mitigated" impact on the environment, but at least one effect 1) has been adequately analyzed in an earlier document pursuant to applicable legal standards, and 2) has been addressed by mitigation measures based on the earlier analysis as described on attached sheets. An ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT is required, but it must analyze only the effects that remain to be addressed.
- I find that although the proposed project could have a significant effect on the environment, because all potentially significant effects (a) have been analyzed adequately in an earlier EIR or NEGATIVE DECLARATION pursuant to applicable standards, and (b) have been avoided or mitigated pursuant to that earlier EIR or NEGATIVE DECLARATION, including revisions or mitigation measures that are imposed upon the proposed project, nothing further is required.

Signature

Printed Name

Ordinances to Ban Plastic Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County Initial Study December 1, 2009 Sapphos Environmental, Inc. W:\PROJECTS\1012\1012-035\Documents\Initial Study\Section 2.0 Environmental Checklist.doc Page 2-2

November 23, Date De ble Wats

# ENVIRONMENTAL CHECKLIST

	Potentially Significant Impact	Potentially Significant Unless Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
<b>2.1. AESTHETICS</b> – Would the proposed ordinances:				
a) Have a substantial adverse effect on a scenic vista?				<u> </u>
b) Substantially damage scenic resources, including, but not limited to, trees, rock outcroppings, and historic buildings within a state scenic highway?				<u> </u>
c) Substantially degrade the existing visual character or quality of the site and its surroundings?				<u> </u>
<ul> <li>Create a new source of substantial light or glare which would adversely affect day or nighttime views in the area?</li> </ul>				<u> </u>
<b>2.2. AGRICULTURE RESOURCES</b> : In determining whether impacts to agricultural resources are significant environmental effects, lead agencies may refer to the California Agricultural Land Evaluation and Site Assessment Model (1997) prepared by the California Dept. of Conservation as an optional model to use in assessing impacts on agriculture and farmland. Would the proposed ordinances:				
a) Convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide Importance (Farmland), as shown on the maps prepared pursuant to the Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program of the California Resources Agency, to non-agricultural use?				_X
b) Conflict with existing zoning for agricultural use, or a Williamson Act contract?				<u> </u>

	Potentially Significant Impact	Potentially Significant Unless Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
c) Involve other changes in the existing environment which, due to their location or nature, could result in conversion of Farmland, to non- agricultural use?				X
<b>2.3. AIR QUALITY</b> Where available, the significance criteria established by the applicable air quality management or air pollution control district may be relied upon to make the following determinations. Would the proposed ordinances:				
<ul> <li>a) Conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan?</li> </ul>				X
b) Violate any air quality standard or contribute substantially to an existing or projected air quality violation?		<u> </u>		
c) Result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria pollutant for which the project region is non- attainment under an applicable federal or state ambient air quality standard (including releasing emissions which exceed quantitative thresholds for ozone precursors)?		<u>    X     </u>		
d) Expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations?			X	
e) Create objectionable odors affecting a substantial number of people?			<u> </u>	
<b>2.4. BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES<sup>2</sup></b> – Would the proposed ordinances:				
<ul> <li>a) Have a substantial adverse effect, either directly or through habitat modifications, on any species identified</li> </ul>				<u>    X     </u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Although it is anticipated that the proposed ordinance would not result in adverse impacts related to biological resources; it is recommended that the biological resources section be carried forward for further analysis into the Environmental Impact Report in order to assess the potential for positive effects to biological resources as they relate to listed and sensitive species, riparian habitat, and wetlands.

		Potentially Significant Impact	Potentially Significant Unless Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
	as a candidate, sensitive, or special status species in local or regional plans, policies, or regulations, or by the California Department of Fish and Game or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service?				
b)	Have a substantial adverse effect on any riparian habitat or other sensitive natural community identified in local or regional plans, policies, regulations or by the California Department of Fish and Game or US Fish and Wildlife Service?				<u>    X    </u>
C)	Have a substantial adverse effect on federally protected wetlands as defined by Section 404 of the Clean Water Act (including, but not limited to, marsh, vernal pool, coastal, etc.) through direct removal, filling, hydrological interruption, or other means?				<u>X</u>
d)	Interfere substantially with the movement of any native resident or migratory fish or wildlife species or with established native resident or migratory wildlife corridors, or impede the use of native wildlife nursery sites?				<u>    X     </u>
e)	Conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources, such as a tree preservation policy or ordinance?				X
f)	Conflict with the provisions of an adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural Community Conservation Plan, or other approved local, regional, or state habitat conservation plan?				X
	<b>5. CULTURAL RESOURCES</b> – Would the posed ordinances:				
a)	Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource as defined in §15064.5?				<u>    X    </u>

	Potentially Significant Impact	Potentially Significant Unless Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
b) Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of an archaeological resource pursuant to §15064.5?				<u> </u>
c) Directly or indirectly destroy a unique paleontological resource or site or unique geologic feature?				<u> </u>
<ul> <li>Disturb any human remains, including those interred outside of formal cemeteries?</li> </ul>				<u> </u>
<b>2.6. GEOLOGY AND SOILS</b> – Would the proposed ordinances:				
<ul> <li>a) Expose people or structures to potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, injury, or death involving:</li> <li>i) Rupture of a known earthquake fault, as delineated on the most recent Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Map issued by the State Geologist for the area or based on other substantial evidence of a known fault? Refer to Division of Mines and Geology Special Publication 42.</li> </ul>				<u> </u>
ii) Strong seismic ground shaking?				X
iii) Seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction?				<u>    X</u>
iv) Landslides?				X
b) Result in substantial soil erosion or the loss of topsoil?				<u>    X    </u>
c) Be located on a geologic unit or soil that is unstable, or that would become unstable as a result of the project, and potentially result in on- or off-site landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence, liquefaction or collapse?				<u> </u>

		Potentially Significant Impact	Potentially Significant Unless Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
d)	Be located on expansive soil, as defined in Table 18-1-B of the Uniform Building Code (1994), creating substantial risks to life or property?				<u>    X    </u>
e)	Have soils incapable of adequately supporting the use of septic tanks or alternative waste water disposal systems where sewers are not available for the disposal of waste water?				<u> </u>
2.7	7. GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS Would the proposed ordinances:				
a)	Generate greenhouse gas emissions, either directly or indirectly, that may have a significant impact on the environment?		X		
b)	Conflict with any applicable plan, policy, or regulation of an agency adopted for the purpose of reducing the emissions of greenhouse gases?		X		
MA	B. HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS ATERIALS – Would the proposed dinances:				
a)	Create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through the routine transport, use, or disposal of hazardous materials?				<u>X</u>
b)	Create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through reasonably foreseeable upset and accident conditions involving the release of hazardous materials into the environment?				<u>    X     </u>
C)	Emit hazardous emissions or handle hazardous or acutely hazardous materials, substances, or waste within one-quarter mile of an existing or proposed school?				X
d)	Be located on a site which is included on a list of hazardous materials sites compiled pursuant to Government				X
Ordiı	nances to Ban Plastic Carryout Bags in Los Ange	eles County			Initial Study

	Potentially Significant Impact	Potentially Significant Unless Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
a significant hazard to		incorporated		
, where such a plan has ed, within two miles of or public use airport, ect result in a safety le residing or working				<u>X</u>
would the project result d for people residing or				X
n adopted emergency				<u> </u>
of loss, injury or death and fires, including s are adjacent to or where residences				X
		<u>    X     </u>		
fere substantially with charge such that there deficit in aquifer vering of the local ole level (e.g., the of pre-existing nearby op to a level which ort existing land uses or		X		
	5962.5 and, as a result, a significant hazard to e environment? cated within an airport r, where such a plan has ed, within two miles of or public use airport, ect result in a safety le residing or working ea? ithin the vicinity of a would the project result rd for people residing or project area? entation of or physically n adopted emergency r emergency evacuation or structures to a of loss, injury or death and fires, including s are adjacent to or where residences with wildlands? <b>AND WATER</b> the proposed ter quality standards or requirements? eplete groundwater fere substantially with charge such that there deficit in aquifer vering of the local ole level (e.g., the of pre-existing nearby op to a level which or which permits have	Significant Impact	Significant Impact     Significant Unless Mitigation Incorporated       5962.5 and, as a result, a significant hazard to e environment?	Significant Impact     Significant Unless Mitigation Incorporated     Significant Impact       5962.5 and, as a result, a significant hazard to e environment?

		Potentially Significant Impact	Potentially Significant Unless Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
C)	Substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of the site or area, including through the alteration of the course of a stream or river, in a manner which would result in substantial erosion or siltation on- or off-site?				<u> </u>
d)	Substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of the site or area, including through the alteration of the course of a stream or river, or substantially increase the rate or amount of surface runoff in a manner which would result in flooding on- or off-site?				<u>X</u>
e)	Create or contribute runoff water which would exceed the capacity of existing or planned stormwater drainage systems or provide substantial additional sources of polluted runoff?				<u>X</u>
f)	Otherwise substantially degrade water quality?				<u>    X     </u>
g)	Place housing within a 100-year flood hazard area as mapped on a federal Flood Hazard Boundary or Flood Insurance Rate Map or other flood hazard delineation map?				<u>X</u>
h)	Place within a 100-year flood hazard area structures which would impede or redirect flood flows?				X
I)	Expose people or structures to a significant risk of loss, injury or death involving flooding, including flooding as a result of the failure of a levee or dam?				<u>X</u>
j)	Inundation by seiche, tsunami, or mudflow?				<u>    X     </u>
	<b>10. LAND USE AND PLANNING -</b> ould the proposed ordinances:				
a)	Physically divide an established community?				<u> </u>

	Potentially Significant Impact	Potentially Significant Unless Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
b) Conflict with any applicable land use plan, policy, or regulation of an agency with jurisdiction over the project (including, but not limited to the general plan, specific plan, local coastal program, or zoning ordinance) adopted for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating an environmental effect?				<u>    X     </u>
c) Conflict with any applicable habitat conservation plan or natural community conservation plan?				<u> </u>
<b>2.11. MINERAL RESOURCES</b> Would the proposed ordinances:				
a) Result in the loss of availability of a known mineral resource that would be of value to the region and the residents of the state?				<u> </u>
b) Result in the loss of availability of a locally-important mineral resource recovery site delineated on a local general plan, specific plan or other land use plan?				<u>X</u>
<b>2.12. NOISE</b> Would the proposed ordinances result in:				
<ul> <li>a) Exposure of persons to or generation of noise levels in excess of standards established in the local general plan or noise ordinance, or applicable standards of other agencies?</li> </ul>			<u> </u>	
b) Exposure of persons to or generation of excessive groundborne vibration or groundborne noise levels?			<u> </u>	
c) A substantial permanent increase in ambient noise levels in the project vicinity above levels existing without the project?			<u> </u>	
d) A substantial temporary or periodic increase in ambient noise levels in the project vicinity above levels existing without the project?				<u>X</u>

		Potentially Significant Impact	Potentially Significant Unless Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
e)	For a project located within an airport land use plan or, where such a plan has not been adopted, within two miles of a public airport or public use airport, would the proposed ordinance expose people residing or working in the proposed project area to excessive noise levels?				<u> </u>
f)	For a project within the vicinity of a private airstrip, would the proposed project expose people residing or working in the proposed project area to excessive noise levels?				X
2.13. POPULATION AND HOUSING Would the proposed ordinances:					
a)	Induce substantial population growth in an area, either directly (for example, by proposing new homes and businesses) or indirectly (for example, through extension of roads or other infrastructure)?				<u>    X     </u>
b)	Displace substantial numbers of existing housing, necessitating the construction of replacement housing elsewhere?				X
C)	Displace substantial numbers of people, necessitating the construction of replacement housing elsewhere?				X
2.14. PUBLIC SERVICES					
a)	Would the proposed ordinances result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision of new or physically altered governmental facilities, need for new or physically altered governmental facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental impacts, in order to maintain acceptable service ratios, response times or other performance objectives for any of the public services:				

Fire protection?

public services:

<u>X</u>

		Potentially Significant Impact	Potentially Significant Unless Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
	Police protection?				<u> </u>
	Schools?				<u>X</u>
	Parks?				<u>X</u>
	Other public facilities?				<u>X</u>
2.1	15. RECREATION				
a)	Would the proposed ordinances increase the use of existing neighborhood and regional parks or other recreational facilities such that substantial physical deterioration of the facility would occur or be accelerated?				<u> </u>
b)	Do the proposed ordinances include recreational facilities or require the construction or expansion of recreational facilities which might have an adverse physical effect on the environment?				<u>X</u>
<b>2.16. TRANSPORTATION AND TRAFFIC</b> Would the proposed ordinances:					
a)	Cause an increase in traffic which is substantial in relation to the existing traffic load and capacity of the street system (i.e., result in a substantial increase in either the number of vehicle trips, the volume to capacity ratio on roads, or congestion at intersections)?			<u>    X     </u>	
b)	Exceed, either individually or cumulatively, a level of service standard established by the county congestion management agency for designated roads or highways?				<u>    X     </u>
C)	Result in a change in air traffic patterns, including either an increase in traffic levels or a change in location that results in substantial safety risks?				<u> </u>

		Potentially Significant Impact	Potentially Significant Unless Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
d)	Substantially increase hazards due to a design feature (e.g., sharp curves or dangerous intersections) or incompatible uses (e.g., farm equipment)?				X
e)	Result in inadequate emergency access?				X
f)	Result in inadequate parking capacity?				X
g)	Conflict with adopted policies, plans, or programs supporting alternative transportation (e.g., bus turnouts, bicycle racks)?				X
	<b>17. UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS -</b> Vould the proposed ordinances:				
a)	Exceed wastewater treatment requirements of the applicable Regional Water Quality Control Board?			<u> </u>	
b)	Require or result in the construction of new water or wastewater treatment facilities or expansion of existing facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental effects?				<u>    X     </u>
C)	Require or result in the construction of new storm water drainage facilities or expansion of existing facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental effects?				<u>X</u>
d)	Have sufficient water supplies available to serve the project from existing entitlements and resources, or are new or expanded entitlements needed?				<u>    X     </u>
e)	Result in a determination by the wastewater treatment provider which serves or may serve the project that it has adequate capacity to serve the project's projected demand in addition to the provider's existing commitments?				<u>    X     </u>

		Potentially Significant Impact	Potentially Significant Unless Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
f)	Be served by a landfill with sufficient permitted capacity to accommodate the project's solid waste disposal needs?		X		
g)	Comply with federal, state, and local statutes and regulations related to solid waste?				<u> </u>
	18. MANDATORY FINDINGS OF GNIFICANCE				
a)	Do the proposed ordinances have the potential to degrade the quality of the environment, substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife population to drop below self-sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a plant or animal community, reduce the number or restrict the range of a rare or endangered plant or animal or eliminate important examples of the major periods of California history or prehistory?				<u> </u>
b)	Do the proposed ordinances have impacts that are individually limited, but cumulatively considerable? ("Cumulatively considerable" means that the incremental effects of a project are considerable when viewed in connection with the effects of past projects, the effects of other current projects, and the effects of probable future projects)?			<u> </u>	
C)	Do the proposed ordinances have environmental effects which will cause substantial adverse effects on human beings, either directly or indirectly?				<u> </u>

The environmental analysis provided in this section describes the information that was considered in evaluating the questions in Section 2.0, Environmental Checklist. The information contained in this environmental analysis is based on reviews of relevant literature and maps (see Section 4.0, References, for a list of reference materials consulted).

The environmental analysis in this Initial Study evaluates the potential impacts related to both an ordinance to ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores in the unincorporated territories of the County and the adoption of comparable ordinances by the 88 cities that govern the County's incorporated territory. As such, each of the issue areas is structured to include analyses of the unincorporated territories and incorporated cities of the County.

# 3.1 **AESTHETICS**

This analysis is undertaken to determine if the proposed ordinances may have a significant impact to aesthetics, thus requiring the consideration of mitigation measures or alternatives, in accordance with Section 15063 of the State CEQA Guidelines.<sup>1</sup> Aesthetics within the incorporated and unincorporated territories of the County, which would be subject to the proposed ordinances, were evaluated with regard to the County of Los Angeles General Plan;<sup>2</sup> Caltrans Scenic Highway Program<sup>3</sup> designations; and previously published information regarding the visual character of the County, including scenic resources, vistas, and altitude as depicted in County maps.

The State CEQA Guidelines recommend the consideration of four questions when addressing the potential for significant impacts to aesthetics.

Would the proposed ordinances:

(a) Have a substantial adverse effect on a scenic vista?

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to aesthetics in relation to scenic vistas. A review of the County of Los Angeles General Plan substantiated that scenic vistas exist within the unincorporated territories of the County: forests ranges, including the Los Padres National Forest, and Angeles National Forest; mountain ranges, including the Santa Monica Mountains and San Gabriel Mountains; and the California coastline.<sup>4</sup> The proposed ordinance would affect a total of approximately 2,649 square miles of unincorporated territories within the County,<sup>5</sup> which provides residences and employment for approximately 1 million people. Development within these unincorporated areas exhibits patterns similar to that of urban areas, including public services, utilities, and recreation.<sup>6,7</sup> As such, residences, schools, churches, and recreation areas located within viewing range of the scenic vistas would serve as sensitive receptors. The proposed ordinance, which aims to significantly reduce the amount of litter that can be attributed to plastic carryout bags, would likely lead to the improvement of any scenic vista available from these sensitive receptors. As found in the County staff report on plastic bags, due to their expansive and lightweight characteristics, plastic bags are easily carried by wind to become entangled in brush, tossed along freeways, and caught on fences throughout the County, thereby becoming visual eyesores.<sup>8,9</sup> Furthermore, the distinct white or bright

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Division 6, Chapter 3, Sections 15000–15387, Appendix G.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> California Department of Transportation. Updated 19 May 2008. "Eligible (E) and Officially Designated (OD) Routes." *California Scenic Highway Program*. Available at: http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/LandArch/scenic/cahisys.htm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> County of Los Angeles. Accessed June 2009. *Unincorporated Areas*. County of Los Angeles Web site. Available at: http://portal.lacounty.gov/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> County of Los Angeles. Accessed June 2009. *Unincorporated Areas*. County of Los Angeles Web site. Available at: http://portal.lacounty.gov/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

colors of plastic bags and the difficulty of collecting them cause a greater visual eyesore than other materials. The negative impacts on scenic vistas resulting from the prevalence of plastic bags in residential, business, and recreational areas frequented by people would require measures to diminish the prevalence of plastic carryout bags. The proposed ordinance would be expected to reduce the visual prominence of these materials, and thus could minimize the negative impacts of plastic bags on scenic vistas as viewed by sensitive receptors within the unincorporated territories of the County. Therefore, the proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in adverse impacts to aesthetics related to scenic vistas. No further analysis is warranted.

# Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to aesthetics in relation to scenic vistas. Development within these incorporated areas exhibits patterns similar to that of the urban areas described within the County, including the public services, utilities, and recreation.<sup>10,11</sup> As such, residences, schools, churches, and recreation areas located within viewing range of the scenic vistas would serve as sensitive receptors. The proposed ordinances, which aim to significantly reduce the amount of litter that can be attributed to the use plastic carryout bags, would likely lead to the improvement of any scenic vista available from these sensitive receptors. The proposed ordinances would be expected to reduce the visual prominence of these materials and thus could minimize the negative impacts of plastic bags on scenic vistas as viewed by sensitive receptors within the incorporated cities of the County. Therefore, the proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in adverse impacts to aesthetics related to scenic vistas. No further analysis is warranted.

(b) Substantially damage scenic resources, including, but not limited to, trees, rock outcroppings, and historic buildings within a state scenic highway?

# Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to aesthetics in relation to substantial damage to scenic resources within a state-designated scenic highway. According to the California Scenic Highway Program, California State Route 2 is the only highway located within the jurisdictional boundary of the proposed ordinance that is officially designated as a state scenic highway;<sup>12</sup> State Routes 1, 27, 39, 57, 101, 118, and 210 are also located within the jurisdictional boundary of the proposed ordinance but are designated only as eligible state scenic highways.<sup>13</sup> Local specific and community plans also designate scenic resources within the unincorporated areas of the County. Furthermore, the County of Los Angeles General Plan documents the presence of scenic resources, including mountains, forest lands, beaches, and varied native vegetation, within the unincorporated territories of the County and within the vicinity of the officially designated or eligible

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Combs, Suzanne, John Johnston, Gary Lippner, David Marx, and Kimberly Walter. 1998–2000. *Caltrans Litter Management Pilot Study*. Sacramento, CA: California Department of Transportation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> County of Los Angeles. Accessed June 2009. *Unincorporated Areas*. County of Los Angeles Web site. Available at: http://portal.lacounty.gov/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> California Department of Transportation. Updated 19 May 2008. "Eligible (E) and Officially Designated (OD) Routes." *California Scenic Highway Program*. Available at: http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/LandArch/scenic/cahisys.htm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> California Department of Transportation. Updated 19 May 2008. "Eligible (E) and Officially Designated (OD) Routes." *California Scenic Highway Program*. Available at: http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/LandArch/scenic/cahisys.htm

state scenic highways, and were confirmed through the review of County maps.<sup>14</sup> The proposed ordinance, which aims to significantly reduce the amount of litter that can be attributed to the use of plastic carryout bags, would likely lead to an improvement in the quality of scenic resources within the unincorporated territories of the County. As noted in the County staff report on plastic bags, the distinct white or bright colors of plastic bags and the difficulty of collecting them cause a greater negative visual effect than do other materials.<sup>15</sup> As such, the widespread occurrence of plastic bags throughout scenic resource and scenic highway areas would require measures to diminish the prevalence of plastic carryout bags, thereby minimizing the negative impacts of plastic bags on scenic resources in the unincorporated territories of the County. Therefore, there would be no expected adverse impacts to aesthetics related to substantial damage to scenic resources within a state scenic highway. No further analysis is warranted.

# Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to aesthetics in relation to substantial damage to scenic resources within a state-designated scenic highway. The proposed ordinances, which aim to significantly reduce the amount of litter that can be attributed to the use of plastic carryout bags, would likely lead to an improvement in the quality of scenic resources within the incorporated cities of the County. As such, the widespread occurrence of plastic bags throughout scenic resources and scenic highway areas would require measures to diminish the prevalence of plastic carryout bags, thereby minimizing the negative impacts of plastic bags on scenic resources in the incorporated cities of the County. Therefore, there would be no expected adverse impacts to aesthetics related to substantial damage to scenic resources within a state scenic highway. No further analysis is warranted.

(c) Substantially degrade the existing visual character or quality of the site and its surroundings?

# Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to aesthetics in relation to the substantial degradation of the existing visual character of the unincorporated territories and its surroundings. The unincorporated areas of the County, which would be affected by the proposed ordinance, are designated as part of one of the eight general land use categories in the Land Use element of the County of Los Angeles General Plan,<sup>16</sup> as listed in Section 1.0, Project Description, of this Initial Study. As such, the existing visual character of the unincorporated areas of the County, which would be affected by the proposed ordinance, maintain an appearance ranging from developed urban areas, which are attributed to residential, commercial, and industrial activities, to undeveloped recreational and agricultural areas. The proposed ordinance would likely lead to the improvement of the area's existing visual character because it is intended to significantly reduce the amount of litter that can be attributed to the use of plastic carryout bags. As determined in the County staff report on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors, pp. 2–3 and Figure 1, Typical Landfill Activity. Alhambra, CA. Available at:

http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

plastic bags, due to their expansive and lightweight characteristics, plastic bags are easily carried by wind to become entangled in brush, tossed along freeways, and caught on fences throughout the County.<sup>17,18</sup> Moreover, plastic bags have a distinct white or bright color and are difficult to collect, thus causing a greater visual eyesore than other materials.<sup>19</sup> The prevalence of plastic carryout bags in residential, business, recreational, and other areas that receive greater traffic flows would require means that serve to diminish the existence of plastic carryout bags, and at the same time reduce the visual pervasiveness of these materials and thus improve the visual quality of unincorporated areas of the County for sensitive receptors present within these areas. Therefore, there would be no expected adverse significant impacts to aesthetics related to degradation of the existing visual character of the subject areas and their surroundings. No further analysis is warranted.

# Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to aesthetics in relation to the substantial degradation of the existing visual character of the incorporated cities of the County, which would be affected by the proposed ordinances, range in appearance from developed urban areas, which are attributed to residential, commercial, and industrial activities, to undeveloped recreational and agricultural areas. The proposed ordinances would likely lead to the improvement of the existing visual character of the County's incorporated cities by reducing the visual pervasiveness of plastic bag materials for sensitive receptors present within these areas. Therefore, there would be no expected adverse significant impacts to aesthetics related to degradation of the existing visual character of the County and their surroundings. No further analysis is warranted.

(d) Create a new source of substantial light or glare which would adversely affect day or nighttime views in the area?

# Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to aesthetics related to the creation of a new source of substantial light or glare that would adversely affect daytime or nighttime views within the unincorporated territories of the County. Existing sources of light within the unincorporated areas of the County, which would be subject to the proposed ordinance, include street lights, light structures in surface parking areas, and security lighting on buildings; no other significant sources of light or glare are present. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not be expected to create additional sources of light and glare. Therefore, there would be no expected adverse significant impacts to aesthetics related to creation of a new source of light or glare. No further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors, pp. 2–3. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Combs, Suzanne, John Johnston, Gary Lippner, David Marx, and Kimberly Walter. 1998–2000. *Caltrans Litter Management Pilot Study*. Sacramento, CA: California Department of Transportation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. *An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors*, pp. 2–3 and Figure 1, Typical Landfill Activity. Alhambra, CA. Available at:

http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf
### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to aesthetics related to the creation of a new source of substantial light or glare that would adversely affect daytime or nighttime views within the incorporated cities of the County. The proposed ordinances would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not be expected to create additional sources of light or glare. Therefore, there would be no expected adverse significant impacts to aesthetics related to creation of a new source of light or glare. No further analysis is warranted.

#### 3.2 AGRICULTURE RESOURCES

This analysis is undertaken to determine if the proposed ordinances may have a significant impact to agricultural resources, thus requiring the consideration of mitigation measures or alternatives, in accordance with Section 15063 of the State CEQA Guidelines.<sup>1</sup> Agricultural resources within the County, which would be subject to the proposed ordinances, were evaluated with regard to the California Department of Conservation (CDC) Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program (FMMP)<sup>2</sup> and the County of Los Angeles General Plan.<sup>3</sup>

The State CEQA Statutes define agricultural land as "prime farmland, farmland of statewide importance, or unique farmland, as defined by the United States Department of Agriculture land inventory and monitoring criteria, as modified for California," and is herein collectively referred to as "Farmland."<sup>4</sup> The State CEQA Guidelines recommend the consideration of three questions when addressing the potential for significant impacts to agricultural resources.

Would the proposed ordinances:

(a) Convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide Importance (Farmland), as shown on the maps prepared pursuant to the Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program of the California Resources Agency, to non-agricultural use?

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to agricultural resources in relation to the conversion of Farmland. Based upon a review of the Land Use element of the County of Los Angeles General Plan, it was determined that the unincorporated territories of the County include agricultural lands.<sup>5</sup> As such, portions of the unincorporated territories are utilized for agriculture, grazing, and vegetation. However, the proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not include components that would alter the existing uses within the areas that would be affected by the proposed ordinance. Moreover, the proposed ordinance would not require the conversion of any existing area designated for agricultural land use or Farmland, as it would not require any construction, demolition, or road-paving activities. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to agricultural resources related to the conversion of Farmland. No further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Division 6, Chapter 3, Sections 15000–15387, Appendix G.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> California Department of Conservation, Division of Land Resource Protection, Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program. 2006. *Important Farmland in California 2006*. Sacramento, CA. Available at: ftp://ftp.consrv.ca.gov/pub/dlrp/FMMP/pdf/statewide/2006/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> California Public Resources Code, Division 13, Chapter 2.5, Section 21060.1(a): "Agricultural Land."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to agricultural resources in relation to the conversion of Farmland. As with the unincorporated territories of the County, the proposed ordinances would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not include components that would alter the existing uses within the incorporated cities that adopt the proposed ordinances. In addition, the proposed ordinances would not require the conversion of any existing area designated for agricultural land use or Farmland, as they would not require any construction, demolition, or road-paving activities. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to agricultural resources related to the conversion of Farmland. No further analysis is warranted.

(b) Conflict with existing zoning for agricultural use, or a Williamson Act contract?

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to agricultural resources in relation to a conflict with existing zoning for agricultural use or with a Williamson Act contract. Although portions of the unincorporated territories of the County may be subject to Williamson Act contracts, the proposed ordinance does not entail components involving changes in the existing land uses or zoning within the unincorporated territories. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and does not include components that would alter or conflict with the specified zoning. Therefore, the proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to agricultural resources in relation to a conflict with existing zoning for agricultural use or with a Williamson Act contract. No further analysis is warranted.

#### **Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles**

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to agricultural resources in relation to a conflict with existing zoning for agricultural use or with a Williamson Act contract. The proposed ordinances would not entail components involving changes in the existing land uses or zoning within the incorporated cities of the County. The proposed ordinances would not include components that would alter or conflict with the specified zoning. Therefore, the proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to agricultural resources in relation to a conflict with existing zoning for agricultural use or with a Williamson Act contract. No further analysis is warranted.

(c) Involve other changes in the existing environment which, due to their location or nature, could result in conversion of Farmland, to non-agricultural use?

#### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to agricultural resources in relation to changes in the existing environment that, due to their location or nature, could result in conversion of Farmland to non-agricultural use. Although a review of the most recent CDC FMMP mapping of the County for Farmland and a map of the unincorporated territories of the County shows that there is designated Farmland within the areas that would be affected by the proposed ordinance, the proposed ordinance would not entail components that would involve changes in

the existing environment.<sup>6</sup> The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not alter the suitability of any designated farmland for development that could result in conversion of Farmland to non-agricultural use, as the proposed ordinance would not require any construction, demolition, or road-paving activities. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to agricultural resources related to changes in the existing environment that, due to their location or nature, could result in conversion of Farmland to non-agricultural use. No further analysis is warranted.

#### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to agricultural resources in relation to changes in the existing environment that, due to their location or nature, could result in conversion of Farmland to non-agricultural use. As with the unincorporated territories of the County, the proposed ordinances within the incorporated cities of the County would not entail components that would change the existing environment related to agricultural resources.<sup>7</sup> The proposed ordinances would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not alter the suitability of any designated farmland for development that could result in conversion of Farmland to non-agricultural use, as the proposed ordinances would not require any construction, demolition, or road-paving activities. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to agricultural resources related to changes in the existing environment that, due to their location or nature, could result in conversion of Farmland to non-agricultural use. No further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> California Department of Conservation, Division of Land Resource Protection, Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program. 2006. *Important Farmland in California 2006*. Sacramento, CA. Available at: ftp://ftp.consrv.ca.gov/pub/dlrp/FMMP/pdf/statewide/2006/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> California Department of Conservation, Division of Land Resource Protection, Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program. 2006. *Important Farmland in California 2006*. Sacramento, CA. Available at: ftp://ftp.consrv.ca.gov/pub/dlrp/FMMP/pdf/statewide/2006/

### 3.3 AIR QUALITY

This analysis is undertaken to determine if the proposed ordinances may have significant impacts to air quality, thus requiring the consideration of mitigation measures or alternatives, in accordance with Section 15063 of the State CEQA Guidelines.<sup>1</sup> Air quality within the County, which would be subject to the proposed ordinances, was evaluated with regard to the County of Los Angeles General Plan,<sup>2</sup> the National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS), the California Ambient Air Quality Standards (CAAQS), and the federal Clean Air Act (CAA).<sup>3</sup>

Data on existing air quality in the County are monitored by a network of air monitoring stations operated by the California Environmental Protection Agency, California Air Resources Board (CARB), the South Coast Air Quality Management District (SCAQMD), and the Antelope Valley Air Quality Management District (AVAQMD).

State CEQA Guidelines recommend the consideration of five questions when addressing the potential for significant impacts to air quality.

Would the proposed ordinances:

(a) Conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan?

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

There would be no expected impacts to air quality related to conflicts with or obstruction of implementation of the applicable air quality plan. The proposed ordinance does not sanction violations of the SCAQMD Air Quality Management Plan or provide any such relief from such regulations. The majority of the unincorporated territories of the County are located within the SCAQMD portion of the South Coast Air Basin, while a northern portion of the unincorporated territories of the County is located within the AVAQMD portion of the Mojave Desert Air Basin (Figure 3.3-1, *Air Quality Management Districts within the County of Los Angeles*). Therefore, the area affected by the proposed ordinances is located within the boundaries regulated pursuant to the SCAQMD Air Quality Management Plan and the AVAQMD Federal 8-Hour Ozone Attainment Plan.<sup>4,5</sup> The SCAQMD Air Quality Management Plan sets forth strategies for attaining the federal particulate matter (PM) air quality standards and the federal 8-hour ozone (O<sub>3</sub>) air quality standard, as well as for meeting state standards at the earliest date practicable. The AVAQMD Federal 8-hour NAAQS for O<sub>3</sub> by 2021.

The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued at certain stores within the unincorporated territories of the County, which would be expected to result in beneficial impacts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Division 6, Chapter 3, Sections 15000–15387, Appendix G.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2005. "Title I Air Pollution Prevention and Control." *Federal Clean Air Act*. Available at: http://www.epa.gov/air/caa//

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Antelope Valley Air Quality Management District. 20 May 2008. AVAQMD Federal 8-Hour Ozone Attainment Plan. Lancaster, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing



# Figure 3.3-1





to air guality. Direct beneficial impacts to air guality would be expected to occur as a result of decreased vehicle emissions related to the distribution of plastic carryout bags, the transport of plastic bag waste, and litter collection along roadways and water channels. In addition, beneficial impacts to air quality would be expected to result from the reduced demand for the production of plastic carryout bags. The production of plastic carryout bags is a chemical process that begins with the conversion of crude oil or natural gas into hydrocarbon monomers such as ethylene;<sup>6</sup> further processing leads to the polymerization of ethylene to form polyethylene. During processing, volatile organic compounds (VOCs), which are precursors to the formation of  $O_3$ , are emitted into the atmosphere.<sup>7</sup> In addition, the fuel combustion that is required to operate the facilities that manufacture plastic bags results in the emission of O<sub>3</sub> precursors and PM into the atmosphere. Therefore, the reduced production of plastic carryout bags would be expected to reduce the emission of O<sub>3</sub> precursors into the atmosphere, thereby complying with the O<sub>3</sub> reduction requirements set forth in the SCAOMD Air Quality Management Plan and the AVAOMD Federal 8-Hour Ozone Attainment Plan, and would also be expected to reduce PM emissions in compliance with the PM reduction goals set out in the SCAQMD Air Quality Management Plan.

However, certain plastic bag industry representatives have postulated that the banning of plastic carryout bags could potentially result in the increased manufacture, use, and disposal of paper carryout bags. As paper bags are significantly heavier than plastic carryout bags, certain plastic bag industry representatives claim that the transport of paper bags has the potential to require the combustion of more fossil fuel, which could result in an increase in the emission of both PM and O<sub>3</sub> precursors. The manufacturing process of paper bags also requires fuel consumption; therefore, these same industry representatives further argue an increase in the production of paper bags could increase the emission of O<sub>3</sub> precursors and PM into the atmosphere.

However, any increases would be offset to some extent due to the fact that paper bags can contain a larger volume of groceries than plastic bags. In addition, a net increase in the use of reusable bags would be expected and would further reduce the potential for increased use of paper carryout bags utilized. Therefore, a potential increase in paper bag manufacturing would not be expected to conflict with the O<sub>3</sub> reduction requirements set forth in the SCAQMD Air Quality Management Plan and the AVAQMD Federal 8-Hour Ozone Attainment Plan and with the PM reduction goals set out in the SCAQMD Air Quality Management Plan. The causes of air pollution in the County are primarily from vehicle exhausts, unlike areas in the East Coast of the United States, where the primary causes are from manufacturing.<sup>8</sup> Air emissions are regulated by the SCAQMD, which uses the Regional Clean Air Incentives Market (RECLAIM) program to regulate air emissions from manufacturing.<sup>9</sup> Under SCAQMD's command-and-control, almost every piece of equipment that emits air pollution is regulated individually by the SCAQMD. Industrial and miscellaneous manufacturing processes account for less than 10 percent of the sources of O<sub>3</sub>-forming pollutants.<sup>10</sup> On-road vehicles account for approximately 44 percent of O<sub>3</sub>-forming pollution. The majority of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> European Environment Agency. 5 December 2007. "Processes in Organic Chemical Industries (Bulk Production) Ethylene." *EMEP / CORINAIR Emission Inventory Guidebook* – 2007. Copenhagen, Denmark. Available at: http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/EMEPCORINAIR5/B451vs2.3.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> European Environment Agency. 5 December 2007. "Processes in Organic Chemical Industries (Bulk Production) Polyethylene Low Density." *EMEP / CORINAIR Emission Inventory Guidebook –* 2007. Copenhagen, Denmark. Available at: http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/EMEPCORINAIR5/B456vs2.2.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Grill, Mindy. "What is Air Pollution?" Web site. Available at: http://www.encyclomedia.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> South Coast Air Quality Management District. "What AQMD Does." Web site. Available at: http://www.aqmd.gov

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> South Coast Air Quality Management District. "Regional Clean Air Incentives Market (RECLAIM)." Web site. Available at: http://www.aqmd.gov

vehicle miles travelled is associated with commuters, and transport of goods and services for the Ports of Los Angeles and Long Beach and Los Angeles International Airport. The manufacture and transport of plastic and paper carryout bags is a regulated industry that does not represent a measureable contribution to emissions in the County. Therefore, the proposed ordinance would not be expected to have the potential to result in indirect significant impacts to air quality related to conformance with the applicable air quality plans. No further analysis is warranted.

### **Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles**

There would be no expected impacts to air quality related to conflicts with or obstruction of implementation of the applicable air quality plan. As with the unincorporated territories of the County, the proposed ordinances would ban plastic carryout bags issued at certain stores within the incorporated cities of the County. The proposed ordinances would be expected to result in beneficial impacts to air quality. The proposed ordinances would not be expected to conflict with the O<sub>3</sub> reduction requirements set forth in the SCAQMD Air Quality Management Plan and the AVAQMD Federal 8-Hour Ozone Attainment Plan and with the PM reduction goals set out in the SCAQMD Air Quality Management Plan. Therefore, the proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in indirect significant impacts to air quality related to conformance with the applicable air quality plans. No further analysis is warranted.

(b) Violate any air quality standard or contribute substantially to an existing or projected air quality violation?

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

Any potential impact to air quality in relation to violation of any air quality standard or a substantial contribution to existing or projected air quality violations resulting from the implementation of the proposed ordinance would be expected to be avoided through conformance with the SCAQMD Air Quality Management Plan, which includes conformance with the RECLAIM program, which regulates air emissions from manufacturing, as well as the SCAQMD command-and-control that regulates almost every piece of equipment that emits air pollution.<sup>11</sup> The jurisdiction of the proposed ordinance covers the unincorporated territories of the County, which are required to comply with the NAAQS and CAAQS. The proposed ordinance would be expected to assist the County in achieving air quality standards over time. However, certain plastic bag industry representatives have postulated that the banning of plastic carryout bags could potentially result in the increased manufacture of paper carryout bags, thus requiring the consideration of the potential violations of air quality standards and requirements; therefore, the County has decided to present the analysis of this issue in an EIR.

#### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

As with the unincorporated territories of the County, violations of air quality standards from manufacturing within the incorporated cities would be avoided through conformance with the SCAQMD Air Quality Management Plan.<sup>12</sup> However, the County has decided to present the analysis of this issue in an EIR as a means of addressing arguments that have been postulated by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> South Coast Air Quality Management District. "Regional Clean Air Incentives Market (RECLAIM)." Web site. Available at: http://www.aqmd.gov

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> South Coast Air Quality Management District. "Regional Clean Air Incentives Market (RECLAIM)." Web site. Available at: http://www.aqmd.gov

certain representatives of the plastic bag industry. Certain plastic bag industry representatives have postulated that the banning of plastic carryout bags would potentially result in the increased manufacture of paper carryout bags, thus requiring the consideration of the potential violations of air quality standards and requirements; therefore the County has decided to present the analysis of this issue in an EIR. The jurisdiction of the proposed ordinances covers the incorporated cities of the County, which are required to comply with the NAAQS and CAAQS.

As with the proposed ordinance in the unincorporated territories of the County, the proposed ordinances would ban plastic carryout bags issued at certain stores within the incorporated areas of the County. The proposed ordinances would be expected to result in beneficial impacts in relation to the violation of air quality standards and existing or projected air quality violations in the County.

A reduction in the manufacture, transport, and disposal of plastic carryout bags would be expected to reduce the emission of O<sub>3</sub> precursors into the atmosphere, thereby complying with NAAQS and CAAQS for O<sub>3</sub> and PM.

(c) Result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria pollutant for which the project region is non-attainment under an applicable federal or state ambient air quality standard (including releasing emissions which exceed quantitative thresholds for ozone precursors)?

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

Potential impacts to air quality due to a net increase of any criteria pollutant for which the County is in non-attainment would be expected to be avoided through conformance with the SCAQMD Air Quality Management Plan, particularly the RECLAIM program, which regulates air emissions from manufacturing. The majority of the unincorporated territories of the County are located within the SCAQMD portion of the South Coast Air Basin, while a northern portion of the unincorporated territories of the County is located within the AVAQMD portion of the Mojave Desert Air Basin (Figure 3.3-1). The SCAQMD portion of the South Coast Air Basin is currently designated as a Severe-17 non-attainment area for O<sub>3</sub>, a non-attainment area for PM<sub>2.5</sub>, and a Serious non-attainment area for PM10;<sup>13</sup> but the South Coast Air Basin has achieved the federal 1hour and 8-hour carbon monoxide (CO) air guality standards since 1990 and 2002, respectively. and the County has met the federal air quality standards for nitrogen dioxide (NO<sub>2</sub>) since 1992.<sup>14</sup> Although the South Coast Air Basin as a whole is designated as a non-attainment area for PM10, federal PM<sub>10</sub> standards in the County are currently being met at all monitoring stations.<sup>15</sup> The AVAQMD portion of the Mojave Desert Air Basin is currently classified as a moderate nonattainment area for the federal 8-hour  $O_3$  standard, but is in attainment for all other criteria pollutants.<sup>16</sup>

Therefore, implementation of the proposed ordinance would not be expected to adversely impact air quality due to a net increase of any criteria pollutant. However, certain representatives of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 15 August 2008. "The Green Book Nonattainment Areas for Criteria Pollutants." *Green Book*. Available at: http://www.epa.gov/oar/oaqps/greenbk/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> South Coast Air Quality Management District. June 2007. 2007 Air Quality Management Plan. Diamond Bar, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> South Coast Air Quality Management District. June 2007. 2007 Air Quality Management Plan. Diamond Bar, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 15 August 2008. "The Green Book Nonattainment Areas for Criteria Pollutants." *Green Book*. Available at: http://www.epa.gov/oar/oaqps/greenbk/

plastic bag industry have postulated that the banning of plastic bags would potentially result in a net increase in criteria pollutants; therefore, the County has decided to present the analysis of this issue in an EIR.

### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

As with the unincorporated territories of the County, emissions of criteria pollutants from manufacturing within the incorporated cities would be avoided through conformance with the SCAQMD Air Quality Management Plan.<sup>17</sup> However, the County has decided to present the analysis of this issue in an EIR, as a means of addressing arguments that have been postulated by certain representatives of the plastic bag industry.

(d) Expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to air quality in relation to the exposure of sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations. Land uses identified as sensitive receptors by SCAQMD in the CEQA Air Quality Handbook can include residences, schools, playgrounds, child care centers, athletic facilities, long-term health care facilities, rehabilitation centers, convalescent centers, and retirement homes.<sup>18</sup> There are many sensitive receptors throughout the unincorporated territories of the County; however, the proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in significant localized air pollutant emissions that would have the potential to affect sensitive receptors. Therefore, the proposed ordinance would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to air quality related to sensitive receptors. No further analysis is warranted.

## **Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles**

The proposed ordinances would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to air quality in relation to the exposure of sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations. There are many sensitive receptors throughout the incorporated cities of the County; however, the proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in significant localized air pollutant emissions that would have the potential to affect sensitive receptors. Therefore, the proposed ordinances would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to air quality related to sensitive receptors. No further analysis is warranted.

(e) Create objectionable odors affecting a substantial number of people?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to air quality in relation to objectionable odors. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued at certain stores within the unincorporated territories of the County, which has the potential to result in decreased vehicle emissions related to the distribution of plastic carryout bags, the transport of plastic bag waste, and the collection of plastic bag collection along roadways and water channels. A reduction in vehicle emissions may serve to reduce objectionable odors

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> South Coast Air Quality Management District. 1993. CEQA Air Quality Handbook. Diamond Bar, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> South Coast Air Quality Management District. 1993. CEQA Air Quality Handbook. Diamond Bar, CA.

because diesel exhaust odors from vehicles may be considered unpleasant by some people. However, this potential decrease in objectionable odors is expected to be minimal. Some representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in environmental impacts due to increased reliance on paper carryout bags.<sup>19</sup> Consequently, the proposed ordinance may result in a slight increase in objectionable odors from the increased diesel consumption by vehicles transporting carryout paper bags. However, this potential increase in objectionable odors is also expected to be minimal. Therefore, the proposed ordinances would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to air quality related to objectionable odors. No further analysis is warranted.

### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to air quality in relation to objectionable odors. The proposed ordinances would ban plastic carryout bags issued at certain stores within the incorporated areas of the County, which has the potential to result in decreased vehicle emissions related to the distribution of plastic carryout bags, the transport of plastic bag waste, and the collection of plastic bag waste along roadways and water channels. A reduction in vehicle emissions may help reduce objectionable odors because diesel exhaust odors from vehicles may be considered unpleasant by some people. However, this potential decrease in objectionable odors is expected to be minimal. Therefore, the proposed ordinances would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to air quality related to objectionable odors. No further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

### 3.4 **BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES**

This analysis is undertaken to determine if the proposed ordinances may have a significant impact to biological resources, thus requiring the consideration of mitigation measures or alternatives, in accordance with Section 15063 of the State CEQA Guidelines.<sup>1</sup> Biological resources within the County, which would be subject to the proposed ordinances, were evaluated with regard to the Land Use element of the County of Los Angeles General Plan;<sup>2</sup> information provided by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS),<sup>3</sup> California Department of Fish and Game (CDFG),<sup>4</sup> and Bureau of Land Management;<sup>5</sup> and a review of published and unpublished literature germane to the proposed ordinances.

Although it is anticipated that the proposed ordinances would not result in adverse impacts related to biological resources, it is recommended that the biological resources section be carried forward for further analysis into the EIR to assess the potential for positive effects to biological resources as they relate to listed, sensitive, and locally important species and riparian habitat, wetlands, and habitat conservation plans.

The following list identifies the candidate or listed species that have the potential to occur near or within County limits. These species are either candidates for listing or are currently listed as threatened or endangered in the federal list of threatened and endangered species and are candidates for listing or are currently listed as rare, threatened or endangered in the State of California (Table 3.4-1, *Special-status Species with the Potential to Occur within the County of Los Angeles*):<sup>6</sup>

- Plants: 5 federally listed species, 1 candidate for federal listing, 6 State-listed species and 17 species that are both federal and state listed
- Lepidoptera (butterflies and moths): 2 federally listed species
- Pisces (fish): 3 federally listed species and 2 species that are both federally and State-listed
- Amphibia (amphibians): 3 federal listed species
- Reptilia (reptiles): 1 federal listed species and 2 species that are both federally and State listed
- Aves (birds): 4 federally listed species, 7 state listed species (2 of which are candidates for federal listing) and four species that are both federally and State listed
- Mammalia (mammals): 1 federally listed species, 3 State listed species, and 1 species that is both federally and State listed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Division 6, Chapter 3, Sections 15000–15387, Appendix G.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Agency information available at: http://www.fws.gov/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> California Department of Fish and Game. Agency information available at: http://www.dfg.ca.gov/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Bureau of Land Management. Agency information available at: http://www.blm.gov/ca/st/en.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> California Natural Diversity Database. Accessed on: 13 October 2009. Santa Monica, CA.

## TABLE 3.4-1 SPECIAL-STATUS SPECIES WITH THE POTENTIAL TO OCCUR WITHIN THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES

Common Name	Scientific Name	Federal Status	State Status
Amphibians			
arroyo toad	Anaxyrus californicus	Endangered	None
California red-legged frog	Rana draytonii	Threatened	None
Sierra Madre yellow-legged frog	Rana muscosa	Endangered	None
Birds			
American peregrine falcon	Falco peregrinus anatum	Delisted	Endangered
bald eagle	Haliaeetus leucocephalus	Delisted	Endangered
Belding's savannah sparrow	Passerculus sandwichensis beldingi	None	Endangered
California black rail	Laterallus jamaicensis coturniculus	None	Threatened
California condor	Gymnogyps californianus	Endangered	Endangered
California least tern	Sternula antillarum browni	Endangered	Endangered
coastal California gnatcatcher	Polioptila californica californica	Threatened	None
least Bell's vireo	Vireo bellii pusillus	Endangered	Endangered
San Clemente loggerhead shrike	Lanius ludovicianus mearnsi	Endangered	None
San Clemente sage sparrow	Amphispiza belli clementeae	Threatened	None
southwestern willow flycatcher	Empidonax traillii extimus	Endangered	Endangered
Swainson's hawk	Buteo swainsoni	None	Threatened
western snowy plover	Charadrius alexandrinus nivosus	Threatened	None
western yellow-billed cuckoo	Coccyzus americanus occidentalis	Candidate	Endangered
Xantus' murrelet	Synthliboramphus hypoleucus	Candidate	Threatened
Fish			
Mohave tui chub	Gila bicolor mohavensis	Endangered	Endangered
Santa Ana sucker	Catostomus santaanae	Threatened	None
southern steelhead - southern California ESU	Oncorhynchus mykiss irideus	Endangered	None
tidewater goby	Eucyclogobius newberryi	Endangered	None
unarmored threespine stickleback	Gasterosteus aculeatus williamsoni	Endangered	Endangered
Invertebrates		_	
El Segundo blue butterfly	Euphilotes battoides allyni	Endangered	None
Palos Verdes blue butterfly	Glaucopsyche lygdamus palosverdesensis	Endangered	None
Mammals			
Mohave ground squirrel	Xerospermophilus mohavensis	None	Threatened
Nelson's antelope squirrel	Ammospermophilus nelsoni	None	Threatened
Pacific pocket mouse	Perognathus longimembris pacificus	Endangered	None
San Clemente Island fox	Urocyon littoralis clementae	None	Threatened

## TABLE 3.4-1 SPECIAL-STATUS SPECIES WITH THE POTENTIAL TO OCCUR WITHIN THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES

Santa Catalina Island fox	Urocyon littoralis catalinae	Endangered	Threatened
Plants			
Agoura Hills dudleya	Dudleya cymosa ssp. agourensis	Threatened	None
beach spectaclepod	Dithyrea maritima	None	Threatened
Brand's star phacelia	Phacelia stellaris	Candidate	None
Braunton's milk-vetch	Astragalus brauntonii	Endangered	None
California orcutt grass	Orcuttia californica	Endangered	Endangered
Catalina Island mountain-mahogany	Cercocarpus traskiae	Endangered	Endangered
coastal dunes milk-vetch	Astragalus tener var. titi	Endangered	Endangered
Gambel's water cress	Nasturtium gambelii	Endangered	Threatened
island rush-rose	Helianthemum greenei	Threatened	None
Lyon's pentachaeta	Pentachaeta Iyonii	Endangered	Endangered
marcescent dudleya	Dudleya cymosa ssp. marcescens	Threatened	Rare
marsh sandwort	Arenaria paludicola	Endangered	Endangered
Mt. Gleason paintbrush	Castilleja gleasonii	None	Rare
Nevin's barberry	Berberis nevinii	Endangered	Endangered
salt marsh bird's-beak	Cordylanthus maritimus ssp. maritimus	Endangered	Endangered
San Clemente Island bedstraw	Galium catalinense ssp. acrispum	None	Endangered
San Clemente Island bird's-foot trefoil	Lotus argophyllus var. adsurgens	None	Endangered
San Clemente Island bush-mallow	Malacothamnus clementinus	Endangered	Endangered
San Clemente Island larkspur	Delphinium variegatum ssp. kinkiense	Endangered	Endangered
San Clemente Island lotus	Lotus dendroideus var. traskiae	Endangered	Endangered
San Clemente Island paintbrush	Castilleja grisea	Endangered	Endangered
San Clemente Island woodland star	Lithophragma maximum	Endangered	Endangered
San Fernando Valley spineflower	Chorizanthe parryi var. fernandina	Candidate	Endangered
Santa Cruz Island rock cress	Sibara filifolia	Endangered	None
Santa Monica dudleya	Dudleya cymosa ssp. ovatifolia	Threatened	None
Santa Susana tarplant	Deinandra minthornii	None	Rare
slender-horned spineflower	Dodecahema leptoceras	Endangered	Endangered
spreading navarretia	Navarretia fossalis	Threatened	None
thread-leaved brodiaea	Brodiaea filifolia	Threatened	Endangered
Ventura Marsh milk-vetch	Astragalus pycnostachyus var. Ianosissimus	Endangered	Endangered
Reptiles			
desert tortoise	Gopherus agassizii	Threatened	Threatened
island night lizard	Xantusia riversiana	Threatened	None

Greenhouse gases are not identified as a factor contributing to the threatened or endangered status of these species.<sup>7</sup> Declines in the populations of plants and animals are caused by many factors, the most serious of which is habitat degradation and destruction by humans through development activities, environmental pollution, introduction of invasive and nonnative species, overharvesting of wild species, and conversion of habitat to other uses.<sup>8</sup>

The State CEQA Guidelines recommend consideration of the following six questions when addressing the potential for significant impacts to biological resources.

Would the proposed ordinances:

(a) Have a substantial adverse effect, either directly or through habitat modification, on any species identified as a candidate, sensitive, or special status species in local or regional plans, policies, or regulations, or by the CDFG or the USFWS?

### **Listed Species**

#### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in adverse impacts to biological resources in relation to species listed as rare, threatened, or endangered pursuant to the federal and state Endangered Species Acts (ESAs). The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued at certain stores and would aim to significantly reduce the use of plastic carryout bags in the unincorporated territories of the County in an effort to reduce the amount of litter attributed to plastic carryout bags. The proposed ordinance would not contain any components that would modify habitat or otherwise adversely affect the survival of any listed species. Therefore, there would be no expected adverse impacts to biological resources related to species listed as rare, threatened, or endangered pursuant to the federal and state ESAs. However, the proposed ordinance would have the potential to result in a beneficial effect to listed species through the reduction of litter associated with plastic bags. Currently, 45,000 tons of plastic carryout bags are disposed of by residents throughout the County each year.<sup>9,10</sup> The structural characteristics of plastic carryout bags allow the bags to easily blow away from landfills and trash collection trucks to become entangled in fences, brush, and waterways.<sup>11,12</sup> By reducing the amount of litter attributed to plastic carryout bags that pollutes potentially suitable upland and aquatic habitats for species

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> California Natural Diversity Database. Accessed on: 13 October 2009. Santa Monica, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>U.S. Department of Agriculture, Northeastern Area. 1997. *Threatened and Endangered Species and the Private Landowner*. Available at: http://www.na.fs.fed.us/spfo/pubs/wildlife/endangered/endangered.htm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> California Environmental Protection Agency, Integrated Waste Management Board. December 2004. "Table 7: Composition of California's Overall Disposed Waste Stream, 2003." *Contractor's Report to the Board: 2004 Statewide Waste Characterization Study*. Produced by: Cascadia Consulting Group, Inc. Berkeley, CA. Available at: http://www.ciwmb.ca.gov/Publications/default.asp?pubid = 1097. Countywide figures are prorated from State figures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> United Nations Environment Programme. April 2009. *Marine Litter: A Global Challenge*. Nairobi, Kenya. Available at: http://www.unep.org/regionalseas/marinelitter/publications/docs/Marine\_Litter\_A\_Global\_Challenge.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

listed as rare, threatened, or endangered pursuant to the federal and state ESAs, the proposed ordinance would have the potential to improve the quality of the habitats in which these listed species dwell. Further analysis is warranted to discuss the potential beneficial effects that may result from the proposed ordinance.

### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in adverse impacts to biological resources in relation to species listed as rare, threatened, or endangered pursuant to the federal and state ESAs. The proposed ordinances would not contain any components that would modify habitat or otherwise adversely affect the survival of any listed species. Therefore, there would be no expected adverse impacts to biological resources related to species listed as rare, threatened, or endangered pursuant to the federal and state ESAs. However, the proposed ordinances would have the potential to benefit listed species through the reduction of litter that is associated with plastic bags. By reducing the amount of litter attributed to plastic bags that pollutes potentially suitable upland and aquatic habitats for species listed as rare, threatened, or endangered pursuant to the federal and state ESAs. However, the potential to improve the quality of the habitats of the listed species. Further analysis is warranted to discuss the potential beneficial effects that may result from the proposed ordinances.

#### **Sensitive Species**

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in adverse impacts to biological resources in relation to sensitive species recognized by the USFWS as federal species of concern or by the CDFG as California Species of Special Concern. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued at certain stores and would aim to significantly reduce the use of plastic carryout bags in an effort to reduce the amount of litter that is attributed to plastic carryout bags. The proposed ordinances do not contain any components that would serve to modify habitat or otherwise adversely affect the survival of any sensitive species. Therefore, there would be no expected adverse impacts to biological resources related to sensitive species of Special Concern. Currently, 45,000 tons of plastic carryout bags are disposed of by residents Countywide each year.<sup>13,14</sup> The structural characteristics of plastic carryout bags allow the bags to easily blow away from landfills and trash collection trucks and they end up entangled in fences, brush, and waterways.<sup>15,16</sup> The proposed ordinances would have the potential to result in a beneficial effect to listed species by reducing the amount of plastic bag litter that pollutes potentially suitable upland

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> California Environmental Protection Agency, Integrated Waste Management Board. December 2004. "Table 7: Composition of California's Overall Disposed Waste Stream, 2003." *Contractor's Report to the Board: 2004 Statewide Waste Characterization Study*. Produced by: Cascadia Consulting Group, Inc. Berkeley, CA. Available at: http://www.ciwmb.ca.gov/Publications/default.asp?pubid = 1097. Countywide figures are prorated from State figures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport 08-2007.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> United Nations Environment Programme. April 2009. *Marine Litter: A Global Challenge*. Nairobi, Kenya. Available at: http://www.unep.org/regionalseas/marinelitter/publications/docs/Marine\_Litter\_A\_Global\_Challenge.pdf and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

and aquatic habitats for sensitive species recognized by the USFWS as federal species of concern or by the CDFG as California Species of Special Concern, thereby improving the conditions of the habitats in which these sensitive species dwell. Further analysis is warranted to discuss the potential beneficial effects that may result from the proposed ordinance.

### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in adverse impacts to biological resources in relation to sensitive species recognized by the USFWS as federal species of concern or by the CDFG as California Species of Special Concern. The proposed ordinances would not entail any components that would modify habitat or otherwise adversely affect the survival of any sensitive species. Therefore, there would be no expected adverse impacts to biological resources related to sensitive species recognized by the USFWS as federal species of concern or by the CDFG as California Species of Special Concern. The proposed ordinances would have the potential to benefit listed species by reducing the amount of plastic bag litter that pollutes potentially suitable upland and aquatic habitats for sensitive species recognized by the USFWS or the CDFG, thereby improving the conditions of the habitats in which these sensitive species dwell. Further analysis is warranted to discuss the potential beneficial effects that may result from the proposed ordinances.

#### Locally Important Species

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in adverse impacts to biological resources in relation to locally important species afforded protection pursuant to California Native Plant Society (CNPS) and CDFG. The proposed ordinances would ban plastic bags issued at certain stores and would aim to significantly reduce the use of plastic carryout bags in an effort to reduce the amount of litter that is attributed to plastic carryout bags. The proposed ordinance does not contain any components that would serve to modify habitats or otherwise adversely affect the survival of any locally important species. Therefore, there would be no expected adverse impacts to biological resources related to locally important species afforded protection pursuant to the CNPS and CDFG. However, the proposed ordinance would have the potential to result in a beneficial effect to locally important species through the reduction of litter that is attributed to plastic bags. Currently, 45,000 tons of plastic carryout bags are disposed of by residents Countywide each year.<sup>17</sup> The structural characteristics of plastic carryout bags allow the bags to easily blow away from landfills and trash collection trucks and they end up entangled in fences, brush, and waterways.<sup>18,19</sup> By reducing the amount of litter associated with plastic bags that pollutes potentially suitable upland and aquatic habitats for locally important species designated pursuant to the CNPS and CDFG, the proposed ordinance would have the potential to improve the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> California Environmental Protection Agency, Integrated Waste Management Board. December 2004. "Table 7: Composition of California's Overall Disposed Waste Stream, 2003." *Contractor's Report to the Board: 2004 Statewide Waste Characterization Study*. Produced by: Cascadia Consulting Group, Inc. Berkeley, CA. Available at: http://www.ciwmb.ca.gov/Publications/default.asp?pubid = 1097. Countywide figures are prorated from State figures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> United Nations Environment Programme. April 2009. *Marine Litter: A Global Challenge*. Nairobi, Kenya. Available at: http://www.unep.org/regionalseas/marinelitter/publications/docs/Marine Litter A Global Challenge.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

quality of the habitats of these species. Further analysis is warranted to discuss the potential beneficial effects that may result from the proposed ordinance.

### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in adverse impacts to biological resources in relation to locally important species afforded protection pursuant to CNPS and CDFG. The proposed ordinances would not contain any components that would serve to modify habitats or otherwise adversely affect the survival of any locally important species. Therefore, there would be no expected adverse impacts to biological resources related to locally important species afforded protection pursuant to the CNPS and CDFG. However, the proposed ordinances would have the potential to benefit locally important species through the reduction of litter attributed to plastic bags. As previously noted, 45,000 tons of plastic carryout bags are currently disposed of by residents each year throughout the County.<sup>20,21</sup> The structural characteristics of plastic carryout bags allow the bags to easily blow away from landfills and trash collection trucks and they end up entangled in fences, brush, and waterways.<sup>22,23</sup> By reducing the amount of litter associated with plastic bags that pollutes potentially suitable upland and aquatic habitats for locally important species designated pursuant to the CNPS and CDFG, the proposed ordinances would have the potential to improve the quality of the habitats of these species. Further analysis is warranted to discuss the potential beneficial effects that may result from the proposed ordinances.

(b) Have a substantial adverse effect on any riparian habitat or other sensitive natural community identified in local or regional plans, policies, regulations or by CDFG or the USFWS?

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in adverse impacts to biological resources in relation to riparian habitat or other sensitive natural communities. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued at certain stores and would aim to significantly reduce the use of plastic carryout bags in the unincorporated territories of the County in an effort to reduce the amount of litter that is attributed to plastic carryout bags. The proposed ordinance does not contain any components that would serve to modify riparian habitats or other sensitive natural communities. Therefore, there would be no expected adverse impacts to biological resources related to riparian habitat or other sensitive natural communities. However, implementation of the proposed ordinance would have the potential to result in a beneficial effect related to riparian

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> California Environmental Protection Agency, Integrated Waste Management Board. December 2004. "Table 7: Composition of California's Overall Disposed Waste Stream, 2003." *Contractor's Report to the Board: 2004 Statewide Waste Characterization Study*. Produced by: Cascadia Consulting Group, Inc. Berkeley, CA. Available at: http://www.ciwmb.ca.gov/Publications/default.asp?pubid = 1097. Countywide figures are prorated from State figures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport 08-2007.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> United Nations Environment Programme. April 2009. *Marine Litter: A Global Challenge*. Nairobi, Kenya. Available at: http://www.unep.org/regionalseas/marinelitter/publications/docs/Marine\_Litter\_A\_Global\_Challenge.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

habitat due to decreased levels of plastic bag litter flowing into waterways and riparian habitats.<sup>24,25</sup> Further analysis is warranted to discuss the potential beneficial effects that may result from the proposed ordinance.

### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in adverse impacts to biological resources in relation to riparian habitat or other sensitive natural communities. The proposed ordinances would not contain any components that would modify riparian habitats or other sensitive natural communities. Therefore, there would be no expected adverse impacts to biological resources related to riparian habitat or other sensitive natural communities. However, implementation of the proposed ordinances would have the potential to result in a beneficial effect related to riparian habitat due to decreased levels of plastic bag litter flowing into waterways and riparian habitats.<sup>26,27</sup> Further analysis is warranted to discuss the potential beneficial effects that may result from the proposed ordinances.

(c) Have a substantial adverse effect on federally protected wetlands as defined by Section 404 of the Clean Water Act (including, but not limited to, marsh, vernal pool, coastal, etc.) through direct removal, filling, hydrological interruption, or other means?

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in adverse impacts to biological resources in relation to federally protected wetlands as defined by Section 404 of the Clean Water Act through direct removal, filling, hydrological interruption, or other means. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued at certain stores and would aim to significantly reduce the use of plastic carryout bags in the unincorporated territories of the County in an effort to reduce the amount of litter that is attributed to plastic carryout bags. The proposed ordinance does not contain any components that would directly or indirectly remove, fill, or interrupt any federally protected wetlands. Therefore, there would be no expected adverse impacts to biological resources related to federally protected wetlands as defined by Section 404 of the Clean Water Act. However, the proposed ordinance would have the potential to result in a beneficial effect on wetlands by reducing the amount of plastic bag waste contained in storm water runoff, thus improving water quality and the quality of biological resources in the unincorporated territories of the Clean Water Act.<sup>28,29</sup> Further analysis is warranted to discuss the potential beneficial effects that may result from the proposed ordinance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> United Nations Environment Programme. April 2009. *Marine Litter: A Global Challenge*. Nairobi, Kenya. Available at: http://www.unep.org/regionalseas/marinelitter/publications/docs/Marine\_Litter\_A\_Global\_Challenge.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. *An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors*. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> United Nations Environment Programme. April 2009. *Marine Litter: A Global Challenge*. Nairobi, Kenya. Available at: http://www.unep.org/regionalseas/marinelitter/publications/docs/Marine\_Litter\_A\_Global\_Challenge.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport 08-2007.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> United Nations Environment Programme. April 2009. *Marine Litter: A Global Challenge*. Nairobi, Kenya. Available at: http://www.unep.org/regionalseas/marinelitter/publications/docs/Marine\_Litter\_A\_Global\_Challenge.pdf

#### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in adverse impacts to biological resources in relation to federally protected wetlands as defined by Section 404 of the Clean Water Act through direct removal, filling, hydrological interruption, or other means. The proposed ordinances would not contain any components that would directly or indirectly remove, fill, or interrupt any federally protected wetlands. Therefore, there would be no expected adverse impacts to biological resources related to federally protected wetlands as defined by Section 404 of the Clean Water Act. However, the proposed ordinances would have the potential to result in a beneficial effect on wetlands by reducing the amount of plastic bag waste contained in storm water runoff, thus improving water quality and the quality of biological resources in the County related to federally protected wetlands as defined by Section 404 of the clean Water Act.<sup>30,31</sup> Further analysis is warranted to discuss the potential beneficial effects that may result from the proposed ordinances.

(d) Interfere substantially with the movement of any native resident or migratory fish or wildlife species or with established native resident or migratory wildlife corridors, or impede the use of native wildlife nursery sites?

### Wildlife Movement Corridors

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in negative impacts to biological resources in relation to movement of any migratory fish or wildlife species or with an established wildlife corridor. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would aim to significantly reduce the use of plastic carryout bags in the unincorporated territories of the County in an effort to reduce the amount of litter that is attributed to plastic carryout bags. The proposed ordinances do not include any components that would interfere with wildlife movement corridors. Therefore, there would be no expected adverse impacts to biological resources related to the movement of any migratory fish or wildlife species or with an established wildlife corridor. However, the proposed ordinance would have the potential to result in a beneficial effect to migratory fish or wildlife species by reducing plastic bag litter, thereby improving the quality of potentially suitable habitat for wildlife corridors needed for migration. Further analysis is warranted to discuss the potential beneficial effects that may result from the proposed ordinance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. *An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors*. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> California Environmental Protection Agency, Integrated Waste Management Board. December 2004. "Table 7: Composition of California's Overall Disposed Waste Stream, 2003." *Contractor's Report to the Board: 2004 Statewide Waste Characterization Study*. Produced by: Cascadia Consulting Group, Inc. Berkeley, CA. Available at: http://www.ciwmb.ca.gov/Publications/default.asp?pubid = 1097. Countywide figures are prorated from State figures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in negative impacts to biological resources in relation to movement of any migratory fish or wildlife species or with an established wildlife corridor. The proposed ordinances would not include any components that would interfere with wildlife movement corridors. Therefore, there would be no expected adverse impacts to biological resources related to the movement of any migratory fish or wildlife species or with an established wildlife corridor. However, the proposed ordinances would have the potential to result in a beneficial effect to migratory fish or wildlife species by reducing plastic bag litter and thereby improving the quality of potentially suitable habitat for wildlife corridors needed for migration. Further analysis is warranted to discuss the potential beneficial effects that may result from the proposed ordinances.

### **Nursery Sites**

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in adverse impacts to biological resources in relation to impeding the use of native wildlife nursery sites. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would aim to significantly reduce the use of plastic carryout bags in the unincorporated territories of the County in an effort to reduce the amount of litter that is attributed to plastic carryout bags. The proposed ordinance does not contain any components that would serve to modify habitat or otherwise adversely affect nursery sites. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to biological resources related to impeding the use of native wildlife nursery sites. However, the proposed ordinance would have the potential to result in a beneficial effect to native wildlife nursery sites by reducing plastic bag litter that pollutes these sites, thereby improving the quality of potentially suitable habitat for wildlife nursery sites. Further analysis is warranted to discuss the potential beneficial effects that may result from the proposed ordinance.

### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in adverse impacts to biological resources in relation to impeding the use of native wildlife nursery sites. The proposed ordinances would not contain any components that would serve to modify habitat or otherwise adversely affect nursery sites. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to biological resources related to impeding the use of native wildlife nursery sites. However, the proposed ordinances would have the potential to benefit native wildlife nursery sites by reducing plastic bag litter that pollutes these sites, thereby improving the quality of potentially suitable habitat for wildlife nursery sites. Further analysis is warranted to discuss the potential beneficial effects that may result from the proposed ordinances.

(e) Conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources, such as a tree preservation policy or ordinances?

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to biological resources in relation to conflicts with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would aim to

significantly reduce the use of plastic carryout bags in the unincorporated territories of the County in an effort to reduce the amount of litter that is attributed to plastic carryout bags. The proposed ordinance does not contain any components that would serve to remove or otherwise adversely impact local biological recourses such as oak trees. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to biological resources related to conflicts with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources. No further analysis is warranted.

### **Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles**

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to biological resources in relation to conflicts with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources. The proposed ordinances would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and aim to significantly reduce the use of plastic carryout bags. The proposed ordinances would not contain any components that would remove or otherwise adversely impact local biological resources such as oak trees. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to biological resources related to conflicts with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources. No further analysis is warranted.

(f) Conflict with the provisions of an adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural Community Conservation Plan, or other approved local, regional, or state habitat conservation plan?

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in adverse impacts to biological resources in relation to conflicts with the provisions of any adopted Habitat Conservation Plans (HCPs) or Natural Community Conservation Plans (NCCPs). Only one NCCP exists within the County, the Palos Verdes Peninsula Subregional Plan.<sup>32,33</sup> The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would aim to significantly reduce the use of plastic carryout bags in the unincorporated territories of the County in an effort to reduce the amount of litter that is attributed to plastic carryout bags. The proposed ordinance does not include components that would serve to conflict with any habitat conservation plan. Therefore, there would be no expected adverse impacts to biological resources related to conflicts with the provisions of any adopted HCPs or NCCPs. However, the proposed ordinance would have the potential benefit biological resources in relation to the Palos Verdes Peninsula Subregional Plan by reducing litter associated with plastic carryout bags in the sensitive coastal sage scrub habitat, thereby potentially contributing to better area-wide protection of natural wildlife diversity.<sup>34</sup> Further analysis is warranted to discuss the potential beneficial effects that may result from the proposed ordinance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> California Department of Fish and Game. Accessed on: 24 June 2009. "NCCP Plan Status." *Resource Management*. Available at: http://www.dfg.ca.gov/habcon/nccp/status/PalosVerdes.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> City of Rancho Palos Verdes. Accessed on: 24 June 2009. "Natural Communities Conservation Planning Act (NCCP)." *Planning & Zoning*. Available at: http://www.palosverdes.com/rpv/planning/NCCP/index.cfm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> City of Rancho Palos Verdes. Accessed on: 24 June 2009. "Natural Communities Conservation Planning Act (NCCP)." *Planning & Zoning*. Available at: http://www.palosverdes.com/rpv/planning/NCCP/index.cfm

#### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in adverse impacts to biological resources in relation to conflicts with the provisions of any adopted HCP or NCCP. As previously mentioned, only one NCCP exists within the County, the Palos Verdes Peninsula Subregional Plan.<sup>35,36</sup> The proposed ordinances would not include components that would conflict with any HCP. Therefore, there would be no expected adverse impacts to biological resources related to conflicts with the provisions of any adopted HCP or NCCP. However, the proposed ordinances would have the potential to result in a beneficial effect to biological resources in relation to the Palos Verdes Peninsula Subregional Plan by reducing litter associated with plastic carryout bags in the sensitive coastal sage scrub habitat, thereby potentially contributing to better area-wide protection of natural wildlife diversity.<sup>37</sup> Further analysis is warranted to discuss the potential beneficial effects that may result from the proposed ordinances.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> California Department of Fish and Game. Accessed on: 24 June 2009. "NCCP Plan Status." *Resource Management*. Available at: http://www.dfg.ca.gov/habcon/nccp/status/PalosVerdes.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> City of Rancho Palos Verdes. Accessed on: 24 June 2009. "Natural Communities Conservation Planning Act (NCCP)." *Planning & Zoning*. Available at: http://www.palosverdes.com/rpv/planning/NCCP/index.cfm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> City of Rancho Palos Verdes. Accessed on: 24 June 2009. "Natural Communities Conservation Planning Act (NCCP)." *Planning & Zoning*. Available at: http://www.palosverdes.com/rpv/planning/NCCP/index.cfm

### 3.5 CULTURAL RESOURCES

This analysis is undertaken to determine if the proposed ordinances may have a significant impact to cultural resources, thus requiring the consideration of mitigation measures or alternatives, in accordance with Section 15063 of the State CEQA Guidelines.<sup>1</sup>

State CEQA Guidelines recommend the consideration of four questions when addressing the potential for significant impacts to cultural resources.

Would the proposed ordinances:

(a) Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource as defined in §15064.5 [of the State CEQA Guidelines]?

#### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to cultural resources related to a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource. According to Section 15064.5 of the State CEQA Guidelines, a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource is defined as physical demolition, destruction, relocation, or alteration of the resource or its immediate surroundings such that the significance of a historical resource is materially impaired. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores within the unincorporated territories of the County and would not include any demolition, destruction, relocation, or alteration of historical resources. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to cultural resources related to a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource. No further analysis is warranted.

#### **Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles**

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to cultural resources related to a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource. As previously noted, according to Section 15064.5 of the State CEQA Guidelines, a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource is defined as physical demolition, destruction, relocation, or alteration of the resource or its immediate surroundings such that the significance of a historical resource is materially impaired. The proposed ordinances would not include any demolition, destruction, relocation, or alteration of historical resources. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to cultural resources related to a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource. No further analysis is warranted.

(b) Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of an archeological resource pursuant to §15064.5?

#### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to cultural resources related to a substantial adverse change in the significance of an archeological resource. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores within the unincorporated territories the County and would not include any ground-disturbing activities that could serve to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Division 6, Chapter 3, Sections 15000–15387, Appendix G.

adversely impact archeological resources. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to cultural resources related to a substantial adverse change in the significance of an archeological resource. No further analysis is warranted.

### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to cultural resources related to a substantial adverse change in the significance of an archeological resource. The proposed ordinances would not include any ground-disturbing activities that could serve to adversely impact archeological resources. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to cultural resources related to a substantial adverse change in the significance of an archeological resource. No further analysis is warranted.

(c) Directly or indirectly destroy a unique paleontological resource or site or unique geologic feature?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to cultural resources related directly or indirectly to the destruction of a unique paleontological resource or unique geologic feature. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores within the unincorporated territories of the County and would not include any ground-disturbing activities that could adversely impact paleontological resources, paleontological sites, or unique geologic features. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to cultural resources related to the destruction of a unique paleontological resource or unique geologic feature. No further analysis is warranted.

### **Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles**

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to cultural resources related directly or indirectly to the destruction of a unique paleontological resource or unique geologic feature. The proposed ordinances would not include any ground-disturbing activities that could adversely impact paleontological resources, paleontological sites, or unique geologic features. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to cultural resources related to the destruction of a unique paleontological resource or unique geologic feature. No further analysis is warranted.

(d) Disturb any human remains, including those interred outside of formal cemeteries?

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to disturb any human remains, including those interred outside of formal cemeteries. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores within the unincorporated territories of the County and would not include any ground-disturbing activities. Therefore, the proposed ordinance would not be expected to disturb any human remains, including those interred outside of formal cemeteries. No further analysis is warranted.

#### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to disturb any human remains, including those interred outside of formal cemeteries. The proposed ordinances would not include any ground-disturbing activities. Therefore, the proposed ordinances would not be expected to disturb any human remains, including those interred outside of formal cemeteries. No further analysis is warranted.

### 3.6 GEOLOGY AND SOILS

This analysis is undertaken to determine if the proposed ordinances may have a significant impact to geology and soils, thus requiring the consideration of mitigation measures or alternatives, in accordance with Section 15063 of the State CEQA Guidelines.<sup>1</sup> Geology and soils within the County, which would be subject to the proposed ordinances, were evaluated with regard to the County of Los Angeles General Plan<sup>2</sup> and in consideration of the most recent Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning (APEFZ) Maps.<sup>3</sup>

The State CEQA Guidelines recommend the consideration of seven questions when addressing the potential for significant impacts to geology and soils.

Would the proposed ordinances:

- (a) Expose people or structures to potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, injury, or death involving:
  - i) Rupture of a known earthquake fault, as delineated on the most recent APEFZ Map issued by the State Geologist for the area or based on other substantial evidence of a known fault? Refer to Division of Mines and Geology Special Publication 42.

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts related to exposing people or structures to potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, injury, or death involving the rupture of a known earthquake fault. Although numerous active earthquake faults exist throughout the County, the proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not entail the development of structures or elements that would expose or place people within vicinity of a known earthquake fault. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts from exposing people or structures to potential substantial adverse effects involving the rupture of a known earthquake fault. No further analysis is warranted.

#### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts related to exposing people or structures to potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, injury, or death involving the rupture of a known earthquake fault. The proposed ordinances would not entail the development of structures or elements that would expose or place people within vicinity of a known earthquake fault. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts from exposing people or structures to potential substantial adverse effects involving the rupture of a known earthquake fault. No further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Division 6, Chapter 3, Sections 15000–15387, Appendix G.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> California Geological Survey. 2007 (Interim Revision). "Fault-Rupture Hazard Zones in California." *Special Publication* 42. Supplements 1 and 2 added 1999. Contact: 655 S. Hope Street, #700, Los Angeles, CA 90017. Available at: ftp://ftp.consrv.ca.gov/pub/dmg/pubs/sp/Sp42.pdf

ii) Strong seismic ground shaking?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts related to exposing people or structures to potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, injury, or death involving strong seismic ground shaking. Although numerous active faults exist that could result in strong seismic ground shaking, the proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not entail the development of structures or elements that would expose or place people near or in areas susceptible to strong seismic ground shaking. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts from exposing people or structures to potential substantial adverse effects involving strong seismic ground shaking. No further analysis is warranted.

### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts related to exposing people or structures to potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, injury, or death involving strong seismic ground shaking. The proposed ordinances would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not entail the development of structures or elements that would expose or place people near or in areas susceptible to strong seismic ground shaking. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts from exposing people or structures to potential substantial adverse effects involving strong seismic ground shaking. No further analysis is warranted.

iii) Seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts related to exposing people or structures to potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, injury, or death involving seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction. Although numerous active faults exist that could result in strong seismic ground shaking, the proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not entail the development of structures or elements that would expose or place people near or in an area susceptible to seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts from exposing people or structures to potential substantial adverse effects involving seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction. No further analysis is warranted.

### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts related to exposing people or structures to potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, injury, or death involving seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction. The proposed ordinances would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not entail the development of structures or elements that would expose or place people near or in an area susceptible to seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts from exposing people or structures to potential substantial adverse effects involving seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction. No further analysis is warranted.

iv) Landslides?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts related to exposing people or structures to potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, injury, or death involving landslides. Due to the substantial topographical changes throughout southern California, there are numerous locations within the County that are susceptible to landslides. However, the proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not contain components that would require the development of structures or elements that would expose people to potential adverse impacts related to landslides. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts related to exposing people or structures to potential adverse effects involving landslides and no further analysis is warranted.

### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts related to exposing people or structures to potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, injury, or death involving landslides. The proposed ordinances would not contain components that would require the development of structures or elements that would expose people to potential adverse impacts related to landslides. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts related to exposing people or structures to potential substantial adverse effects involving landslides and no further analysis is warranted.

(b) Result in substantial soil erosion or the loss of topsoil?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to geology and soils in relation to substantial soil erosion and the loss of topsoil. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not entail construction-related activities such as grading or elements that would be expected to result in changes to the existing soil conditions or create a loss of topsoil within the unincorporated areas of the County. Therefore, there would not be any expected impacts on geology and soils related to substantial soil erosion or the loss of topsoil. No further analysis is warranted.

## Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to geology and soils in relation to substantial soil erosion and the loss of topsoil. The proposed ordinances would not contain elements that would require construction-related activities, such as grading or development that would be expected to result in changes to the existing soil conditions or to create a loss of topsoil within the incorporated areas of the County. Therefore, there would not be any expected impacts on geology and soils related to substantial soil erosion or the loss of topsoil. No further analysis is warranted.

(c) Be located on a geologic unit or soil that is unstable, or that would become unstable as a result of the project, and potentially result in on- or off-site landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence, liquefaction or collapse?

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to geology and soils in relation to location on a geologic unit or soil that is unstable or that would become unstable as a result of the proposed ordinance, and that could potentially result in on- or off-site landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence, liquefaction, or collapse. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not entail construction-related activities or the development of structures or elements that would be expected to have the potential to result in impacts related to soil or geologic units that are unstable or that would become unstable. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to geology and soils related to location on a geologic unit or soil that is unstable or that would become unstable as a result of the proposed ordinance, and that could potentially result in on- or off-site landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence, liquefaction, or collapse. No further analysis is warranted.

### **Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles**

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to geology and soils in relation to location on a geologic unit or soil that is unstable or that would become unstable as a result of the proposed ordinance, and that could potentially result in on- or off-site landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence, liquefaction, or collapse. As previously stated, the proposed ordinances would not require construction-related activities or the development of structures or elements that would be expected to have the potential to result in impacts related to soil or geologic units that are unstable or that would become unstable. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to geology and soils related to location on a geologic unit or soil that is unstable or that would become unstable. Therefore, and that could potentially result in on- or off-site landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence, liquefaction, or collapse. No further analysis is warranted.

(d) Be located on expansive soil, as defined in Table 18-1-B of the Uniform Building Code (1994), creating substantial risks to life or property?

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to geology and soils in relation to location on expansive soil creating substantial risks to life or property. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not entail the development of structures or features that would be located on expansive soils. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to geology and soils related to location of the proposed ordinance on expansive soil creating substantial risks to life or property, and no further analysis is warranted.

### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to geology and soils in relation to location on expansive soil creating substantial risks to life or property. The proposed ordinances would not entail the development of structures or features that would be located on expansive soils. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to geology and soils related to

location of the proposed ordinance on expansive soil creating substantial risks to life or property, and no further analysis is warranted.

(e) Have soils incapable of adequately supporting the use of septic tanks or alternative waste water disposal systems where sewers are not available for the disposal of waste water?

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to geology and soils in relation to having soils that are incapable of adequately supporting the use of septic tanks or alternative waste water disposal systems where sewers are not available. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not include any components requiring the use of septic tanks or alternative waste water disposal systems. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to geology and soils related to having soils that are incapable of supporting septic tanks or alternative waste systems where sewers are not available. No further analysis is warranted.

### **Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles**

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to geology and soils in relation to having soils that are incapable of adequately supporting the use of septic tanks or alternative waste water disposal systems where sewers are not available. The proposed ordinances would not entail any components requiring the use of septic tanks or alternative waste water disposal systems. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to geology and soils related to having soils that are incapable of supporting septic tanks or alternative waste systems where sewers are not available. No further analysis is warranted.

### 3.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS

This analysis is undertaken to determine if the proposed ordinances may have significant environmental impacts due to greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. The analysis is based on the two recommended questions proposed by OPR in April 2009 as additions to Appendix G of the State CEQA Guidelines.<sup>1</sup> GHG emissions within the County, which would be subject to the proposed ordinances, were evaluated based on guidance provided by regulatory publications from the California Air Pollution Control Officers Association;<sup>2</sup> the State Office of the Attorney General;<sup>3</sup> CARB;<sup>4</sup> and OPR.<sup>5</sup>

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has reported that the majority of GHG emissions in the United States can be attributed to the energy sector, which accounted for 86.3 percent of total U.S. GHG emissions in 2007 due to stationary and mobile fuel combustion.<sup>6</sup> The manufacture and distribution of plastic and paper carryout bags, as well as reusable bags, requires energy use, and therefore contributes to the total GHG emissions in 2007.<sup>7</sup> In the industrial sector accounted for only 4.9 percent of U.S. GHG emissions in 2007.<sup>7</sup> In the industrial sector, the top 10 contributors to GHG emissions, which account for more than 90 percent of the total GHG emissions from the industrial sector, include substitution of ozone-depleting substances; iron and steel production and metallurgical coke production; cement production; nitric acid production; hydrochlorofluorocarbon (HCFC) production, specifically, HCFC-22; lime production; aumonia production and urea consumption; electrical transmission and distribution; aluminum production; and limestone and dolomite use. Although the production of plastic, paper, and reusable carryout bags can be categorized as part of the industrial sector, it is not included in the top 10 contributors.

OPR recommends the consideration of two questions when addressing the potential for significant impacts to GHG emissions.

Would the proposed ordinances:

(a) Generate greenhouse gas emissions, either directly or indirectly, that may have a significant impact on the environment?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> California Governor's Office of Planning and Research. 2007. *CEQA Guidelines and Greenhouse Gases*. Available at: http://www.opr.ca.gov/index.php?a = ceqa/index.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> California Air Pollution Control Officers Association. January 2008. CEQA and Climate Change: Evaluating and Addressing Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Projects Subject to the California Environmental Quality Act. Sacramento, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> California Department of Justice, Office of the Attorney General. 21 May 2008 (Updated 26 September 2008). The California Environmental Quality Act Addressing Global Warming Impacts at the Local Agency Level. Sacramento, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> California Air Resources Board. 24 October 2008. *Preliminary Draft Staff Proposal: Recommended Approaches for Setting Interim Significance Thresholds for Greenhouse Gases under the California Environmental Quality Act.* Available at: http://www.opr.ca.gov/ceqa/pdfs/Prelim\_Draft\_Staff\_Proposal\_10-24-08.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> California Governor's Office of Planning and Research Technical Advisory. 19 June 2008. CEQA and Climate Change: Addressing Climate Change through California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Review. Sacramento, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. April 2009. Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2007. Washington, DC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. April 2009. Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2007. Washington, DC.

#### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The net impact on the environment due to the proposed ordinance in relation to the direct or indirect generation of GHGs would be expected to be below the level of significance. The proposed ordinance would be expected to assist the County in reducing GHG emissions over time. However, certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances may have the potential to generate GHG emissions due to increased reliance on paper carryout bags;<sup>8</sup> therefore, the County has decided to present the analysis of this issue in an EIR.

The proposed ordinance would ban the issuance of plastic carryout bags by certain stores, which would be expected to result in beneficial impacts in relation to GHG emissions. The proposed ordinance is expected to result in a net reduction in the use of plastic carryout bags, as it is intended to result in a net conversion to the use of reusable bags. Direct reductions in GHGs would be expected to occur as a result of decreased vehicle emissions related to the distribution of plastic carryout bags, the transport of plastic bag waste, and the collection of plastic bag litter along roadways and water channels. In addition, reductions in GHG emissions would be expected to result from the reduction in demand for the production of plastic carryout bags. The production of plastic bags is a chemical process that begins with the conversion of crude oil or natural gas into hydrocarbon monomers such as ethylene;<sup>9</sup> further processing leads to the polymerization of ethylene to form polyethylene. During processing, volatile organic compounds (VOCs) are emitted into the atmosphere.<sup>10</sup> Due to the fact that VOCs undergo a sequence of reactions in the atmosphere to form ozone  $(O_3)$  and carbon dioxide  $(CO_2)$ , VOCs have an indirect global warming potential;<sup>11</sup> therefore, the emission of VOCs during the manufacture of plastic bags cause an indirect increase in GHGs. In addition, fuel combustion is required to operate the facilities that manufacture plastic bags.<sup>12</sup> The emission of VOCs and the combustion of fuel during the manufacture of plastic bags results in the emission of GHGs into the atmosphere; therefore, a reduction in the manufacture, transport, and disposal of plastic carryout bags would be expected to reduce the emission of GHGs into the atmosphere.

However, certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in increases in GHG emissions due to potential increased demand for paper bags.<sup>13</sup> Certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that as paper bags are significantly heavier than plastic bags, the transport of a higher volume of paper

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> European Environment Agency. 5 December 2007. "Processes in Organic Chemical Industries (Bulk Production) Ethylene." *EMEP / CORINAIR Emission Inventory Guidebook –* 2007. Copenhagen, Denmark. Available at: http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/EMEPCORINAIR5/B451vs2.3.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> European Environment Agency. 5 December 2007. "Processes in Organic Chemical Industries (Bulk Production) Polyethylene Low Density." *EMEP / CORINAIR Emission Inventory Guidebook –* 2007. Copenhagen, Denmark. Available at: http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/EMEPCORINAIR5/B456vs2.2.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Chapter 2: Changes in Atmospheric Constituents and in Radiative Forcing. Cambridge, UK, and New York, NY, USA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> European Environment Agency. 5 December 2007. "Processes in Organic Chemical Industries (Bulk Production) Polyethylene Low Density." *EMEP / CORINAIR Emission Inventory Guidebook* – 2007. Copenhagen, Denmark. Available at: http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/EMEPCORINAIR5/B456vs2.2.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

bags could require the combustion of more fossil fuel, thereby resulting in the increased emission of GHGs.<sup>14</sup> The manufacturing process of paper bags requires fuel consumption; consequently, representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that an increase in the production of paper carryout bags would increase the emission of GHGs into the atmosphere.<sup>15</sup> However, any increases in GHG emissions would be offset to some extent by the ability of paper bags to contain a larger volume of groceries than plastic bags; therefore, a conversion of use from plastic to paper would be expected to result in a smaller number of individual paper and plastic carryout bags being manufactured, transported, and used. In addition, a net increase in the use of reusable bags would also be encouraged, which would further reduce the number of paper carryout bags utilized.

Certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that the production of paper carryout bags could cause an adverse environmental impact due to the release of GHGs into the atmosphere due to deforestation.<sup>16</sup> In addition, certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that GHG emissions may occur due to the process of decomposition of paper bags in landfills, which releases methane into the atmosphere.<sup>17</sup> Therefore, certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have concluded that an increase in the production, use, and disposal of paper carryout bags could have the potential to generate increased GHG emissions, either directly or indirectly.<sup>18</sup> In a similar manner, the production and transport of reusable bags could also result in the emission of GHGs; however, the emissions resulting from reusable bags would be expected to be significantly lower than the emission per plastic carryout bag since reusable bags can be reused multiple times and can last two to five years.<sup>19</sup>

It is also important to note that, as previously mentioned, although the manufacture and distribution of paper and plastic carryout bags and reusable bags require some fuel consumption that results in GHG emissions, the production of paper and plastic carryout bags and reusable bags is not one of the top 10 contributors to GHG emissions in the U.S. industrial sector.<sup>20</sup>

The expected net impacts to GHG emissions from the proposed ordinance in relation to the direct or indirect generation of GHGs would be expected to be below the level of significance. However, the County has decided to present the analysis of this issue in an EIR to verify these findings.

#### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The net impact on the environment due to the proposed ordinances in relation to the direct or indirect generation of GHGs would be expected to be below the level of significance. The proposed ordinances would be expected to assist the incorporated cities in the County in reducing GHG emissions over time. However, certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. Accessed on: 21 October 2009. Web Site. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. Accessed on: 21 October 2009. Web Site. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. Accessed on: 21 October 2009. Web Site. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. Accessed on: 21 October 2009. Web Site. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. Accessed on: 21 October 2009. Web Site. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Green Seal, Inc. 13 October 2008. Green Seal Proposed Revised Environmental Standard For Reusable Bags (GS-16). Washington, DC. Available at: http://www.greenseal.org/certification/gs-

<sup>16</sup>\_reusable\_bag\_proposed\_revised\_standard\_background%20document.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. April, 2009. Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2007. Washington, DC.

argued that the proposed ordinances may also have the potential to generate GHG emissions due to increased reliance on paper carryout bags;<sup>21</sup> therefore, the County has decided to present the analysis of this issue in an EIR to verify these findings.

As with the unincorporated territories of the County, the proposed ordinances would ban the issuance of plastic carryout bags, which would be expected to result in beneficial impacts in relation to the generation of GHG paper and plastic carryout bags, as it is intended to result in a net conversion to the use of reusable bags. Direct reductions in GHGs would be expected to occur as a result of decreased vehicle emissions related to the distribution of plastic carryout bags, the transport of plastic bag waste, and the collection of plastic bag litter along roadways and water channels. In addition, reductions in GHG emissions would be expected to result from the reduction in demand for the production of plastic carryout bags. The production of plastic bags is a chemical process that begins with the conversion of crude oil or natural gas into hydrocarbon monomers such as ethylene;<sup>22</sup> further processing leads to the polymerization of ethylene to form polyethylene. During processing, VOCs are emitted into the atmosphere.<sup>23</sup> Due to the fact that VOCs undergo a sequence of reactions in the atmosphere to form O<sub>3</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub>, VOCs have an indirect global warming potential;<sup>24</sup> therefore, the emission of VOCs during the manufacture of plastic bags cause an indirect increase in GHGs. In addition, fuel combustion is required to operate the facilities that manufacture plastic bags.<sup>25</sup> The emission of VOCs and the combustion of fuel during the manufacture of plastic bags results in the emission of GHGs into the atmosphere: therefore, a reduction in the manufacture, transport, and disposal of plastic carryout bags would be expected to reduce the emission of GHGs into the atmosphere.

However, certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in increases in GHG emissions due to the potential increased demand for paper bags.<sup>26</sup> As paper bags are significantly heavier than plastic bags, representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that the transport of a higher volume of paper bags could require the combustion of more fossil fuel, thereby resulting in the increased emission of GHGs.<sup>27</sup> The manufacturing process of paper bags requires fuel consumption; consequently, representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that an increase in the production of paper carryout bags could increase the emission of GHGs into the atmosphere.<sup>28</sup> However, any increases would be offset to some extent by the ability of paper bags to contain a larger volume of groceries than plastic bags; therefore, a conversion of use from plastic to paper

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> European Environment Agency. 5 December 2007. "Processes in Organic Chemical Industries (Bulk Production) Ethylene." *EMEP / CORINAIR Emission Inventory Guidebook* – 2007. Copenhagen, Denmark. Available at: http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/EMEPCORINAIR5/B451vs2.3.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> European Environment Agency. 5 December 2007. "Processes in Organic Chemical Industries (Bulk Production) Polyethylene Low Density." *EMEP / CORINAIR Emission Inventory Guidebook –* 2007. Copenhagen, Denmark. Available at: http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/EMEPCORINAIR5/B456vs2.2.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. *Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Chapter 2: Changes in Atmospheric Constituents and in Radiative Forcing.* Cambridge, UK, and New York, NY, USA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> European Environment Agency. 5 December 2007. "Processes in Organic Chemical Industries (Bulk Production) Polyethylene Low Density." *EMEP / CORINAIR Emission Inventory Guidebook –* 2007. Copenhagen, Denmark. Available at: http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/EMEPCORINAIR5/B456vs2.2.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. Accessed on: 21 October 2009. Web Site. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. Accessed on: 21 October 2009. Web Site. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. Accessed on: 21 October 2009. Web Site. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/

would be expected to result in a smaller number of individual paper and plastic carryout bags being manufactured, transported, and used. In addition, a net increase in the use of reusable bags would also be encouraged, which would further reduce the number of paper carryout bags utilized.

Certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that the production of paper carryout bags could cause an adverse environmental impact due to deforestation.<sup>29</sup> In addition. certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that GHG emissions may occur due to the process of decomposition of paper bags in landfills, which releases methane into the atmosphere.<sup>30</sup> Therefore, certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have concluded that a potential increase in the production, use, and disposal of paper carryout bags could have the potential to generate GHG emissions.<sup>31</sup> In a similar manner, the production and transport of reusable bags could also be expected to result in the emission of GHGs; however, the emissions per reusable bag would be expected to be significantly lower than the emission per plastic carryout bag due to the fact that reusable bags can be reused multiple times and can last for between two to five years.<sup>32</sup> It is also important to note that, as previously mentioned, although the manufacture and distribution of plastic and paper carryout bags and reusable bags require some fuel consumption that results in GHG emissions, the production of carryout bags and reusable bags is not one of the top 10 contributors to GHG emissions in the U.S. industrial sector.<sup>33</sup> The expected net impacts to GHGs from the proposed ordinances in relation to the direct or indirect generation of GHGs would be expected to be below the level of significance. However, the County has decided to present the analysis of this issue in an EIR to verify these findings.

(b) Conflict with any applicable plan, policy, or regulation of an agency adopted for the purpose of reducing the emissions of greenhouse gases?

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance's net impacts on the environment related to conflicts with any applicable plan, policy, or regulation of an agency adopted for the purpose of reducing the emissions of GHGs would be expected to be below the level of significance. However, certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances may also have the potential to generate GHG emissions due to increased reliance on paper carryout bags,<sup>34</sup> the County has decided to present its analysis of this issue in the EIR to verify these findings. The County, in its consideration of the proposed ordinance, must consider consistency with applicable standards such as Executive Order S-3-05, the Global Warming Solutions Act of 2006 (AB 32), and Senate Bill (SB) 97 of 2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. Accessed on: 21 October 2009. Web Site. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. Accessed on: 21 October 2009. Web Site. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. Accessed on: 21 October 2009. Web Site. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Green Seal, Inc. 13 October 2008. Green Seal Proposed Revised Environmental Standard For Reusable Bags (GS-16). Washington, DC. Available at: http://www.greenseal.org/certification/gs-

 $<sup>16\</sup>_reusable\_bag\_proposed\_revised\_standard\_background\%20 document.pdf$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. April 2009. Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2007. Washington, DC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf
Executive Order S-3-05 establishes statewide climate change emission reduction targets to reduce CO<sub>2equivalent</sub> (CO<sub>2e</sub>) to the year 2000 level (473 million metric tons) by 2010, to the 1990 level (427 million metric tons of CO<sub>2e</sub>) by 2020, and to 80 percent below the 1990 level (85 million metric tons of CO<sub>2e</sub>) by 2050.<sup>35</sup> The executive order directs the California Environmental Protection Agency secretary to coordinate and oversee efforts from multiple agencies to reduce GHG emissions to achieve the target levels.

AB 32 also establishes statewide GHG emission reduction targets to reduce carbon dioxide equivalent to the 2000 level by 2010 and to the 1990 level by 2020. AB 32 regulates the following GHG emissions: CO<sub>2</sub>, methane, nitrous oxide, hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons, and sulfur hexafluoride.

Furthermore, SB 97 requires OPR "to prepare, develop, and transmit to the [CARB] guidelines for the feasible mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions or the effects of greenhouse gas emissions, as required by CEQA, including, but not limited to, effects associated with transportation or energy consumption."<sup>36</sup> Although SB 97 exempts certain transportation projects and projects funded under the Disaster Preparedness and Flood Prevention Bond Act of 2006, it would apply to any environmental documents required by CEQA that have not been certified or adopted by the CEQA lead agency by the date of the adoption of the regulations on or before January 1, 2010.

The proposed ordinance would ban the issuance of plastic carryout bags by certain stores, which would be expected to result in beneficial impacts in relation to conflicts with any applicable plan, policy, or regulation of an agency adopted for the purpose of reducing the emissions of GHGs. Direct reductions in GHG emissions would be expected to occur as a result of decreased vehicle emissions related to the distribution of plastic carryout bags, the transport of plastic bag waste, and the collection of plastic bag litter along roadways and water channels. In addition, reductions in GHG emissions would be expected to result from the expected reduction in production of plastic carryout bags. The production of plastic bags is a chemical process that begins with the conversion of crude oil or natural gas into hydrocarbon monomers such as ethylene;<sup>37</sup> further processing leads to the polymerization of ethylene to form polyethylene. During processing, VOCs are emitted into the atmosphere.<sup>38</sup> Due to the fact that VOCs undergo a sequence of reactions in the atmosphere to form O<sub>3</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub>, VOCs have an indirect global warming potential;<sup>39</sup> therefore, the emission of VOCs during the manufacture of plastic bags causes an indirect increase in GHGs. In addition, fuel combustion is required to operate the facilities that manufacture plastic bags.<sup>40</sup> The emission of VOCs and the combustion of fuel during the manufacture of plastic bags results in an increase in the emission of GHGs into the atmosphere; therefore, reduced manufacture, transport, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> California Governor. 2005. Executive Order S-3-05. Sacramento, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> California Governor's Office of Planning and Research. 24 August 2007. Senate Bill No. 97, Chapter 185. Available at: http://www.opr.ca.gov/ceqa/pdfs/SB\_97\_bill\_20070824\_chaptered.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> European Environment Agency. 5 December 2007. "Processes in Organic Chemical Industries (Bulk Production) Ethylene." *EMEP / CORINAIR Emission Inventory Guidebook –* 2007. Copenhagen, Denmark. Available at: http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/EMEPCORINAIR5/B451vs2.3.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> European Environment Agency. 5 December 2007. "Processes in Organic Chemical Industries (Bulk Production) Polyethylene Low Density." *EMEP / CORINAIR Emission Inventory Guidebook –* 2007. Copenhagen, Denmark. Available at: http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/EMEPCORINAIR5/B456vs2.2.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Chapter 2: Changes in Atmospheric Constituents and in Radiative Forcing. Cambridge, UK, and New York, NY, USA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> European Environment Agency. 5 December 2007. "Processes in Organic Chemical Industries (Bulk Production) Polyethylene Low Density." *EMEP / CORINAIR Emission Inventory Guidebook* – 2007. Copenhagen, Denmark. Available at: http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/EMEPCORINAIR5/B456vs2.2.pdf

disposal of plastic carryout bags would be expected to reduce GHG emissions in compliance with Executive Order S-3-05 and AB 32.

As previously noted, certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in increases in GHG emissions due to the increased reliance on paper bags.<sup>41</sup> As paper bags are significantly heavier than plastic bags, certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that the transport of a higher volume of paper bags could require the combustion of more fossil fuel, thereby possibly resulting in the increased emission of GHGs.<sup>42</sup> The manufacturing process of paper bags also requires fuel consumption; consequently, certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that an increase in the production of paper carryout bags could increase the emission of GHGs into the atmosphere.<sup>43</sup> However, any increases would be offset to some extent by the ability of paper carryout bags to contain a larger volume of groceries than plastic carryout bags; therefore, a conversion of use from plastic to paper would be expected to result in a smaller number of individual paper and plastic carryout bags used. In addition, a net increase in the use of reusable bags would also be encouraged, which would further reduce the number of paper carryout bags utilized. In a similar manner, the production and transport of reusable bags would also be expected to result in the emission of GHGs; however, the emissions per reusable bag would be expected to be significantly lower than the emission per plastic carryout bag due to the fact that reusable bags can be reused multiple times and can last two to five years.<sup>44</sup> Certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have also argued that the production of paper carryout bags could impact the amount of GHGs in the atmosphere due to deforestation.<sup>45</sup> Certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have also stated that GHG emissions may occur due to the process of decomposition of paper bags in landfills, which releases methane into the atmosphere.<sup>46</sup> Therefore, certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have concluded that increased production, use, and disposal of paper carryout bags could have the potential to increase GHG emissions.47

Adoption of the proposed ordinance would not be expected to facilitate the violation of any existing applicable plan, policy, or regulation of an agency adopted for the purpose of reducing GHG emissions. As such, the expected environmental impacts from the proposed ordinance in relation to conflicts with any applicable plan, policy, or regulation of an agency adopted for the purpose of reducing the emissions of GHGs would be expected to be below the level of significance. However, the County has decided to present the analysis of this issue in an EIR to verify these findings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. Accessed on: 21 October 2009. Web Site. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. Accessed on: 21 October 2009. Web Site. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Green Seal, Inc. 13 October 2008. *Green Seal Proposed Revised Environmental Standard For Reusable Bags (GS-16)*. Washington, DC. Available at: http://www.greenseal.org/certification/gs-

<sup>16</sup>\_reusable\_bag\_proposed\_revised\_standard\_background%20document.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. Accessed on: 21 October 2009. Web Site. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. Accessed on: 21 October 2009. Web Site. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. Accessed on: 21 October 2009. Web Site. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/

#### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The net environmental impacts from the proposed ordinances related to conflicts with any applicable plan, policy, or regulation of an agency adopted for the purpose of reducing GHG emissions would be expected to be below the level of significance. However, certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances would have a potential to generate GHG emissions due to increased reliance on paper carryout bags;<sup>48</sup> the County has decided to present its analysis of this issue in the EIR to verify these findings. As with the unincorporated territories of the County, the proposed ordinances within the incorporated cities of the County would be required to comply with AB 32 and Executive Order S-3-05.

The proposed ordinances would ban the issuance of plastic carryout bags, which would be expected to result in beneficial impacts in relation to conflicts with any applicable plan, policy, or regulation of an agency adopted for the purpose of reducing GHG emissions. Direct reductions in GHG emissions would be expected to occur as a result of decreased vehicle emissions related to the distribution of plastic carryout bags, the transport of plastic bag waste, and the collection of plastic bag litter along roadways and water channels. In addition, reductions in GHG emissions would be expected to result from the expected reduction in production of plastic carryout bags. The emission of VOCs and the combustion of fuel during the manufacture of plastic bags results in an increase in the emission of GHGs into the atmosphere; therefore, reduced manufacture, transport, and disposal of plastic carryout bags would be expected to reduce GHG emissions in compliance with Executive Order S-3-05 and AB 32.

However, certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that potential increases in GHG emissions could occur as a result of the potential increase in the consumption of paper bags.<sup>49</sup> Paper bags are heavier than plastic bags; therefore, certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that transport of a higher volume of paper bags could require the combustion of more fossil fuel, thereby possibly resulting in the increased emission of GHGs.<sup>50</sup> The manufacturing process of paper bags also requires fuel consumption; consequently, certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that an increase in the production of paper carryout bags could increase the emission of GHGs into the atmosphere.<sup>51</sup> However, any increases would be offset to some extent by the ability of paper bags to contain a larger volume of groceries than plastic bags, which would be expected to result in a smaller number of individual paper and plastic carryout bags being manufactured, transported, and used. In addition, a net increase in the use of reusable bags would also be encouraged, which would further reduce the number of paper carryout bags utilized. In a similar manner, the production and transport of reusable bags could result in the emission of GHGs; however, the emissions per reusable bag would be expected to be significantly lower than the emissions per plastic carryout bag, due to the fact that reusable bags can be reused multiple times and can last two to five years.<sup>52</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. Accessed on: 21 October 2009. Web Site. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. Accessed on: 21 October 2009. Web Site. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Green Seal, Inc. 13 October 2008. Green Seal Proposed Revised Environmental Standard For Reusable Bags (GS-16). Washington, DC. Available at: http://www.greenseal.org/certification/gs-16 reusable bag proposed revised standard background%20document.pdf

Certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that the production of paper carryout bags could cause an adverse environmental impact due to deforestation.<sup>53</sup> In addition, certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that GHG emissions may occur due to the decomposition process of paper bags in landfills, which releases methane into the atmosphere.<sup>54</sup> Therefore, certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have concluded that a potential increase in the production, use, and disposal of paper carryout bags could potentially increase GHG emissions.<sup>55</sup>

Adoption of the proposed ordinances would not be expected to facilitate the violation of any existing applicable plan, policy, or regulation of an agency adopted for the purpose of reducing the emissions of GHGs. Therefore, expected impacts to GHGs from the proposed ordinances in relation to conflicts with any applicable plan, policy, or regulation of an agency adopted for the purpose of reducing GHG emissions would be expected to be below the level of significance. However, the County has decided to present the analysis of this issue in an EIR to verify these findings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. Accessed on: 21 October 2009. Web Site. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. Accessed on: 21 October 2009. Web Site. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. Accessed on: 21 October 2009. Web Site. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/

## 3.8 HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS

This analysis is undertaken to determine if the proposed ordinances may have a significant impact to hazards and hazardous materials, thus requiring the consideration of mitigation measures or alternatives, in accordance with Section 15063 of the State CEQA Guidelines.<sup>1</sup>

Hazardous wastes are by-products of society that can pose a substantial or potential hazard to human health or the environment when improperly managed. Hazardous wastes exhibit at least one of four characteristics—ignitability, corrosivity, reactivity, or toxicity—or appear on special U.S. EPA lists.<sup>2</sup>

Hazards and hazardous materials related to the proposed ordinances were evaluated based on expert opinion supported by facts, and a review of the County of Los Angeles General Plan.

The State CEQA Guidelines recommend the consideration of eight questions when addressing the potential for significant impact to hazards and hazardous materials.

Would the proposed ordinances:

(a) Create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through the routine transport, use, or disposal of hazardous materials?

#### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to hazards and hazardous materials with respect to creating a significant hazard to the public or the environment through the routine transport, use, or disposal of hazardous materials. The proposed ordinance would not involve the routine transport, use, or disposal of hazardous materials as defined by the Hazardous Materials Transportation Uniform Safety Act.<sup>3</sup> The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores, which do not meet the criteria of a hazardous substance, because they do not possess at least one of four characteristics of hazardous wastes in the condition in which they are intended to be used from stores and do not appear on special U.S. EPA lists.<sup>4</sup> Therefore, the proposed ordinance would not be expected to create impacts related to the routine transport, use, or disposal of hazardous materials. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts from hazards and hazardous materials related to creating a significant hazard to the public or the environment through the routine transport, use, or disposal of hazardous materials. No further analysis is warranted.

#### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to hazards and hazardous materials with respect to creating a significant hazard to the public or the environment through the routine transport, use, or disposal of hazardous materials. The proposed ordinances would not involve the routine transport, use, or disposal of hazardous materials as defined by the Hazardous

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Division 6, Chapter 3, Sections 15000–15387, Appendix G.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Code of Federal Regulations, Title 40, Chapter 1, Part 261: "Identification and Listing of Hazardous Waste."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Code of Federal Regulations, Title 40, Chapter 1, Parts 106–180.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Code of Federal Regulations, Title 40, Chapter 1, Part 261: "Identification and Listing of Hazardous Waste."

Materials Transportation Uniform Safety Act.<sup>5</sup> In addition, plastic carryout bags that would be banned do not meet the criteria of a hazardous substance for the reasons described above.<sup>6</sup> Therefore, the proposed ordinances would not be expected to create impacts related to the routine transport, use, or disposal of hazards or hazardous materials. There would be no expected impacts from hazards and hazardous materials related to creating a significant hazard to the public or the environment through the routine transport, use, or disposal of hazardous materials. No further analysis is warranted.

(b) Create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through reasonably foreseeable upset and accident conditions involving the release of hazardous materials into the environment?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts from hazards and hazardous materials with respect to creating a significant hazard to the public or the environment through reasonably foreseeable upset and accident conditions involving the release of hazardous materials into the environment. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores, which could potentially reduce the prevalence of plastic bags in the litter stream and could result in a reduction in the accidental release of plastic bags into the environment. However, carryout and compostable plastic bags, in the condition in which they are intended to be used from stores, do not meet the criteria of a hazardous substance, including possessing at least one of the four characteristics of hazardous wastes or appearing on special U.S. EPA lists.<sup>7</sup> The proposed ordinance would not involve any type of construction or activities that would require the use of hazardous materials or that would result in the accidental release of hazardous materials into the Therefore, there would be no expected impacts from hazards and hazardous environment. materials related to the creation of a significant hazard to the public or the environment through reasonably foreseeable upset and accident conditions involving the release of hazardous materials into the environmental. No further analysis is warranted.

## Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts from hazards and hazardous materials with respect to creating a significant hazard to the public or the environment through reasonably foreseeable upset and accident conditions involving the release of hazardous materials into the environment. As previously noted, carryout and compostable plastic bags, in the condition in which they are intended to be used from stores, do not meet the criteria of a hazardous substance, including possessing at least one of the four characteristics of hazardous wastes or appearing on special U.S. EPA lists.<sup>8</sup> The proposed ordinances would not involve any type of construction or activities that would require the use of hazardous materials or that would result in the accidental release of hazardous materials into the environment. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts from hazards and hazardous materials related to the creation of a significant hazard to the public or the environment through reasonably foreseeable upset and accident conditions involving the release of hazardous materials into the environmental. No further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Code of Federal Regulations, Title 40, Chapter 1, Parts 106–180.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Code of Federal Regulations, Title 40, Chapter 1, Part 261: "Identification and Listing of Hazardous Waste."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Code of Federal Regulations, Title 40, Chapter 1, Part 261: "Identification and Listing of Hazardous Waste."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Code of Federal Regulations, Title 40, Chapter 1, Part 261: "Identification and Listing of Hazardous Waste."

(c) Emit hazardous emissions or handle hazardous or acutely hazardous materials, substances, or waste within one-quarter mile of an existing or proposed school?

# Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to hazards and hazardous materials with respect to the emission of hazardous emissions or the handling of hazardous or acutely hazardous materials, substances, or waste within 0.25 mile of an existing or proposed school. Numerous schools exist within the unincorporated territories of the County; however, the proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not include any physical elements, or otherwise, that would involve the emission or handling of hazardous or acutely hazardous materials. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to hazards and hazardous materials related to the emission of hazardous emissions or the handling of hazardous or acutely hazardous materials, substances, or waste within 0.25 mile of an existing or proposed school. No further analysis is warranted.

# Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to hazards and hazardous materials with respect to the emissions or handling of hazardous or acutely hazardous materials, substances, or waste within 0.25 mile of an existing or proposed school. Numerous schools exist within the incorporated areas of the County; however, the proposed ordinances would not include any physical elements, or otherwise, that would involve the emission or handling of hazardous or acutely hazardous materials. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to hazards and hazardous materials related to the emissions or handling of hazardous or acutely hazardous materials, substances, or waste within 0.25 mile of an existing or proposed school. No further analysis is warranted.

(d) Be located on a site which is included on a list of hazardous materials sites compiled pursuant to the Government Code Section 65962.5 and, as a result, would it create a significant hazard to the public or the environment?

# Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to hazards and hazardous materials related to the location of the proposed ordinance on a site that is included on a list of hazardous materials sites pursuant to Government Code Section 65962.5. Although there are numerous hazardous materials sites within the unincorporated territories of the County, the proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not entail elements that would be located on a site or sites, including hazardous materials sites. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts from hazards and hazardous materials related to location of the proposed ordinance on a hazardous materials site, and no further analysis is warranted.

# Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to hazards and hazardous materials related to the location of the proposed ordinances on a site that is included on a list of hazardous materials sites pursuant to Government Code Section 65962.5. Although there are numerous hazardous materials sites within the incorporated cities of the County, the proposed

ordinances would not entail elements that would be located on a site or sites, including hazardous materials sites. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts from hazards and hazardous materials related to location of the proposed ordinances on a hazardous materials site, and no further analysis is warranted.

(e) For a project located within an airport land use plan or, where such a plan has not been adopted, within two miles of a public airport or public use airport, would the project result in a safety hazard for people residing or working in the project area?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to hazards and hazardous materials in relation to its proximity to an airport and thus would not be expected to result in a safety hazard for people residing or working in the unincorporated territories of the County, which would be subject to the proposed ordinance. Numerous airports exist within the unincorporated territories of the County; however, the proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not include elements that would be located on any site or sites, including one near a public airport or public use airport or within an airport land use plan. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to hazards and hazardous materials in relation to the proximity of the proposed ordinance to an airport and would not be expected to create a safety hazard for people residing or working in the proposed ordinance area. No further analysis is warranted.

## **Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles**

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to hazards and hazardous materials in relation to its proximity to an airport and thus would not be expected to result in a safety hazard for people residing or working in the incorporated cities of the County, which would be subject to the proposed ordinances. Numerous airports exist within the incorporated cities of the County; however, the proposed ordinances would not include elements that would be located on any site or sites, including one near a public airport or public use airport or within an airport land use plan. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to hazards and hazardous materials in relation to the proximity of the proposed ordinances to an airport and would not be expected to create a safety hazard for people residing or working in the area that would be affected by the proposed ordinances. No further analysis is warranted.

(f) For a project within the vicinity of a private airstrip, would the project result in a safety hazard for people residing or working in the project area?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to hazards and hazardous materials due to the location of the proposed ordinance in the vicinity of a private airstrip and the potential for safety hazards for people residing or working in the unincorporated territories of the County, which would be subject to the proposed ordinance. Although many private airstrips exist throughout the unincorporated territories of the County, the proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not include physical elements that would be located on a site or sites within the vicinity of a private airstrip that would be expected to result in impacts related to safety hazards for people residing or working in the vicinity of a private airstrip.

Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to hazards and hazardous materials due to the location of the proposed ordinance within a private airstrip and the potential for safety hazards for people residing or working in the proposed ordinance area. No further analysis is warranted.

# Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to hazards and hazardous materials due to the location of the proposed ordinances in the vicinity of a private airstrip and the potential for safety hazards for people residing or working in the incorporated areas of the County, which would be subject to the proposed ordinances. Although many private airstrips exist throughout the incorporated cities of the County, the proposed ordinances would not include physical elements that would be located on a site or sites within the vicinity of a private airstrip that would consequently be expected to result in impacts related to safety hazards for people residing or working in the vicinity of a private airstrip. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to hazards and hazardous materials due to the location of the proposed ordinances within a private airstrip and the potential for safety hazards for people residing or working in the areas that would be subject to the proposed ordinances. No further analysis is warranted.

(g) Impair implementation of or physically interfere with an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan?

# Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to hazards and hazardous materials related to impairing the implementation of or physically interfering with an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not entail the development of structures or any components that would interfere with emergency response plans or evacuation plans. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts from hazards and hazardous materials from impairing the implementation of or physically interfering with an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan, and no further analysis is warranted.

## Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to hazards and hazardous materials related to impairing the implementation of or physically interfering with an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan. The proposed ordinances would not entail the development of structures or include any components that would interfere with emergency response plans or evacuation plans. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts from hazards and hazardous materials from impairing the implementation of or physically interfering with an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan, and no further analysis is warranted.

(h) Expose people or structures to a significant risk of loss, injury or death involving wildland fires, including where wildlands are adjacent to urbanized areas or where residences are intermixed with wildlands?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to hazards and hazardous materials related to exposing people or structures to a significant risk of loss, injury, or death involving wildland fires, including where wildlands are adjacent to urbanized areas or where residences are intermixed with wildlands. Although wildlands exist within the unincorporated territories of the County, the proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not contain any components that would expose people or structures to significant risks. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts related to the exposure of people or structures to a significant risk of loss, injury or death involving wildland fires, including where wildlands are adjacent to urbanized areas or where residences are intermixed with wildlands. No further analysis is warranted.

## Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to hazards and hazardous materials related to exposing people or structures to a significant risk of loss, injury, or death involving wildland fires, including where wildlands are adjacent to urbanized areas or where residences are intermixed with wildlands. Although wildlands exist within the incorporated cities of the County, the proposed ordinances would not contain any components that would expose people or structures to significant risks. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts related to the exposure of people or structures to a significant risk of loss, injury, or death involving wildland fires, including where wildlands are adjacent to urbanized areas or where residences are intermixed with wildlands. No further analysis is warranted.

#### 3.9 HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY

This analysis is undertaken to determine if the proposed ordinances may have a significant impact to hydrology and water quality, thus requiring the consideration of mitigation measures or alternatives, in accordance with Section 15063 of the State CEQA Guidelines.<sup>1</sup> Hydrology and water quality within the County, which would be subject to the proposed ordinances, were evaluated with regard to the County of Los Angeles General Plan,<sup>2</sup> State of California Regional Water Quality Control Board (RWQCB) Basin Plan for the Colorado River RWQCB Region 7,<sup>3</sup> and the National Flood Insurance Program Flood Insurance Rate Maps for the County.<sup>4</sup>

The State CEQA Guidelines recommend the consideration of 10 questions when addressing the potential for significant impacts to hydrology and water quality.

Would the proposed ordinances:

(a) Violate any water quality standards or waste discharge requirements?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The net impact to hydrology and water quality in relation to water quality standards or waste discharge requirements would be expected to be below the level of significance. The impacts to hydrology and water quality related to water quality standards or waste discharge requirements from the proposed ordinance would be expected to assist the County in better achieving water quality standards over time through a net reduction of litter comprised of plastic carryout bags. Over time, the transition from carryout bags to reusable bags would be anticipated to reduce the amount of litter found in water sources such as drain outlets and storm water runoff that can be attributed to plastic carryout bags, which in turn would be expected to have a positive impact on the water waste discharge requirements within the unincorporated territories of the County. However, certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in environmental impacts that could result in violations of water quality standards due to the increased reliance on paper bags during the period required for consumers to transition to using reusable bags.<sup>5</sup>

The proposed ordinance would not entail elements that would directly violate the standards or requirements specified in the County of Los Angeles General Plan<sup>6</sup> or the Water Quality Control Plan for the Colorado River Basin (Region 7), and adoption of the proposed ordinance would not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Division 6, Chapter 3, Sections 15000–15387, Appendix G.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> State Resources Control Board. 2007 (Adopted June 2006). *Water Quality Control Plan - Colorado River Basin – Region* 7. Palm Desert, CA. Available at:

http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/coloradoriver/publications\_forms/publications/docs/basinplan\_2006.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Federal Emergency Management Agency. December 1980. *Flood Insurance Rate Maps for the County of Los Angeles*. Washington, DC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

permit or sanction the violation of any established industry standards, management, or policies.<sup>7</sup> The proposed ordinance would ban the issuance of plastic carryout bags by certain stores within the unincorporated territories of the County that are subject to the ordinance. While certain representatives of the plastic bag industry argue that any proposed ordinance could potentially temporarily increase the consumption and production of paper bags as stores and consumers transition to the use of reusable bags, any ordinance would be consistent with the applicable standards or requirements for the area. The proposed ordinance would be expected to result in a significant reduction in the consumption of plastic carryout bags and to significantly increase the use of reusable bags within the unincorporated territories of the County.<sup>8</sup> Direct discharge of pollutants into a water body from point sources such as the manufacturing of paper bags, which could be subject to the regulatory authority of the RWQCB under the federal Clean Water Act, is required to comply with the Water Quality Control Plan for the Colorado River Basin (Region 7). However, due to arguments raised by certain representatives of the plastic bag industry in this area, the County has decided to present the analysis of this issue in an EIR.

## Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

Impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to water quality standards or waste discharge requirements would be expected to be below the level of significance. As with the discussion above for the unincorporated territories of the County, the proposed ordinances would ban the issuance of plastic carryout bags by certain stores within the incorporated cities of the County that are subject to the ordinance. While certain representatives of the plastic bag industry argue that any proposed ordinance could potentially temporarily increase the consumption and production of paper bags as stores and consumers transition to the use of reusable bags, any ordinance would be consistent with the applicable standards or requirements for the area. The proposed ordinance would be expected to result in a significant reduction in the consumption of plastic carryout bags and to significantly increase the use of reusable bags within the incorporated cities of the County.<sup>9</sup> Direct discharge of pollutants to a water body from point sources such as the manufacturing of paper bags, which could be subject to the regulatory authority of the RWOCB under the federal Clean Water Act, would be required to be consistent with the Water Quality Control Plan for the Colorado River Basin (Region 7). However, due to arguments raised by certain representatives of the plastic bag industry in this area, the County has decided to present the analysis of this issue in an EIR.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> State Resources Control Board, California Regional Water Quality Control Board. 2007 (adopted June 2006). *Water Quality Control Plan: Colorado River Basin – Region 7*. Palm Desert, CA. Available at:

http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/coloradoriver/publications\_forms/publications/docs/basinplan\_2006.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Reusable bags have been defined as having a lifetime of 2 to 5 years or at least 300 uses for its useful lifetime. Green Seal, Inc. 13 October 2008. Green Seal Proposed Revised Environmental Standard For Reusable Bags (GS-16).
Washington, DC. Also available at: http://www.greenseal.org/certification/gs16 reusable bag proposed revised standard background%20document.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Reusable bags have been defined as having a lifetime of 2 to 5 years or at least 300 uses for its useful lifetime. Green Seal, Inc. 13 October 2008. *Green Seal Proposed Revised Environmental Standard For Reusable Bags (GS-16)*. Washington, DC. Also available at: http://www.greenseal.org/certification/gs-16\_reusable\_bag\_proposed\_revised\_standard\_background%20document.pdf

(b) Substantially deplete groundwater supplies or interfere substantially with groundwater recharge such that there would be a net deficit in aquifer volume or a lowering of the local groundwater table level (e.g., the production rate of pre-existing nearby wells would drop to a level that would not support existing land uses or planned uses for which permits have been granted)?

#### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to groundwater supplies or groundwater recharge in relation to the proposed ordinance. The proposed ordinance would ban the issuance of plastic carryout bags by certain stores within the unincorporated territories of the County. Certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that the proposed ordinance could result in an increase in the consumption of paper bags as stores and consumers transition to the use of reusable bags.<sup>10</sup> As a result, they argue that there could be an expected increase in the manufacturing of paper bags. Studies prepared or referred to by certain representatives of the plastic bag industry that compare the production of plastic bags to that of paper bags have stated their position that manufacturing of plastic bags consumes less than 4 percent of the total amount of water needed to manufacture paper bags (5,527 cubic meters of water to produce 100 million plastic bags versus 145,729 cubic meters of water to produce 100 million paper bags).<sup>11</sup> Their perception of the comparable water demand for production of paper bags versus production of plastic bags underlies their position that the banning of plastic bags would result in a net increase in water consumption due to production of alternative bag choices; therefore, the County has decided to present the analysis of this issue in an EIR.

#### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to impacts from the proposed ordinances to groundwater supplies or groundwater recharge. As discussed above, the proposed ordinances would be expected to cause a decrease in the number of plastic carryout bags used throughout the County, which would be expected to reduce the amount of water consumed related to the manufacturing of plastic carryout bags. However, based on the perception of certain representatives in the plastic bag industry that the comparable water demand for production of paper bags versus production of plastic bags would result in a net increase in water consumption, the County has decided to present the analysis of this issue in an EIR.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Based upon an anticipated worst case scenario as described in: Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *Review of Life Cycle Data Relating to Disposable, Compostable, Biodegradable, and Reusable Grocery Bags.* Available at:

http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent486.aspx or http://www.deq.state.mi.us/documents/deq-ess-p2-recycling-PaperPlasticSummary\_2.pdf

(c) Substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of the site or area, including through the alteration of the course of a stream or river, in a manner which would result in substantial erosion or siltation on- or off-site?

# Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to altering existing drainage patterns in a manner that would result in substantial erosion or siltation on or off site. The proposed ordinance would not entail construction elements and would not involve any changes to existing physical property within the unincorporated territories of the County, which would be subject to the proposed ordinance. Alterations to drainage patterns are subject to the regulatory authority of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, the CDFG, and the County, and the proposed ordinance does not sanction any change in drainage pattern. Consequently, there would be no potential for impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to the alteration of existing drainage patterns in a manner that would result in substantial erosion or siltation on or off site. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to hydrology and water quality related to alteration of existing drainage patterns in a manner that would result in substantial erosion or substantial erosion or siltation on or off site, and no further analysis is warranted.

# Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to altering existing drainage patterns in a manner that would result in substantial erosion or siltation on or off site. The proposed ordinances would not entail construction elements and would not involve any changes to existing physical property within the incorporated cities of the County that would be subject to the proposed ordinance. Alterations to drainage patterns are subject to the regulatory authority of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, the CDFG, and the County, and the proposed ordinances do not sanction any change in drainage pattern. As a result, there would be no potential for impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to alteration of existing drainage patterns in a manner that would result in substantial erosion or siltation on or off site. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to hydrology and water quality related to alteration of existing drainage patterns in a manner that would result in substantial erosion or siltation or off site, and no further analysis is warranted.

(d) Substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of the site or area, including through the alteration of the course of a stream or river, or substantially increase the rate or amount of surface runoff in a manner which would result in flooding on- or off-site?

# Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to altering existing drainage patterns in a manner that would result in flooding on or off site. The proposed ordinance would not entail construction elements and would not involve any changes to existing physical property within the unincorporated territories of the County. As such, there would be no potential for impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to the alteration of existing drainage patterns in a manner that would result in flooding on site or off site. Therefore, there would be no significant impacts to hydrology and water quality related to alteration of existing drainage patterns in a manner that would result in flooding on site or off site, and no further analysis is warranted.

#### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to altering existing drainage patterns in a manner that would result in flooding on or off site. The proposed ordinances would not entail construction elements and would not involve any changes to existing physical property within the incorporated cities of the County. As such, there is no potential for impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to the alteration of existing drainage patterns in a manner that would result in flooding on site or off site. Therefore, there would be no significant impacts to hydrology and water quality related to alteration of existing drainage patterns in a manner that would result in flooding on site or off site, and no further analysis is warranted.

(e) Create or contribute runoff water which would exceed the capacity of existing or planned storm water drainage systems or providing substantial additional sources of polluted runoff?

#### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

There would be no anticipated impacts from the proposed ordinance to hydrology and water quality in relation to creating or contributing runoff water that would exceed the capacity of existing or planned storm water drainage systems or providing substantial additional sources of polluted runoff. The proposed ordinance would ban the issuance of plastic carryout bags by certain stores within the unincorporated territories of the County. Plastic carryout bags have a high propensity to become litter and account for as much as 25 percent of the litter stream within the County.<sup>12</sup> Due to the thin film used to create plastic carryout bags (which is generally 0.025 millimeter or less),<sup>13</sup> their low density, and their light weight (which has been noted as anywhere between 6 to 10 times lighter than paper bags),<sup>14</sup> plastic carryout bags have a very high propensity to become airborne and to ultimately contribute to the pollution in storm water drainage systems and runoff. The proposed ordinance would be expected to result in a significant reduction in the consumption of plastic carryout bags and to significantly increase the use of reusable bags within the unincorporated territories of the County.

The proposed ordinance would not entail construction elements and would not involve any changes to existing physical property within the unincorporated territories of the County. Consequently, there would be no potential for impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to creating or contributing runoff water that would exceed the capacity of existing or planned storm water drainage systems or providing substantial additional sources of polluted runoff. No further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. October 2008. County of Los Angeles Single Use Bag Reduction and Recycling Program – Program Resource Packet. Alhambra, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Green Seal, Inc. 13 October 2008. *Green Seal Proposed Revised Environmental Standard For Reusable Bags (GS-16)*. Washington, DC. Also available at: http://www.greenseal.org/certification/gs-

<sup>16</sup>\_reusable\_bag\_proposed\_revised\_standard\_background%20document.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *Scottish Executive 2005 Environment Group Research Report (2005/06)*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent486.aspx or http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/57346/0016899.pdf

## Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

There would be no anticipated impacts from the proposed ordinances to hydrology and water quality in relation to creating or contributing runoff water that would exceed the capacity of existing or planned storm water drainage systems or providing substantial additional sources of polluted runoff.

As with the proposed ordinance discussed above, the proposed ordinances would not entail construction elements and would not involve any changes to existing physical property within the incorporated cities of the County. Consequently, there would be no potential for impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to creating or contributing runoff water that would exceed the capacity of existing or planned storm water drainage systems or providing substantial additional sources of polluted runoff. No further analysis is warranted.

(f) Otherwise substantially degrade water quality?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

There would be no anticipated adverse impacts from the proposed ordinance to hydrology and water quality related to the substantial degradation of water quality. Water quality and use within California is regulated by the State Water Resources Control Board. The proposed ordinance would not entail construction elements and would not involve any changes to existing physical property within the unincorporated territories of the County that would negatively affect water quality. However, the reduction of plastic bag litter in the litter stream resulting from implementation of the proposed ordinance would be expected to benefit the unincorporated territories of the County. Consequently, further analysis is warranted to discuss the potential beneficial effects that may result from the proposed ordinance.

#### **Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles**

There would be no anticipated adverse impacts from the proposed ordinances to hydrology and water quality related to the substantial degradation of water quality. As previously mentioned, water quality and use within California is regulated by the State Water Resources Control Board. The proposed ordinances would not entail construction elements and would not involve any changes to existing physical property within the incorporated cities of the County that would negatively affect water quality. The reduction of plastic bag litter in the litter stream resulting from implementation of the proposed ordinance would be expected to benefit the incorporated cities within the County. Consequently, further analysis is warranted to discuss the potential beneficial effects that may result from the proposed ordinances.

(g) Place housing within a 100-year flood hazard area as mapped on a federal Flood Hazard Boundary or Flood Insurance Rate Map or other flood hazard delineation map?

#### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to the placement of housing within a 100-year flood hazard area. The proposed ordinance would ban the issuance of plastic carryout bags by certain stores and would not entail the construction of housing units; thus, there is no potential for impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to the placement of housing within a 100-year flood hazard area. Therefore, there are be no expected impacts to hydrology and water quality related to the placement of housing within a 100-year flood hazard area, and no further analysis is warranted.

#### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to the placement of housing within a 100-year flood hazard area. The proposed ordinances would not entail the construction of housing units or the development of any structures. As such, there would be no potential for impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to the placement of housing within a 100-year flood hazard area. Therefore, there are no expected impacts to hydrology and water quality related to the placement of housing within a 100-year flood hazard area, and no further analysis is warranted.

(h) Place within a 100-year flood hazard area structures which would impede or redirect flood flows?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to the placement of structures (other than housing) within a 100-year flood hazard area. Although there are 100-year flood hazard areas identified within the unincorporated territories of the County that would be subject to the proposed ordinance, the proposed ordinance would ban the issuance of plastic carryout bags by certain stores and would not entail any construction and thus would not place or develop structures within a 100-year flood hazard area.<sup>15</sup> As such, there would be no potential for impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to placement of structures (other than housing) within a 100-year flood hazard area. Therefore, there are no expected impacts to hydrology and water quality related to placement of structures (other than housing) within a 100-year flood hazard area.

#### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to the placement of structures (other than housing) within a 100-year flood hazard area. As within the unincorporated territories of the County, there are 100-year flood hazard areas identified within the incorporated cities of the County. The proposed ordinances would ban the issuance of plastic carryout bags by certain stores and would not entail any construction, and thus structures would not be placed or developed within a 100-year flood hazard area.<sup>16</sup> As such, there would be no potential for impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to placement of structures (other than housing) within a 100-year flood hazard area. Therefore, there are no expected impacts to hydrology and water quality related to placement of structures (other than housing) within a 100-year flood hazard area.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Federal Emergency Management Agency. December 1980. *Flood Insurance Rate Maps for the County of Los Angeles*. Washington, DC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Federal Emergency Management Agency. December 1980. Flood Insurance Rate Maps for the County of Los Angeles. Washington, DC.

(i) Expose people or structures to a significant risk of loss, injury or death involving flooding, including flooding as a result of the failure of a levee or dam?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to the failure of a levee or dam. The proposed ordinance would ban the issuance of plastic carryout bags by certain stores and would not entail the construction, placement, or development of structures within or adjacent to an area that would be susceptible to flooding.<sup>17</sup> The proposed ordinance would not result in or expose people to areas that are susceptible to flooding.<sup>18</sup> There would be no potential for and thus no expected impacts to hydrology and water quality related to the failure of a levee or dam, and no further analysis is warranted.

#### **Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles**

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to the failure of a levee or dam. The proposed ordinances would not entail the construction, placement, or development of structures within or adjacent to an area that would be susceptible to flooding.<sup>19</sup> The proposed ordinances would ban the issuance of plastic carryout bags by certain stores, and as such, they would not result in or expose people to areas that are susceptible to flooding.<sup>20</sup> There would be no potential for and thus no expected impacts to hydrology and water quality related to the failure of a levee or dam, and no further analysis is warranted.

(j) Inundation by seiche, tsunami, or mudflow?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to inundation by seiche, tsunami, or mudflow. Although there are areas located within the unincorporated territories of the County where seiches, tsunamis, or mudflows are potential threats, the proposed ordinance would not entail components that would result in or be subject to a potential threat by such occurrences. The proposed ordinance would ban the issuance of plastic carryout bags by certain stores and would not be expected to impact lakes and/or flood control basins or areas adjacent to any steep-sided slopes covered with soils and/or vegetation. Therefore, there would be no potential for and thus no expected impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to inundation by seiche, tsunami, or mudflow, and no further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Federal Emergency Management Agency. December 1980. Flood Insurance Rate Maps for the County of Los Angeles. Washington, DC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Federal Emergency Management Agency. December 1980. Flood Insurance Rate Maps for the County of Los Angeles. Washington, DC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

#### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to inundation by seiche, tsunami, or mudflow. As with the unincorporated territories of the County, there are areas within the incorporated cities of the County where seiches, tsunamis, or mudflows are potential threats. The proposed ordinances would not entail components that would result in or be subject to a potential threat by such occurrences. The proposed ordinances would not be expected to impact lakes and/or flood control basins or areas adjacent to any steep-sided slopes covered with soils and/or vegetation. Therefore, there would be no potential for and thus no expected impacts to hydrology and water quality in relation to inundation by seiche, tsunami, or mudflow, and no further analysis is warranted.

## 3.10 LAND USE AND PLANNING

This analysis is undertaken to determine if the proposed ordinances might have a significant impact to land use and planning, thus requiring the consideration of mitigation measures or alternatives, in accordance with Section 15063 of the State CEQA Guidelines.<sup>1</sup> Land use and planning within the County, which would be subject to the proposed ordinances, were evaluated with regard to the County of Los Angeles General Plan<sup>2</sup> and its adopted maps, the County Code,<sup>3</sup> and coordination with the USFWS and the CDFG regarding the applicable proposed or adopted land use plans and regulations.

The State CEQA Guidelines recommend the consideration of three questions when addressing the potential for significant impacts to land use and planning.

Would the proposed ordinances:

## (a) Physically divide an established community?

#### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to land use and planning through the physical division of an established community. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued at certain stores within the unincorporated territories of the County. Specifically, implementation of the proposed ordinance would require that no store subject to the proposed ordinance would be allowed to make available or distribute plastic bags to customers. As such, it would not be expected that there would be a physical division of an established community resulting from the implementation of the proposed ordinance. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to land use and planning related to the physical division of an established community, and no further analysis is warranted.

#### **Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles**

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to land use and planning through the physical division of an established community. The proposed ordinances would ban plastic carryout bags issued at certain stores within the incorporated cities of the County. The proposed ordinances would not require any changes to the existing conditions within the established communities. As such, implementation of the proposed ordinances would be no expected to physically divide an established community. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to land use and planning related to the physical division of an established community, and no further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Division 6, Chapter 3, Sections 15000–15387, Appendix G.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, California. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> County of Los Angeles. 2 June 2009. Los Angeles County Code. Tallahassee, FL. Available at: http://ordlink.com/codes/lacounty/index.htm

(b) Conflict with any applicable land use plan, policy, or regulation of an agency with jurisdiction over the project (including, but not limited to the general plan, specific plan, local coastal program, or zoning ordinance) adopted for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating an environmental effect?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to land use and planning in relation to a conflict with adopted or proposed land use plans, policies, or regulations. A review of the Land Use element of the County of Los Angeles General Plan identifies Policy 9.0 pursuant to the goal of providing sufficient commercial and industrial land to protect major landfill and solid waste disposal sites from encroachment of incompatible uses.<sup>4</sup> This policy observes the existing conditions in the County, where each year approximately 6 billion plastic carryout bags are consumed,<sup>5</sup> and where the annual disposal rate of plastic carryout bags at landfills is 45,000 tons.<sup>6</sup> The proposed ordinance would aim to significantly reduce the amount of litter that can be attributed to carryout or compostable plastic bags by ensuring that no subject retail establishment would be allowed to distribute or make available to customers any carryout or compostable plastic bags. As such, the proposed ordinance would comply with Policy 9.0 of the County of Los Angeles General Plan Land Use element, as it would be anticipated that the reduced number of plastic bags available to consumers would in turn lower the volume of waste deposited in landfills. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to land use and planning related to a conflict with adopted or proposed land use plans, policies, or regulations, and no further analysis is warranted.

## Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to land use and planning in relation to a conflict with adopted or proposed land use plans, policies, or regulations. As previously noted, the County of Los Angeles General Plan Land Use element identifies Policy 9.0 pursuant to the goal of providing sufficient commercial and industrial land to protect major landfill and solid waste disposal sites from encroachment of incompatible uses.<sup>7</sup> The proposed ordinances would aim to significantly reduce the amount of litter that can be attributed to carryout or compostable plastic bags by ensuring that no subject retail establishment would be allowed to distribute or make available to customers any carryout or compostable plastic bags. As such, the proposed ordinances would be in compliance with Policy 9.0 of the County of Los Angeles General Plan Land Use element, as it would be anticipated that the reduced number of plastic bags available to consumers would in turn lower the volume of waste deposited in landfills. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to land use and planning related to a conflict with adopted or proposed land use plans, policies, or regulations, and no further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, California. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> California Integrated Waste Management Board. 12 June 2007. Board Meeting Agenda, Resolution: Agenda Item 14. Sacramento, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> California Environmental Protection Agency, Integrated Waste Management Board. December 2004. "Table 7: Composition of California's Overall Disposed Waste Stream, 2003." *Contractor's Report to the Board: 2004 Statewide Waste Characterization Study*. Produced by: Cascadia Consulting Group, Inc. Berkeley, CA. Available at: http://www.ciwmb.ca.gov/Publications/default.asp?pubid = 1097

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, California. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

(c) Conflict with any applicable habitat conservation plan or natural community conservation plan?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to land use and planning in relation to a conflict with any applicable HCP or NCCP. The proposed ordinance would not alter the existing land uses in the unincorporated areas of the County. According to the National Community Conservation Planning program of the CDFG, the only Natural Community Conservation Planning region<sup>8</sup> that would be affected by the proposed ordinance is the Palos Verdes Peninsula NCCP, which lies approximately 26 miles south of the City of Los Angeles and which addresses the conservation of most of the coastal sage scrub habitat as well as other habitats on the Palos Verdes Peninsula.<sup>9</sup> Moreover, the USFWS HCP program does not include any HCPs that would apply to the unincorporated territories of the County.<sup>10</sup> Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to land use and planning related to a conflict with any adopted HCP or NCCP, and no further analysis is warranted.

## **Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles**

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to land use and planning in relation to a conflict with any applicable HCP or NCCP. The territory that would be affected by the proposed ordinances would encompass the incorporated cities of the County, whose existing land uses would not be altered by implementation of the proposed ordinances. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to land use and planning related to a conflict with any adopted HCP or NCCP, and no further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> California Department of Fish and Game. Accessed on: 5 August 2009. "Natural Community Conservation Planning (NCCP)." *Resource Management*. Available at: http://www.dfg.ca.gov/habcon/nccp/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. May 2005. *Habitat Conservation Plans: Working Together for Endangered Species*. Available at: http://www.fws.gov/endangered/pubs/HCPBrochure/HCPsWorkingTogether5-2005web%20.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. May 2005. *Habitat Conservation Plans: Working Together for Endangered Species*. Available at: http://www.fws.gov/endangered/pubs/HCPBrochure/HCPsWorkingTogether5-2005web%20.pdf

#### 3.11 MINERAL RESOURCES

This analysis is undertaken to determine if the proposed ordinances may have a significant impact to mineral resources, thus requiring the consideration of mitigation measures or alternatives, in accordance with Section 15063 of the State CEQA Guidelines.<sup>1</sup> Mineral resources within the County, which would be subject to the proposed ordinances, were evaluated with regard to California Geological Survey and U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) publications and the adopted County of Los Angeles General Plan.<sup>2</sup>

The State CEQA Guidelines recommend the consideration of two questions when addressing the potential for significant impact to mineral resources.

Would the proposed ordinances:

(a) Result in the loss of availability of a known mineral resource that would be of value to the region and the residents of the state?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to mineral resources in relation to the loss of availability of a known mineral resource. The proposed ordinance would affect approximately 2,649 square miles encompassing the unincorporated territories of the County. According to the USGS,<sup>3</sup> the County is a major producing area of common clay, crushed stone, construction sand and gravel, perlite, lime, sulfur (oil), and gypsum. A review of the County of Los Angeles General Plan confirmed that California is the largest producer of sand and gravel in the nation, and that the greater Los Angeles area is the nation's leading producer for its geographic size.<sup>4</sup> As such, sand and gravel must be protected and conserved because sand and gravel reserves have declined in the past due to the encroachment of incompatible development. According to "Mines and Minerals Producers Active in California (1997-98)," published by the Division of Mines and Geology of the CDC, there are 25 active mines located within the County, which further indicates the presence of mineral resources within the boundary of the jurisdictional areas for the proposed ordinance.<sup>5</sup> However, the proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued at certain stores and would not be expected to affect the extraction of these resources. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to mineral resources related to the loss of availability of a known mineral resource, and no further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Division 6, Chapter 3, Sections 15000–15387, Appendix G.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, California. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> U.S. Department of the Interior, U.S. Geological Survey. 2006. 2006 Minerals Yearbook: California. Available at: http://minerals.usgs.gov/minerals/pubs/state/2006/myb2-2006-ca.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, California. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> California Department of Conservation, Division of Mines and Geology.1990. "Mines and Mineral Producers Active in California (1997–98)." Special Publication 103. Prepared by: Division of Mines and Geology, Los Angeles, CA.

#### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to mineral resources in relation to the loss of availability of a known mineral resource. Based on a review of California Division of Mines and Geology publications, it is found that there are 25 active mines located within the County, which further indicates the presence of mineral resources within the incorporated territories included within the jurisdictional areas of the proposed ordinances.<sup>6</sup> However, the proposed ordinances would not be expected to affect the extraction of these resources. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to mineral resources related to the loss of availability of a known mineral resource, and no further analysis is warranted.

(b) Result in the loss of availability of a locally-important mineral resource recovery site delineated on a local general plan, specific plan or other land use plan?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to mineral resources in relation to the loss of availability of a known mineral resource recovery site. Based on a review of California Division of Mines and Geology publications,<sup>7,8</sup> in conjunction with the Conservation element of the County of Los Angeles General Plan, there are no known mineral resources of state-wide or regional importance located within the unincorporated territories of the County, nor are there known mineral resource recovery sites of local importance located within the unincorporated territories.<sup>9</sup> Furthermore, the proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued at certain stores and would not be expected to alter the availability of locally important mineral resources related to the loss of availability of a known locally important mineral resource recovery site, and no further analysis is warranted.

#### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to mineral resources in relation to the loss of availability of a known mineral resource recovery site. There are no known mineral resources of state-wide or regional importance located within the incorporated cities of the County, nor are there any known mineral resource recovery sites of local importance located within the incorporated cities.<sup>10</sup> Moreover, the proposed ordinances would ban plastic carryout bags issued at certain stores and would not be expected to alter the availability of locally important mineral resources. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to mineral resources related to the loss of availability of a known locally important mineral resource recovery site, and no further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> California Department of Conservation, Division of Mines and Geology.1990. "Mines and Mineral Producers Active in California (1997–98)." *Special Publication 103*. Prepared by: Division of Mines and Geology, Los Angeles, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> California Department of Conservation, Division of Mines and Geology. 1966. "Minerals of California Volume (1866–1966)." *Bulletin 189.* Prepared by: CDMG, Los Angeles, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> California Department of Conservation, Division of Mines and Geology. 1990. "Mines and Mineral Producers Active in California (1988–89)." Special Publication 103. Prepared by: CDMG, Los Angeles, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, California. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, California. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

## 3.12 NOISE

This analysis is undertaken to determine if the proposed ordinances may have a significant impact to noise, thus requiring the consideration of mitigation measures or alternatives, in accordance with Section 15063 of the State CEQA Guidelines.<sup>1</sup> Noise within the County, which would be subject to the proposed ordinances, was evaluated with regard to the County of Los Angeles General Plan Noise element<sup>2</sup> and the County Noise Control Ordinance.<sup>3</sup>

The State CEQA Guidelines recommend the consideration of six questions when addressing the potential for significant impact to noise.

Would the proposed ordinances result in:

(a) Exposure of persons to or generation of noise levels in excess of standards established in the local general plan or noise ordinance, or applicable standards of other agencies?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to noise in relation to exposure or generation of noise levels in excess of established standards. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued at certain stores and would apply to areas located within the unincorporated territory of the County. The County's unincorporated areas have a wide range of noise environments, from quiet residential and rural areas to relatively noisy commercial and industrial areas. The method commonly used to guantify environmental noise involves evaluation of all frequencies of sound, with an adjustment to reflect the constraints of human hearing. Since the human ear is less sensitive to low and high frequencies than to midrange frequencies, noise measurements are weighted more heavily within those frequencies of maximum human sensitivity in a process called "A-weighting." A measured noise level is called the A-weighted sound level measured in A-weighted decibels, written as dBA. The County does not set land use standards for noise in the Noise element of the County of Los Angeles General Plan. However, the County has adopted a noise control ordinance that specifies exterior noise standards as shown in Table 3.12-1, County of Los Angeles Exterior Noise Standards.<sup>4</sup> The exterior noise levels presented in the final column of Table 3.12-1 indicate the average hourly dBA to be maintained for designated noise zone level use.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Division 6, Chapter 3, Sections 15000–15387, Appendix G.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> County of Los Angeles. 1978. Noise Control Ordinance of the County of Los Angeles. Ord. 11778, Section 2 (Art.1, Section 101), and Ord.11773, Section 2 (Art. 1, Section 101). Available at: http://ordlink.com/codes/lacounty/index.htm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> County of Los Angeles. 1978. *Noise Control Ordinance of the County of Los Angeles*. Ord. 11778, Section 2 (Art.1, Section 101), and Ord.11773, Section 2 (Art. 1, Section 101). Available at: http://ordlink.com/codes/lacounty/index.htm

# TABLE 3.12-1COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES EXTERIOR NOISE STANDARDS

Noise Zone	Designated Noise Zone Land Use (Receptor Property)	Time Interval	Exterior Noise Level <sup>1</sup>
I	Noise-Sensitive Area <sup>2</sup>	Anytime	45 dBA
II	Residential Area	10:00 p.m.–7:00 a.m. (nighttime) 7:00 a.m.–10:00 p.m. (daytime)	45 dBA 50 dBA
111	Commercial Area	10:00 p.m.–7:00 a.m. (nighttime) 7:00 a.m. – 10:00 p.m. (daytime)	55 dBA 60 dBA
IV	Industrial Area	Anytime	70 dBA

#### NOTES:

1. Required average hourly noise standard

2. Noise-sensitive area is designated to ensure exceptional quiet

**SOURCE:** County of Los Angeles. 1978 (updated 21 July 2009). *Noise Control Ordinance of the County of Los Angeles*, Title 12, Chapter 12.08.390. Ordinance 11778, Section 2 (Article1, Section 101); and Ordinance11773, Section 2 (Article 1, Section 101). Available at: http://ordlink.com/codes/lacounty/index.htm

The proposed ordinance would be expected to have an inconsequential impact to noise levels in the unincorporated areas of the County and the surrounding vicinity. There are two ways in which the proposed ordinance could have potential noise impacts:

- 1. Certain plastic bag industry representatives have postulated that the banning of plastic carryout bags could potentially result in increased numbers of vehicles transporting carryout bags. A change in the noise generated by these vehicles, which are mobile noise sources, could potentially alter the noise levels in the areas surrounding major roadways.
- 2. Certain plastic bag industry representatives of the plastic bag industry have postulated that the banning of plastic carryout bags could potentially result in the increased manufacture of paper carryout bags, thus requiring the consideration of the effect of fixed-point manufacturing noise sources on ambient noise levels.

While the proposed ordinance would be expected to reduce the need for vehicles to transport plastic carryout bags, it could also potentially increase the number of vehicles or the number of vehicle miles traveled for vehicles transporting paper bags and reusable bags. Certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to increase reliance on paper carryout bags.<sup>5</sup> Implementation of the proposed ordinance could potentially lead to an increase in noise levels related to the increase in delivery of paper carryout and reusable bags to the unincorporated areas of County. Although the number of vehicles on the roads does affect ambient noise levels, neither the decrease in vehicles transporting plastic carryout bags nor the potential increase in the number of vehicles transporting paper carryout and reusable bags would likely be on a scale that would be large enough to result in a discernable change in noise levels around roadways in areas in and around the unincorporated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

areas of the County. Further, the truck trips would be dispersed over a large network of roadways and highways and would not substantially increase truck traffic along any one route.

While the proposed ordinance would potentially result in reduced demand for plastic bags, certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to increase demand for paper carryout bags.<sup>6</sup> A lower demand for plastic bags would likely result in either a decrease in the number of plastic carryout bag manufacturing facilities or a decrease in the operation of existing facilities, or some combination of the two scenarios. Therefore, the noise produced by these facilities would be either eliminated or reduced. A potential increase in the demand for paper bags could likely result in either an increase in the number of paper carryout bag and reusable manufacturing facilities or an increase in the operation of existing facilities or an increase in the operation of existing facilities or an increase in the operation of existing facilities or an increase in the operation of existing facilities or an increase in the operation of existing facilities or an increase in the operation of existing facilities or an increase in the operation of existing facilities or an increase in the operation of existing facilities, or some combination of the two scenarios. An increase in production at existing facilities could potentially increase the noise produced by those facilities.

However, it is assumed that both plastic and paper carryout bag manufacturing facilities are located within areas zoned for industrial uses, where noise-sensitive receptors would not be expected to be impacted, and where higher noise levels are permitted. The facilities would also be required to comply with the relevant local or County noise ordinances. Similarly, the proposed ordinance could potentially result in an increased number of reusable bag manufacturing facilities that in turn could create new noise sources. It is assumed that any new manufacturing facilities would be located in similar locations where noise-sensitive receptors would not be expected to be impacted. Therefore, the proposed ordinance would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to noise in relation to exposure or generation of noise levels in excess of established standards. No further analysis is warranted.

## Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to noise in relation to exposure or generation of noise levels in excess of established standards. As stated in the previous discussion, the proposed ordinances would be expected to reduce the need for vehicles to transport plastic carryout bags, but would also potentially increase the number of vehicles or the number of vehicle miles traveled for vehicles transporting paper carryout and reusable bags. While the number of vehicles on the roads does affect ambient noise levels, neither the decrease in vehicles transporting plastic bags nor the potential increase in the number of vehicles transporting paper carryout and reusable bags would likely be on a scale large enough to result in a discernible change in noise levels around roadways in the incorporated cities of the County. Furthermore, the truck trips would be dispersed over a large network of roadways and highways and would not substantially increase truck traffic along any one route.

In addition, a lower demand for plastic bags would likely result in a decrease in the number of plastic carryout bag manufacturing facilities or a decrease in the operation of existing facilities, or some combination of the two scenarios. Therefore, the noise produced by these facilities would be either eliminated or reduced. Conversely, a potential increase in the demand for paper carryout and reusable bags would likely result in either an increase in the number of facilities that manufacture paper bags and reusable bags or an increase in the operation of existing facilities, or some combination of the two scenarios. An increase in production at existing facilities would

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

potentially increase the noise produced by those facilities. However, it is assumed that paper carryout and reusable bag manufacturing facilities are, and would continue to be, located within areas zoned for industrial uses, where noise-sensitive receptors would not be expected to be impacted, and where higher noise levels are permitted. The facilities would also be required to comply with the relevant local or County noise ordinances. Therefore, the proposed ordinances would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to noise in relation to exposure or generation of noise levels in excess of established standards. No further analysis is warranted.

(b) Exposure of persons to or generation of excessive groundborne vibration or groundborne noise levels?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to noise in relation to generation of excessive groundborne vibration or groundborne noise. The County deems it a violation of the Noise Control Ordinance to operate or permit the operation of any device that creates vibration that is above the vibration perception threshold of any individual at or beyond the property boundary of the source if on private property, or at 150 feet (46 meters) from the source if on a public space or public right-of-way. The Noise Control Ordinance considers the perception threshold to be a motion velocity of 0.01 inch per second over the range of 1 to 100 Hertz.<sup>7</sup> There would be two ways in which the proposed ordinance could have potential vibration impacts:

- 1. Certain plastic bag industry representatives have postulated that the banning of plastic carryout bags could potentially result in increased numbers of vehicles transporting carryout bags. A change in the vibration levels generated by these vehicles, which are mobile noise sources, could potentially alter the perceived vibration levels in the areas surrounding major roadways.
- 2. Certain plastic bag industry representatives of the plastic bag industry have postulated that the banning of plastic carryout bags could potentially result in the increased manufacture of paper carryout bags, thus requiring the consideration of the effect of fixed-point manufacturing noise sources on perceived vibration levels.

In regard to the transportation of plastic carryout bags, paper carryout bags, and reusable bags, while the proposed ordinance would be expected to eliminate the need for vehicles to transport plastic bags to and from the unincorporated territory of the County, it could also potentially increase the number of vehicles or the number of vehicle miles traveled for vehicles transporting paper bags and reusable bags, as certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in an increase in the reliance on paper bags. <sup>8</sup> The proposed ordinance would also potentially result in increased demand for reusable bags. While the number of vehicles on the roads does affect vibration levels in the vicinity of the roadway, neither the decrease in the number of vehicles transporting paper bags would likely be on a scale that would be large enough to result in a discernable change in vibration levels at sensitive receptors near roadways in areas in and around the unincorporated areas of the County.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> County of Los Angeles. 1978. Noise Control Ordinance of the County of Los Angeles. Ord. 11778, Section 2 (Art.1, Section 101), and Ord.11773, Section 2 (Art. 1, Section 101). Available at: http://ordlink.com/codes/lacounty/index.htm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

In terms of the production of plastic and paper bags, while the proposed ordinance would potentially result in reduced demand for plastic bags, certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to increase demand for paper bags.<sup>9</sup> The proposed ordinance would also potentially result in increased demand for reusable bags.

A lower demand for plastic bags would likely result in either a decrease in the number of plastic bag manufacturing facilities or a decrease in the operation of existing facilities, or some combination of the two scenarios. Therefore, the vibration levels produced by these facilities would be expected to be either eliminated or reduced. An increase in the demand for paper bags and reusable bags could likely result in either an increase in the number of manufacturing facilities or an increase in the operation of existing facilities, or some combination of the two scenarios. An increase in the production at existing facilities would potentially increase the vibration levels produced by those facilities. However, it is assumed that paper bag manufacturing facilities are located within areas zoned for industrial uses, where receptors sensitive to vibration would not be expected to be impacted.

There are two ways in which the proposed ordinance could have potential impacts related to groundborne noise:

- 1. Certain plastic bag industry representatives have postulated that the banning of plastic carryout bags could potentially result in increased numbers of vehicles transporting carryout bags. A change in the groundborne noise generated by these vehicles, which are mobile noise sources, could potentially alter the noise levels in the areas surrounding major roadways.
- 2. Certain plastic bag industry representatives of the plastic bag industry have postulated that the banning of plastic carryout bags could potentially result in the increased manufacture of paper carryout bags, thus requiring the consideration of the effect of fixed-point manufacturing noise sources on groundborne noise levels.

In regard to the transportation of plastic carryout bags, paper carryout bags, and reusable bags, while it would be anticipated that the proposed ordinance would reduce or eliminate the need for vehicles to transport plastic bags, it would also potentially increase the number of vehicles or the number of vehicle miles traveled for vehicles transporting paper bags as certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in an increase in the reliance on paper bags.<sup>10</sup> While the number of vehicles on the roads does affect ambient noise levels, neither the decrease in vehicles transporting plastic bags nor the increase in the number of vehicles transporting paper bags would likely be on a scale that would be large enough to result in a discernable change in groundborne noise levels around roadways in areas in and around the unincorporated areas of the County.

In terms of the production of plastic and paper carryout bags, while the proposed ordinance would potentially result in a reduction in the demand for plastic carryout bags, certain representatives of the plastic carryout bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

result in an increase in the demand for paper carryout bags.<sup>11</sup> Furthermore, it could be anticipated that the proposed ordinance would increase the demand for reusable bags. As noted, a lower demand for plastic bags would likely result in either a decrease in the number of plastic bag manufacturing facilities or a decrease in the operation of existing facilities, or some combination of the two scenarios. Therefore, the groundborne noise produced by these facilities would be expected to be either eliminated or reduced. A potential increase in the demand for paper bags and reusable bags would likely result in either an increase in the number of paper bag manufacturing facilities or an increase in the operation of existing facilities, or some combination of the two scenarios. An increase in the production at existing facilities would potentially increase the noise produced by those facilities. However, it is assumed that paper bag manufacturing facilities are located within areas zoned for industrial uses where higher noise levels are permitted or in areas where noise-sensitive receptors would not be impacted due to their distance away from these facilities. Therefore, an increase in the level of production of paper bags at manufacturing facilities would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to noise in relation to exposure or generation of groundborne vibration or groundborne noise levels in excess of established standards. An anticipated increase in the number of paper bag manufacturing facilities would be expected to create new noise sources; however, it is assumed that any new manufacturing facilities would be located in areas zoned for industrial uses, where noise-sensitive receptors would not be expected to be impacted, and where higher noise levels are permitted. The facilities would be required to comply with the relevant local or County noise ordinances. Therefore, the proposed ordinance would be expected to result in less than significant impacts related to exposure or generation of groundborne vibration or groundborne noise levels in excess of established standards, and no further analysis is warranted.

#### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to noise in relation to generation of excessive groundborne vibration or groundborne noise. While it would be anticipated that the proposed ordinances would reduce or eliminate the need for vehicles to transport plastic bags, they would also potentially increase the number of vehicles or the number of vehicle miles traveled for vehicles transporting paper bags, as certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to increase reliance on paper bags.<sup>12</sup> While the number of vehicles on the roads does affect ambient noise levels, neither the potential decrease in vehicles transporting plastic bags nor the potential increase in the number of vehicles transporting paper bags would be on a scale that would be large enough to result in a discernible change in groundborne noise levels around roadways in and around the incorporated areas of the County.

In addition, while the proposed ordinances would potentially result in reduced demand for plastic bags, certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to increase demand for paper bags.<sup>13</sup> It could also be anticipated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

that the proposed ordinance would increase the demand for reusable bags. As previously noted, a lower demand for plastic bags would likely result in either a decrease in the number of plastic bag manufacturing facilities or a decrease in the operation of existing facilities, or some combination of the two scenarios. Therefore, the groundborne noise produced by these facilities would be expected to be either eliminated or reduced. A potential increase in demand for paper bags would likely result in either an increase in the number of paper bag manufacturing facilities or an increase in the operation of existing facilities, or some combination of the two scenarios. An increase in production at existing facilities could potentially increase the noise produced by those facilities. However, it is assumed that paper bag manufacturing facilities are located within areas zoned for industrial uses, where noise-sensitive receptors would not be impacted, and where higher noise Therefore, an increase in the level of production of paper bags at levels are permitted. manufacturing facilities would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to noise in relation to exposure or generation of groundborne vibration or groundborne noise levels in excess of established standards. An anticipated increase in the number of paper bag manufacturing facilities would be expected to create new noise sources; however, it is assumed that any new manufacturing facilities would be located in areas zoned for industrial uses, where noise-sensitive receptors would not be expected to be impacted, and where higher noise levels are permitted. The facilities would be required to comply with the relevant local or County noise ordinances. Therefore, the proposed ordinances would be expected to result in less than significant impacts related to exposure or generation of groundborne vibration or groundborne noise levels in excess of established standards, and no further analysis is warranted.

(c) A substantial permanent increase in ambient noise levels in the project vicinity above levels existing without the project?

# Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to noise in relation to permanent increases in ambient noise levels. The County Noise Control Ordinance does not define "substantial." In general, one way of estimating a person's subjective reaction to a new noise is to compare the new noise with the existing noise environment to which the person has become adapted; for example, the increase over the so-called "ambient" noise level. An increase of 1 dBA over the ambient noise level cannot be perceived unless it occurs in carefully controlled laboratory experiments; a 3-dBA increase is considered as a just-perceivable difference; an increase of at least 5 dBA is a noticeable change, thereby causing community response and often being considered a significant impact; and a 10-dBA increase is subjectively heard as approximately a doubling in loudness, thereby almost always causing an adverse community response. As a 5-dBA increase is often considered a significant increase, in lieu of a County standard, this analysis will consider an increase in noise levels of 5 dBA to be considered substantial.

As discussed in the response to question (a), any potential increase in noise levels that would result from the implementation of the proposed ordinance would not be perceptible at noise-sensitive receptors. A doubling of traffic volumes on a roadway would be expected to result in a 3-dBA increase in noise generated by traffic, which is the human threshold for perceiving a change in the ambient noise level. Although certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to increase reliance on paper bags,<sup>14</sup> the potential

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

decrease in the number of vehicles transporting plastic bags, when compared with the potential increase in the number of vehicles transporting paper bags resulting from implementation of the proposed ordinance, would not double traffic volumes on the roadways in and around the unincorporated areas of the County. While the proposed ordinance could likely result in either an increase in the number of paper bag manufacturing facilities or an increase in the operation levels of existing facilities, or some combination of the two scenarios, it is assumed that existing and new manufacturing facilities would be located in areas zoned for industrial uses, where noise-sensitive receptors would not be expected to be impacted, and where higher noise levels are permitted.

Similarly, the proposed ordinance could potentially result in an increase in demand for reusable bags, subsequently leading to a potential increase in the number of vehicles transporting and facilities manufacturing reusable bags. It is anticipated that any potential increase in the number of vehicles transporting reusable bags would not likely be on a scale that would be large enough to result in a discernable change in noise levels around roadways in areas in and around the unincorporated areas of the County. The facilities would also be required to comply with the relevant local or County noise ordinances. Consequently, any increase in ambient noise levels would not be considered a significant impact. Therefore, the proposed ordinance would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to noise in relation to permanent increases in ambient noise levels, and no further analysis is warranted.

# Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to noise in relation to permanent increases in ambient noise levels. The proposed ordinance would be expected to result in a significant reduction in the consumption of plastic carryout bags and to significantly increase the use of reusable bags within the incorporated cities of the County. As previously discussed, lower demand for plastic bags would likely result in either a decrease in the number of plastic bag manufacturing facilities or a decrease in the operation of existing facilities. While the proposed ordinances would likely result in either an increase in the number of paper bag manufacturing facilities or an increase in the operation levels of existing facilities, or some combination of the two scenarios, it is assumed that existing and new manufacturing facilities would be located in areas zoned for industrial uses, where noise-sensitive receptors would not be expected to be impacted, and where higher noise levels are permitted. Consequently, any increase in ambient noise levels would not be considered significant. The proposed ordinance could potentially result in an increase in demand for reusable bags, and subsequently lead to a potential increase in the number of vehicles transporting and facilities manufacturing reusable bags. It is anticipated that any potential increase in the number of vehicles transporting reusable bags would not be on a scale that would be large enough to result in a discernable change in noise levels around roadways in areas in and around the incorporated areas of the County. The facilities would be required to comply with the relevant local or County noise ordinances. Therefore, the proposed ordinances would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to noise in relation to permanent increases in ambient noise levels, and no further analysis is warranted.

(d) A substantial temporary or periodic increase in ambient noise levels in the project vicinity about levels existing without the project?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to noise in relation to temporary or periodic increases in ambient noise levels. The proposed ordinance would not

include components that would be sources of temporary or periodic noise. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to noise related to temporary or periodic increases in ambient noise levels, and no further analysis is warranted.

## Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to noise in relation to temporary or periodic increases in ambient noise levels. The proposed ordinances would not include components that would be sources of temporary or periodic noise. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to noise related to temporary or periodic increases in ambient noise levels, and no further analysis is warranted.

(e) For a project located within an airport land use plan or, where such a plan has not been adopted, within two miles of a public airport or public use airport, would the project expose people residing or working in the project area to excessive noise levels?

# Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to noise in relation to public airports. The proposed ordinance would not require people to be located or to work near any public airport. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to noise related to public airports, and no further analysis is warranted.

## Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to noise in relation to public airports. The proposed ordinances would not require people to be located or to work near any public airport. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to noise related to public airports, and no further analysis is warranted.

(f) For a project within the vicinity of a private airstrip, would the project expose people residing or working in the project area to excessive noise levels?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to noise in relation to private airstrips. The proposed ordinance would not require people to be located or to work near any private airstrips. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to noise related to private airstrips, and no further analysis is warranted.

## Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to noise in relation to private airstrips. The proposed ordinances would not require people to be located or to work near any private airstrips. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to noise related to private airstrips, and no further analysis is warranted.

## 3.13 POPULATION AND HOUSING

This analysis is undertaken to determine if the proposed ordinances may have a significant impact to population and housing, thus requiring the consideration of mitigation measures or alternatives in accordance with Section 15063 of the State CEQA Guidelines.<sup>1</sup> Population and housing within the County, which would be subject to the proposed ordinance, was evaluated with regard to state, regional, and local data and forecasts for population and housing, and the proximity of the County to existing and future planned utility infrastructure.

The State CEQA Guidelines recommend the consideration of three questions when addressing the potential for significant impacts to population and housing.

Would the proposed ordinances:

(a) Induce substantial population growth in an area, either directly (for example, by proposing new homes and businesses) or indirectly (for example, through extension of roads or other infrastructure)?

#### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to population and housing in relation to inducing substantial direct or indirect population growth. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued at certain stores within the unincorporated territories of the County. As such, the proposed ordinance would not be anticipated to increase the demand for new housing, nor would it be expected to increase the quantity of new homes and businesses constructed. In addition, the proposed ordinance would not entail construction of infrastructure in areas not currently served by existing roads and utilities. As determined in the LACDPW staff report on plastic bags, the expansive and lightweight characteristics of plastic bags allow them to be carried by wind to become entangled in brush, tossed along freeways, and caught on fences throughout the County, thereby causing a visual impact to the surrounding areas.<sup>2</sup> The proposed ordinance would be expected to reduce the occurrence of fly-away plastic bag litter and consequently to improve the visual quality of the areas that are accessible and visible to sensitive receptors such as residences, schools, churches, and recreational areas. Furthermore, the distinct white or bright colors of plastic bags, and the difficulty of collecting the bags, cause a greater visual evesore than other materials. The aesthetic and economic value associated with an increase in visual quality of the areas as viewed from such sensitive receptors could potentially induce a minor migration of individuals into these areas. However, it is expected that population growth within the jurisdictional areas for the proposed ordinance would remain consistent with the existing population growth projection for the County because the proposed ordinance would not entail development or other features that would be expected to shift or influence the growth or migration rates within the unincorporated territories of the County. Migration is a basic component of observed population growth, of which a majority of people relocate for housing-related reasons.<sup>3</sup> It is unlikely then that the proposed ordinance would be a contributor to population growth within the unincorporated areas of the County.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Division 6, Chapter 3, Sections 15000–15387, Appendix G.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. *An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors*. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> U.S. Census Bureau. 2000. *Population Profile of the United States: 2000.* 

According to data obtained from the California Department of Finance, the population of the unincorporated territories of the County was estimated to be 1,083,392 in 2008, and in 2009 added 8,586 residents, which represents an annual average growth rate of approximately 0.79 percent,<sup>4</sup> indicating a limited projected population growth. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to population and housing related to inducing substantial direct or indirect population growth. No further analysis is warranted.

## **Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles**

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to population and housing in relation to inducing substantial direct or indirect population growth. The proposed ordinances would not be expected to cause an increase in demand for new housing, nor would it be expected to increase the quantity of new homes and businesses constructed within the 88 cities that govern the incorporated cities of the County. In addition, the proposed ordinances would not entail construction of infrastructure in areas not currently served by existing roads and utilities. As such, it would be expected that population growth in the incorporated cities of the County would remain consistent with the existing population growth projection for the County. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to population and housing related to inducing substantial direct or indirect population growth. No further analysis is warranted.

(b) Displace substantial numbers of existing housing, necessitating the construction of replacement housing elsewhere?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to population and housing in relation to the displacement of substantial amounts of existing housing that would necessitate construction of replacement housing elsewhere. The proposed ordinance would aim to curb the amount of litter that can be attributed to plastic carryout bags within the unincorporated territories of the County and it would not contain any components that would result in the displacement of existing housing. The unincorporated areas that would be affected by the proposed ordinance provide residences and employment for approximately 1 million people in the County.<sup>5</sup> The implementation of the proposed ordinance would not be expected to lead to an increase in population, but rather would be expected to be consistent with the County's projected population and projected population growth in the County and thus would not necessitate construction of replacement housing elsewhere. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to population and housing related to the displacement of substantial amounts of existing housing as a result of the proposed ordinance. No further analysis is warranted.

#### **Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles**

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to population and housing in relation to the displacement of substantial amounts of existing housing that would necessitate the construction of replacement housing elsewhere. The proposed ordinances would not be expected

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> State of California Department of Finance. May 2009. E-4 Population Estimates for Cities, Counties and the State, 2001–2009, with 2000 Benchmark. Sacramento, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> County of Los Angeles. Accessed June 2009. *Unincorporated Areas*. County of Los Angeles Web site. Available at: http://portal.lacounty.gov/

to result in the displacement of existing housing. The implementation of the proposed ordinances would not be expected to lead to an increase in population, but rather would be expected to be consistent with the projected population growth for the 88 incorporated cities of the County. As such, existing housing is anticipated to accommodate the present population and projected population growth in these areas, and thus would not necessitate the construction of replacement housing elsewhere. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to population and housing related to the displacement of substantial amounts of existing housing as a result of the proposed ordinance. No further analysis is warranted.

(c) Displace substantial numbers of people, necessitating the construction of replacement housing elsewhere?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to population and housing in relation to the displacement of substantial numbers of people that would necessitate the construction of replacement housing elsewhere. The proposed ordinance would limit the amount of litter that can be attributed to plastic carryout bags within the unincorporated territories of the County and would not contain any components that would result in the displacement of substantial numbers of people. The implementation of the proposed ordinance would not be expected to lead to an increase in population, but rather would be expected to be consistent with the County's projected population growth. As such, existing housing would accommodate the projected County population growth and would not necessitate the construction of replacement housing elsewhere. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to population and housing related to the displacement of substantial numbers of people. No further analysis is warranted.

## **Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles**

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to population and housing in relation to the displacement of substantial numbers of people that would necessitate construction of replacement housing elsewhere. The implementation of the proposed ordinances would not be expected to lead to an increase in the population of the 88 incorporated cities of the County; the proposed ordinances would be expected to be consistent with the projected population growth for these areas. As such, existing housing would accommodate the projected growth in population in the County and would not necessitate the construction of replacement housing elsewhere. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to population and housing related to the displacement of substantial numbers of people. No further analysis is warranted.
### 3.14 PUBLIC SERVICES

This analysis is undertaken to determine if the proposed ordinances may have a significant impact to public services, thus requiring the consideration of mitigation measures or alternatives, in accordance with Section 15063 of the State CEQA Guidelines.<sup>1</sup> Public services within the County, which would be subject to the proposed ordinances, were evaluated based on review of the County of Los Angeles General Plan,<sup>2</sup> the County Web site,<sup>3</sup> Web sites of the County police and fire departments,<sup>4,5</sup> and previously completed environmental documentation related to the proposed ordinances.

The State CEQA Guidelines recommend the consideration of one question when addressing the potential for significant impact to public services.

Would the proposed ordinances result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision of new or physically altered governmental facilities, need for new or physically altered governmental facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental impacts, in order to maintain acceptable service ratios, response times or other performance objectives for any of the public services:

(1) Fire protection?

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to public services in relation to fire protection. As determined in Section 3.12 of this Initial Study, the proposed ordinance would not be anticipated to contribute to significant population growth in the County, and would not include the provision of new or physically altered fire protection services. Implementation of the proposed ordinance would be expected to improve the visual quality of areas of the unincorporated of the Countv that are accessible and visible to sensitive receptors-residences, schools, churches, and recreational areas-due to the anticipated reduction of plastic bag litter in those areas. The aesthetic and economic value associated with the anticipated increase in the visual quality of the areas as viewed from sensitive receptors could potentially induce migration of individuals into these areas. However, it is anticipated that population growth within the unincorporated territories of the County would remain consistent with the current population growth projection for the County. Migration is a basic component of observed population growth, with a majority of people relocating for housing-related reasons.<sup>6</sup> The proposed ordinance would not entail development or other features that would be expected to shift or influence the growth or migration rates within the unincorporated territories of the County. Therefore, the proposed ordinance would not be expected to affect population growth or migration

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Division 6, Chapter 3, Sections 15000–15387, Appendix G.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> County of Los Angeles. Accessed June 2009. *Unincorporated Areas*. County of Los Angeles Web site. Available at: http://portal.lacounty.gov/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department. Accessed August 2009. Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department Web site. Available at: http://www.lasd.org/lasdservices.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Los Angeles County Fire Department. Accessed 6 July 2009. Los Angeles County Fire Department Web site. Available at: http://www.fire.lacounty.gov/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> U.S. Census Bureau. 2000. Population Profile of the United States: 2000.

within the unincorporated territories of the County, and thus would not be expected to increase the need for fire protection services or related facilities.

According to data obtained from the California Department of Finance, the population of the unincorporated territories of the County was estimated to be 1,083,392 in 2008, with the addition of 8,586 residents in 2009, representing an annual average growth rate of approximately 0.79 percent.<sup>7</sup> Implementation of the proposed ordinance would not be expected to affect the County's current growth rate projection, and thus would not be anticipated to overburden existing fire protection facilities or to interfere with service benchmarks, response times, or other performance objectives related to fire protection. As a result, it is anticipated that existing fire protection services would be adequate to support the projected population growth of the unincorporated territories of the County, and no additional fire protection facilities would be required. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to public services related to fire protection, and no further analysis is warranted.

## Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to public services in relation to fire protection. As previously discussed, the proposed ordinances would not be anticipated to contribute to significant population growth in the County, and would not include the provision of new or physically altered fire protection services. According to data obtained from the California Department of Finance, the population of the incorporated cities of the County was estimated to be 9,218,266 in 2008, with the addition of 82,941 residents in 2009, representing an annual average growth rate of approximately 0.90 percent.<sup>8</sup> The aesthetic and economic value associated with the anticipated increase in the visual quality of these areas could potentially induce migration of individuals into these areas. However, it is anticipated that population growth within the incorporated cities of the County would remain consistent with the existing population growth projection for the County. Moreover, the proposed ordinances would not entail development or other features that would be expected to shift or influence the growth or migration rates within the incorporated cities of the County. Therefore, the proposed ordinances would not be expected to affect population growth or migration within the incorporated cities of the County, and thus would not be expected to increase the need for fire protection services or related facilities. Therefore, there would be no anticipated impacts to public services related to fire protection, and no further analysis is warranted.

(2) Police protection?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to public services in relation to police protection. As determined in Section 3.12 of this Initial Study, the proposed ordinance would not be anticipated to contribute to the County's projected population growth and would not include or require the provision of new or physically altered facilities for police protection services. Implementation of the proposed ordinance would be anticipated to improve the visual quality of areas of the unincorporated territories of the County that are accessible and visible to sensitive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> State of California Department of Finance. May 2009. E-4 Population Estimates for Cities, Counties and the State, 2001–2009, with 2000 Benchmark. Sacramento, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> State of California Department of Finance. May 2009. E-4 Population Estimates for Cities, Counties and the State, 2001–2009, with 2000 Benchmark. Sacramento, CA.

receptors-residences, schools, churches, and recreational areas-due to the anticipated reduction of plastic bag litter in those areas. The aesthetic and economic value associated with an increase in the visual quality of the areas as viewed from sensitive receptors could potentially induce migration of individuals into these areas. However, the population growth within the unincorporated territories of the County would be expected to remain consistent with the current County population growth projection. Migration is a basic component of observed population growth, with a majority of people relocating for housing-related reasons.<sup>9</sup> The proposed ordinance would not entail any development or other features that would be expected to shift or influence the growth or migration rates within the unincorporated territories the County. It would not be anticipated that the proposed ordinance would contribute to population growth or migration within the unincorporated territories of the County and thus would not be expected to affect the need for police protection.

According to data obtained from the California Department of Finance, the population of the unincorporated territories of the County was estimated to be 1,083,392 in 2008, with the addition of 8,586 residents in 2009, representing an annual average growth rate of approximately 0.79 percent.<sup>10</sup> Implementation of the proposed ordinance would not be expected to affect the projected population change in relation to this average growth rate, and thus it would not be anticipated to overburden existing police protection facilities or to interfere with service benchmarks, response times, or other performance objectives for police protection services. As a result, it is anticipated that existing police protection services would be adequate to support the projected population growth of the unincorporated territories of the County, and no additional police protection or related facilities would be required. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to public services related to police protection, and no further analysis is warranted.

# **Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles**

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to public services in relation to police protection. The proposed ordinances would not entail any development or other features that would be expected to shift or influence population growth within the incorporated cities of the County. The proposed ordinances would not be expected to contribute to population growth or migration within the incorporated cities of the County and thus would not be expected to increase the need for police protection. As a result, it is anticipated that existing police protection services would be adequate to support the projected population growth of the incorporated cities of the County, and no additional police protection or related facilities would be required. Therefore, there would be no anticipated impacts to public services related to police protection, and no further analysis is warranted.

(3) Schools?

# Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to public services in relation to schools. As determined in Section 3.12 of this Initial Study, the proposed ordinance is not anticipated to contribute to the County's projected population growth. The proposed ordinance would not include or be expected to require the provision of new or physically altered

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> U.S. Census Bureau. 2000. *Population Profile of the United States: 2000.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> State of California Department of Finance. May 2009. *E-4 Population Estimates for Cities, Counties and the State, 2001–2009, with 2000 Benchmark*. Sacramento, CA.

governmental facilities related to schools. Implementation of the proposed ordinance would be anticipated to improve the visual quality of areas of the unincorporated territories the County that are accessible and visible to sensitive receptors-residences, schools, churches, and recreational areas-due to the anticipated reduction of plastic bag litter in those areas. The aesthetic and economic value associated with an increase in the visual quality of these areas as viewed from sensitive receptors could potentially induce migration of individuals and families into these areas. However, it is anticipated that population growth within the unincorporated territories of the County would remain consistent with the currently projected population growth for the County. As noted, migration is a basic component of observed population growth, with a majority of people relocating for housing-related reasons.<sup>11</sup> The proposed ordinance would not entail development of structures or other features that would be expected to shift or influence the growth or migration rates within the unincorporated territories of the County. It would not be expected that the proposed ordinance would contribute to population growth or migration within the unincorporated territories of the County. It would not be expected that the proposed ordinance would contribute to population growth or migration within the unincorporated territories of the County. It would not be expected that the proposed ordinance would contribute to population growth or migration within the unincorporated territories of the County, and thus would not be expected to create an additional demand for schools or related facilities.

As previously stated, according to data obtained from the California Department of Finance, the population of the unincorporated territories of the County was estimated to be 1,083,392 in 2008, with the addition of 8,586 residents in 2009, representing an annual average growth rate of approximately 0.79 percent.<sup>12</sup> Implementation of the proposed ordinance would not be expected to affect the County's current or projected average growth rates, and thus would not be anticipated to contribute to the exceedance of existing school facility capacities or to prevent the attainment or maintenance of school-related performance objectives. As a result, it would be expected that the services provided by the Los Angeles Unified School District as well as other educational facilities would be adequate to support the projected population growth of the County, including areas within the unincorporated territories of the County, and no additional schools would be required. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to public services related to schools, and no further analysis is warranted.

## Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to public services in relation to schools. It is anticipated that population growth within the incorporated cities of the County would remain consistent with the currently projected population growth for the County. The proposed ordinances would not entail any development or other features that would be expected to shift or influence the growth or migration rates within the incorporated cities of the County. It would not be expected that the proposed ordinances would contribute to population growth or migration within the incorporated areas of the County, and thus would not be expected to create an additional demand for schools or related facilities. As a result, it would be expected that the services provided by the Los Angeles Unified School District as well as other educational facilities would be adequate to support the projected population growth of the County, including areas within the incorporated cities of the County, and no additional schools would be required. Therefore, there would be no anticipated impacts to public services related to schools, and no further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> U.S. Census Bureau. 2000. *Population Profile of the United States: 2000.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> State of California Department of Finance. May 2009. E-4 Population Estimates for Cities, Counties and the State, 2001–2009, with 2000 Benchmark. Sacramento, CA.

(4) Parks?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to public services in relation to parks. As determined in Section 3.12 of this Initial Study, the proposed ordinance would not be anticipated to affect the projected population growth in the County, and would not include the provision of new or physically altered governmental facilities related to parks. As previously mentioned, implementation of the proposed ordinance would be anticipated to improve the visual guality of areas of the unincorporated territories of the County that are accessible and visible to sensitive receptors-residences, schools, churches, and recreational areas-due to the anticipated reduction of plastic bag litter in those areas. The aesthetic and economic value associated with an expected increase in the visual quality of the areas as viewed from sensitive receptors could potentially induce migration of individuals into these areas. However, it is anticipated that population growth within the unincorporated territories of the County would remain consistent with the current County population growth projection. Migration is a basic component of observed population growth, with a majority of people relocating for housing-related reasons.<sup>13</sup> The proposed ordinance would not entail development or other features that would be expected to shift or influence the growth or migration rates within the unincorporated territories of the County. It would not be expected that the proposed ordinance would significantly contribute to population growth or migration within the unincorporated territories of the County.

The currently projected population change according to the average growth rate noted in the two previous responses would not be anticipated to lead to the exceedance of existing park facility capacities with the implementation of the proposed ordinance, as the proposed ordinance would not expected to affect population. As such, existing local and regional parks within the County would be expected to adequately accommodate the projected population growth of the unincorporated territories of the County, and no additional parks would be required. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts resulting from the proposed ordinance to public services related to parks, and no further analysis is warranted.

## **Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles**

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to public services in relation to parks. As previously discussed, the proposed ordinances would not be anticipated to affect population growth in the County, and would not include the provision of new or physically altered governmental facilities related to parks. It is anticipated that population growth within the incorporated cities of the County would remain consistent with the current population growth projection for the County. The proposed ordinances do not entail development or other features that would be expected to shift or influence the growth or migration rates within the incorporated cities of the County. It would not be expected that the proposed ordinance would significantly contribute to population growth or migration within the incorporated cities of the County. As such, existing local and regional parks within the County would be expected to adequately accommodate the projected population growth of the incorporated cities of the County, and no additional parks would be required. Therefore, there would be no anticipated impacts resulting from the proposed ordinance to public services related to parks, and no further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> U.S. Census Bureau. 2000. Population Profile of the United States: 2000.

(5) Other public facilities?

# Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to public services in relation to other public facilities. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores in the unincorporated territories of the County and would not entail any development or features that would be expected to affect population growth in the County in such a way that it would lead to an increase in the demand for and use of public facilities. Furthermore, the proposed ordinance would not include elements that would directly or indirectly require residential development or the construction of public facilities. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to public services related to other public facilities, and no further analysis is warranted.

# Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to public services in relation to other public facilities. The proposed ordinances would not entail any development or features that would be expected to affect population growth in the incorporated cities of the County in such a way that it would lead to an increase in the demand for and use of other public facilities. Furthermore, the proposed ordinances do not include elements that would directly or indirectly require residential development or the construction of public facilities. Therefore, there would be no anticipated impacts to public services related to other public facilities, and no further analysis is warranted.

### 3.15 RECREATION

This analysis is undertaken to determine if the proposed ordinances may have a significant impact to recreation, thus requiring the consideration of mitigation measures or alternatives in accordance with Section 15063 of the State CEQA Guidelines.<sup>1</sup> Recreation within the County, which would be subject to the proposed ordinances, was evaluated with regard to the County of Los Angeles General Plan,<sup>2</sup> expert opinion, and technical studies, and in consideration of the potential for growth-inducing impacts evaluated in Section 3.12, Population and Housing, of this Initial Study.

The State CEQA Guidelines recommend the consideration of two questions when addressing the potential for significant impacts to recreation:

(a) Would the proposed ordinances increase the use of existing neighborhood and regional parks or other recreational facilities such that substantial physical deterioration of the facility would occur or be accelerated?

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to recreation in relation to the increased use of existing neighborhood and regional parks or other recreational facilities that would contribute to their physical deterioration. A review of the Conservation, Open Space, and Recreation elements of the County of Los Angeles General Plan indicates that 71,800 acres of existing open space in the County consist of public and private land utilized for outdoor recreation.<sup>3</sup> This land area includes, but is not limited to, 67 local parks, 17 community regional parks, and 10 regional parks.<sup>4</sup> As such, the County's recreational resources are varied and extensive, where the National Forests and Santa Catalina Island are the largest recreational areas in the County. The proposed ordinance would not contain any components that would increase or impact the demand for the existing recreational facilities. As such, it is expected that existing recreational facilities would be able to support the present and future needs of residents and visitors to the County. This is supported by Section 3.12 of this Initial Study, which states that the proposed ordinance would not be expected to cause an increase in residents or visitors because the proposed ordinance would not entail development or other features that would be expected to shift or influence the growth or migration rates within the unincorporated territories of the County. Furthermore, the proposed ordinance, which would aim to significantly reduce the amount of litter that can be attributed to the use of plastic carryout bags, would likely lead to the improved aesthetic appearance and opportunities of recreational facilities, because, as found in the County staff report on plastic bags, due to their expansive and lightweight characteristics, plastic bags are easily carried by wind to become entangled in brush, tossed along freeways, and caught on fences throughout the County.<sup>5</sup> Furthermore, the distinct white or bright colors of plastic bags and the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Division 6, Chapter 3, Sections 15000–15387, Appendix G.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Parks and Recreation. 2007. *Department of Parks and Recreation Annual Report* 2005–2006 County of Los Angeles. Los Angeles, CA. Available at:

http://parks.lacounty.gov/cms1\_069242.pdf?Title = 2005-2006%20Annual%20Report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

difficulty of collecting the bags cause a greater visual eyesore than other materials when they are improperly disposed of. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to recreation related to increased use of existing neighborhood and regional parks or other recreational facilities that would contribute to the physical deterioration of existing facilities. No further analysis is warranted.

# Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to recreation in relation to the increased use of existing neighborhood and regional parks or other recreational facilities that would contribute to their physical deterioration. The proposed ordinances would not contain any components that would increase or impact the demand for the existing recreational facilities. As such, it is expected that existing recreational facilities would be adequate to support the present and future needs of residents and visitors to the County. Therefore, the proposed ordinances would not require any changes to the established existing neighborhood and regional parks or other recreational facilities such that substantial physical deterioration of the facility would occur or be accelerated. No further analysis is warranted.

(b) Do the proposed ordinances include recreational facilities or require the construction or expansion of recreational facilities which might have an adverse physical effect on the environment?

# Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in adverse physical effects on the environment as a result of existing recreational facilities or proposed construction or expansion of recreational facilities. Section 3.12 of this Initial Study concluded that although it would be expected that the implementation of the proposed ordinance would improve the visual quality of the areas accessible and visible to sensitive receptors, such as residences, schools, churches, and recreational areas, the projected population growth would remain consistent with the existing growth rates. The proposed ordinance would not increase or impact the demand for the existing recreational facilities. As such, it is expected that existing recreational facilities would be able to support the present and future needs of residents and visitors to the County. The proposed ordinance would aim to limit the amount of litter that can be attributed to the use of plastic carryout bags within the unincorporated territories of the County, and it would not include construction or expansion of recreational facilities. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to recreational facilities or proposed construction or expansion of recreational facilities. No further analysis is warranted.

# Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in adverse physical effects on the environment as a result of existing recreational facilities or proposed construction or expansion of recreational facilities. The proposed ordinances would not increase or impact the demand for the existing recreational facilities. As such, it is expected that existing recreational facilities would be able to support the present and future needs of residents and visitors to the County. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to recreation related to adverse physical effects on the environment as a result of existing recreational facilities or proposed construction or expansion of recreational facilities. No further analysis is warranted.

### 3.16 TRANSPORTATION AND TRAFFIC

This analysis is undertaken to determine if the proposed ordinances may have a significant impact to transportation and traffic, thus requiring the consideration of mitigation measures or alternatives, in accordance with Section 15063 of the State CEQA Guidelines.<sup>1</sup> Transportation and traffic related to the proposed ordinances were evaluated with regard to the Circulation element of the County of Los Angeles General Plan,<sup>2</sup> the Congestion Management Plan for the County,<sup>3</sup> and Caltrans.<sup>4</sup>

The State CEQA Guidelines recommend the consideration of seven questions when addressing the potential for significant impact to transportation and traffic.

Would the proposed ordinances:

(a) Cause an increase in traffic which is substantial in relation to the existing traffic load and capacity of the street system (i.e., result in a substantial increase in either the number of vehicle trips, the volume to capacity ratio on roads, or congestion at intersections)?

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to transportation and traffic related to creating a substantial increase in traffic in relation to the existing traffic load and capacity of the street system. The proposed ordinance would aim to significantly reduce the amount of litter in the unincorporated territories of the County that can be attributed to the use of plastic carryout bags, which would potentially lead to a reduction in the amount of waste transported throughout the County. Although certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to increase the number of paper carryout bags used, disposed of, and transported throughout the County,<sup>5</sup> the proposed ordinance would also be expected to facilitate an increase in the use of reusable bags, thereby resulting in a reduction in the total number of carryout bags used, disposed of, and transported throughout the County compared to existing conditions. In addition, a decrease in the number of plastic carryout bags delivered throughout the County would be expected to further reduce the volume of traffic related to the transportation of plastic bags. As a result, the proposed ordinance would not be expected to generate any vehicle trips that would contribute to the existing traffic within the County, and may have the potential to reduce the number of vehicle trips caused by the transportation of plastic carryout bag waste throughout the County. Therefore, the proposed ordinance would not be expected to increase vehicle/capacity ratio or level of service (LOS) at any of the streets, highways, or intersections located throughout the County. Therefore, impacts related to transportation and traffic related to creating a substantial increase in traffic would be expected to be less than significant, and no further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Division 6, Chapter 3, Sections 15000–15387, Appendix G.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> County of Los Angeles Metropolitan Transportation Authority. 2004. 2004 Congestion Management Program for Los Angeles County. Los Angeles, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> California Department of Transportation. Web site. Available at: http://www.dot.ca.gov/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

The proposed ordinances would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to transportation and traffic related to creating a substantial increase in traffic in relation to the existing traffic load and capacity of the street system. The proposed ordinances would aim to significantly reduce the amount of litter in the incorporated cities of the County that can be attributed to the use of plastic carryout bags, which would potentially lead to a reduction in the amount of waste transported throughout the incorporated cities of the County. Although certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in an increase in the number of paper carryout bags used, disposed of, and transported throughout the County,<sup>6</sup> the proposed ordinances would also serve to facilitate an increase in the use of reusable bags, thereby resulting in a reduction in the total number of carryout bags used, disposed of, and transported throughout the County compared to existing conditions. In addition, a decrease in the number of plastic carryout bags delivered throughout the County would further reduce the volume of traffic related to the transportation of bags. As a result, the proposed ordinances would not be expected to generate any vehicle trips that would contribute to the existing volume of traffic within the County, and would have the potential to reduce the number of vehicle trips generated during the transportation of plastic carryout bag waste throughout the County. Therefore, the proposed ordinances would be expected to increase vehicle/capacity ratio or LOS at any of the streets, highways, or intersections located throughout the incorporated cities of the County. Therefore, impacts to transportation and traffic related to creating a substantial increase in traffic would be expected to be less than significant, and no further analysis is warranted.

(b) Exceed, either individually or cumulatively, a level of service standard established by the county congestion management agency for designated roads or highways?

#### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to transportation and traffic in relation to exceeding, either individually or cumulatively, an LOS standard established by the County congestion management agency for designated roads or highways. The proposed ordinance would aim to significantly reduce the amount of litter that can be attributed to the use of plastic carryout bags, which would have the potential to lead to a reduction in the amount of waste transported throughout the County. Although certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in an increase in the number of paper carryout bags used, disposed of, and transported throughout the County,<sup>7</sup> the proposed ordinance would be expected to facilitate an increase in the use of reusable bags, thereby resulting in an expected reduction in the total number of carryout bags used, disposed of, and transported throughout the County compared to existing conditions. In addition, a decrease in the number of plastic carryout bags being delivered throughout the County would further reduce the volume of traffic related to the transportation of bags. The County congestion management

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

program set the threshold for arterial roadways to achieve an LOS E or above.<sup>8</sup> The proposed ordinance would not directly generate new or additional trips as it is not anticipated to increase development in the unincorporated areas of the County more than would be expected without the proposed ordinance. The proposed ordinance may have the potential to reduce the amount of vehicle trips caused by transporting plastic bag waste throughout the County. Therefore, the proposed ordinance would not serve to increase LOS at any of the streets, highways, or intersections located throughout the County. There would be no expected adverse impacts to transportation and traffic related to exceeding an LOS standard established by the County congestion management agency for designated roads or highways, and no further analysis is warranted.

### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to transportation and traffic in relation to exceeding, either individually or cumulatively, an LOS standard established by the County congestion management agency for designated roads or highways. The proposed ordinances would aim to significantly reduce the amount of litter that can be attributed to the use of plastic carryout bags, which would have the potential to lead to a reduced amount of waste transported throughout the incorporated cities of the County. As previously noted, although certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in an increase in the number of paper carryout bags used, disposed of, and transported throughout the County,<sup>9</sup> the proposed ordinances would be expected to facilitate an increase in the use of reusable bags, thereby resulting in a reduction in the total number of carryout bags used, disposed of, and transported throughout the County compared to existing conditions. In addition, a decrease in the amount of plastic carryout bags being delivered throughout the County would further reduce the volume of traffic related to the transportation of bags. The County congestion management program set the threshold for arterial roadways to achieve an LOS E or above.<sup>10</sup> The proposed ordinances would not directly generate new or additional trips as it is not anticipated to increase development in the incorporated areas of the County more than would be expected without the proposed ordinances. The proposed ordinances would have the potential to reduce the number of vehicle trips generated by transporting plastic bag waste throughout the County. Therefore, the proposed ordinances would not be expected to increase LOS at any of the streets, highways, or intersections located throughout the incorporated cities of the County. There would be no expected adverse impacts to transportation and traffic related to exceeding an LOS standard established by the County congestion management agency for designated roads or highways, and no further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> County of Los Angeles Metropolitan Transportation Authority. 2004. 2004 Congestion Management Program for Los Angeles County. Los Angeles, CA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> County of Los Angeles Metropolitan Transportation Authority. 2004. 2004 Congestion Management Program for Los Angeles County. Los Angeles, CA.

(c) Result in a change in air traffic patterns, including either an increase in traffic levels or a change in location that results in substantial safety risks?

# Unincorporated territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to transportation and traffic in relation to a change in air traffic patterns, including either an increase in traffic levels or a change in location that results in substantial safety risks. The proposed ordinance would not include any direct development, and as such it would not entail elements that would be located near a private or public airport. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and it would not result in any direct or indirect effects upon air traffic patterns. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to transportation and traffic related to a change in air traffic patterns that would result in substantial safety risks, and no further analysis is warranted.

# Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to transportation and traffic in relation to a change in air traffic patterns, including either an increase in traffic levels or a change in location that results in substantial safety risks. The proposed ordinances would not include any direct development, and as such they would not entail elements that would be located near a private or public airport. The proposed ordinances would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and it would not be expected to result in any direct or indirect impacts to air traffic patterns. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to transportation and traffic related to a change in air traffic patterns that would result in substantial safety risks, and no further analysis is warranted.

(d) Substantially increase hazards due to a design feature (e.g., sharp curves or dangerous intersections) or incompatible uses (e.g., farm equipment)?

# Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to transportation and traffic in relation to substantially increasing hazards due to a design feature or incompatible uses. The proposed ordinance would not include any development. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and it would not entail elements that require construction, and thus would not result in any direct or indirect effects upon increasing hazards due to a design feature. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to transportation and traffic related to substantially increasing hazards due to a design feature, and no further analysis is warranted.

# Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to transportation and traffic in relation to substantially increasing hazards due to a design feature or incompatible uses. The proposed ordinances would not include any development. The proposed ordinances would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores, which would not entail elements that require construction, and thus would not result in any direct or indirect effects upon increasing hazards due to a design feature. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to transportation and traffic related to substantially increasing hazards due to a design feature, and no further analysis is warranted.

(e) Result in inadequate emergency access?

# Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to transportation and traffic in relation to inadequate emergency access. The proposed ordinance would not include any development. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores, and would not be expected to result in any direct or indirect effects upon the availability of emergency access as the proposed ordinance would not include elements that would require or alter the availability of or access to any emergency route within the unincorporated territories of the County. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to transportation and traffic related to inadequate emergency access, and no further analysis is warranted.

# Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to transportation and traffic in relation to inadequate emergency access. The proposed ordinances would not include any development. The proposed ordinances would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores, and would not be expected to result in any direct or indirect effects upon the availability of emergency access as the proposed ordinances would not include elements that would require or alter the availability of or access to any emergency route within the incorporated cities of the County. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to transportation and traffic related to inadequate emergency access, and no further analysis is warranted.

(f) Result in inadequate parking capacity?

# Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to transportation and traffic in relation to inadequate parking capacity. The proposed ordinance would not include any development. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not include any components that would be expected to result in any direct or indirect effects upon parking capacity within the unincorporated territories of the County. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to transportation and traffic related to inadequate parking capacity, and no further analysis is warranted.

# Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to transportation and traffic in relation to inadequate parking capacity. The proposed ordinances would not include any development. The proposed ordinances would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not include any components that would be expected to directly or indirectly affect parking capacity within the incorporated cities of the County. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to transportation and traffic related to inadequate parking capacity, and no further analysis is warranted.

(g) Conflict with adopted policies, plans, or programs supporting alternative transportation (e.g., bus turnouts, bicycle racks)?

# Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to transportation and traffic in relation to conflicts with adopted policies, plans, or programs supporting alternative transportation. The proposed ordinance would not include any development that would conflict with alternative transportation in the unincorporated areas of the County. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not include any components that would directly or indirectly affect adopted policies, plans, or programs supporting alternative transportation within the unincorporated territories of the County. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to transportation and traffic related to conflicts with adopted policies, plans, or programs supporting alternative transportation, and no further analysis is warranted.

# Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to transportation and traffic in relation to conflicts with adopted policies, plans, or programs supporting alternative transportation. The proposed ordinances would not include any development that would conflict with alternative transportation in the incorporated areas of the County. The proposed ordinances would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores and would not include any components that would be expected to directly or indirectly affect adopted policies, plans, or programs supporting alternative transportation within the incorporated cities of the County. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to transportation and traffic related to conflicts with adopted policies, plans, or programs supporting alternative transportation, and no further analysis is warranted.

### 3.17 UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS

This analysis is undertaken to determine if the proposed ordinances may have a significant impact to utilities and service systems, thus requiring the consideration of mitigation measures or alternatives, in accordance with Section 15063 of the State CEQA Guidelines.<sup>1</sup> Utilities and service systems within the County, which would be subject to the proposed ordinances, were evaluated with regard to the County of Los Angeles General Plan<sup>2</sup> and the California RWQCB Basin Plan for the Los Angeles Region. The scope of the utilities and service systems investigations included natural gas, telephone, electric, sewer, storm drain, and water utilities.

The State CEQA Guidelines recommend the consideration of seven questions when addressing the potential for significant impacts to utilities and service systems.

Would the proposed ordinances:

(a) Exceed wastewater treatment requirements of the applicable regional water quality control board?

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would be expected to result in a less than significant impact to utilities and service systems in relation to exceeding the wastewater treatment requirements of the Los Angeles RWQCB. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores within the unincorporated territories of the County. The proposed ordinance would be expected to result in a significant reduction in the consumption of plastic carryout bags and to significantly increase the use of reusable bags within the unincorporated territories of the County. Although certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in increased reliance on paper bags,<sup>3</sup> the proposed ordinance would facilitate an increase in the use of reusable bags, thereby resulting in a reduction in the total number of carryout bags consumed in the unincorporated territories of the County compared to existing conditions. In addition, although the proposed ordinance would be expected to lead to an increase in the number of reusable bags manufactured for use in the unincorporated territories of the County, the number of reusable bags required would be significantly lower than the number of plastic carryout bags currently consumed. Therefore, a reduction in the total consumption of plastic bags would be expected to decrease the amount of wastewater generated by bag manufacturing facilities. Further, a potential increase, if any, in the production of paper bags would not be expected to increase wastewater treatment requirements of the Los Angeles RWQCB. Any County project or facility is adjudicated by the Water Quality Control Plan for the Los Angeles Region (Basin Plan) for water resources and is required to comply with the relevant local or County wastewater regulations and ordinances. Therefore, impacts to utilities and service systems related to exceeding wastewater treatment requirements of the Los Angeles RWOCB would be expected to be less than significant, and no further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Division 6, Chapter 3, Sections 15000–15387, Appendix G.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). *Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan*. Los Angeles, California. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

The proposed ordinances would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to utilities and service systems in relation to exceeding the wastewater treatment requirements of the Los Angeles RWQCB. The proposed ordinances would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores within the incorporated cities of the County. The proposed ordinance would be expected to result in a significant reduction in the consumption of plastic carryout bags and to significantly increase the use of reusable bags within the incorporated cities of the County. Although certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in an increase in the reliance on paper bags,<sup>4</sup> the proposed ordinances would serve to facilitate an increase in the use of reusable bags in the long-term, thereby resulting in a reduction in the total number of carryout bags consumed in the incorporated cities of the County compared to existing conditions. In addition, although the proposed ordinances would be expected to lead to an increase in the number of reusable bags manufactured for use in the incorporated cities of the County, the number of reusable bags required would be significantly lower than the number of carryout bags currently consumed. A reduction in the total consumption of plastic bags would be expected to decrease the amount of wastewater generated by bag manufacturing facilities. Therefore, as with the unincorporated territories of the County, the proposed ordinances would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to utilities and service systems in the incorporated cities of the County in relation to exceeding the wastewater treatment requirements of the Los Angeles RWQCB, and no further analysis is warranted.

(b) Require or result in the construction of new water or wastewater treatment facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental effects?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to utilities and service systems in relation to the construction of new water or wastewater treatment facilities or expansion of facilities, causing significant environmental effects. The proposed ordinance would ban the plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores within the unincorporated territories of the County. The proposed ordinance would be expected to result in a significant reduction in the consumption of plastic carryout bags and to significantly increase the use of reusable bags within the unincorporated territories of the County. Although certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in an increase in the number of paper carryout bags,<sup>5</sup> the proposed ordinance would serve to facilitate an increase in the use of reusable bags in the long-term, thereby resulting in a reduction in the total number of carryout bags consumed in the County compared to existing conditions. In addition, although the proposed ordinance is expected to lead to an increase in the number of reusable bags manufactured for use in the County, the number of reusable bags required would be significantly lower that the number of carryout bags currently consumed. Therefore, a reduction in the total number of bags manufactured would be expected to lead to a decrease in the amount of wastewater generated by bag manufacturing facilities. A potential increase in the production of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

paper bags would not be expected to increase the requirement for water or wastewater treatment facilities. Any County project or facility is adjudicated by the Basin Plan for water resources and is required to comply with the relevant local or County wastewater regulations and ordinances. Therefore, there would be no expected impacts to utilities and service systems related to the construction of new water or wastewater treatment facilities or expansion of facilities that could cause significant environmental effects, and no further analysis is warranted.

### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to utilities and service systems in relation to the construction of new water or wastewater treatment facilities or expansion of facilities, causing significant environmental effects. The proposed ordinances would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores within the incorporated cities of the County. The proposed ordinance would be expected to result in a significant reduction in the consumption of plastic carryout bags and to significantly increase the use of reusable bags within the incorporated cities of the County. Although certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in an increase in the number of carryout paper bags consumed,<sup>6</sup> the proposed ordinances would serve to facilitate an increase in the use of reusable bags in the long-term, thereby resulting in a reduction in the total number of carryout bags consumed in the incorporated cities of the County compared to existing conditions. In addition, although the proposed ordinances are expected to lead to an increase in the number of reusable bags manufactured for use in the incorporated cities of the County, the number of reusable bags required would be significantly lower that the number of carryout bags currently consumed. Therefore, a reduction in the total number of bags manufactured would be expected to lead to a decrease in the amount of wastewater generated by bag manufacturing facilities. Therefore, as with the unincorporated territories of the County, there would be no expected impacts to utilities and service systems related to the construction of new water or wastewater treatment facilities or expansion of facilities that could cause significant environmental effects, and no further analysis is warranted.

(c) Require or result in the construction of new storm water drainage facilities or expansion of existing facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental impacts?

#### Unincorporated County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to utilities and service systems in relation to the construction of new storm water drainage facilities or expansion of existing facilities, which could cause significant environmental impacts. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores within the unincorporated territories of the County, which would not be expected to result in an increase in storm water runoff in the County. Plastic bags that end up in storm drain systems serve to impede the system's ability to channel storm water runoff.<sup>7</sup> Therefore, a reduction in the number of plastic bags used in the County would have the potential to lead to improvements in the efficiency of the currently existing storm water

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. *An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors*. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf.

drainage facilities. Although certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in an increase in the number of paper carryout bags disposed of,<sup>8</sup> paper bags are less likely to be littered and to end up in storm water runoff as they are heavier (paper bags have been noted to be anywhere between 6 to 10 times heavier than plastic bags) and also quickly biodegrade, even if littered, and therefore less likely to become airborne and scattered throughout the areas that would be subject to the proposed ordinance.<sup>9</sup> Therefore, there would be no expected adverse impacts to utilities and service systems related to the construction of new storm water drainage facilities or expansion of existing facilities, which could cause significant environmental impacts, and no further analysis is warranted.

### Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to utilities and service systems in relation to the construction of new storm water drainage facilities or expansion of existing facilities, which could cause significant environmental impacts. The proposed ordinances would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores within the incorporated cities of the County, which would not be expected to result in an increase in storm water runoff in the incorporated cities of the County. Plastic bags that end up in storm drain systems serve to impede the system's ability to channel storm water runoff.<sup>10</sup> Therefore, a reduction in the number of plastic bags used in the incorporated cities of the County would have the potential to lead to improvements in the efficiency of the currently existing storm water drainage facilities. Although certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in an increase in the number of paper carryout bags disposed of,<sup>11</sup> paper bags are less likely to be littered and to end up in storm water runoff as they are heavier (paper bags have been noted to be anywhere between 6 to 10 times heavier than plastic bags) and also quickly biodegrade, even if littered and therefore less likely to become airborne and scattered throughout the areas served by the proposed ordinances.<sup>12</sup> Therefore, there would be no expected adverse impacts to utilities and service systems related to the construction of new storm water drainage facilities or expansion of existing facilities, which could cause significant environmental impacts, and no further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *Scottish Executive 2005 Environment Group Research Report (2005/06)*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent486.aspx or

http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/57346/0016899.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *Scottish Executive 2005 Environment Group Research Report (2005/06)*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent486.aspx or http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/57346/0016899.pdf

(d) Have sufficient water supplies available to serve the project from existing entitlements and resources, or are new or expanded entitlements needed?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to utilities and service systems in relation to having sufficient water supplies available to serve the unincorporated territories within the County from existing entitlements and resources, or having new expanded entitlements needed. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores within the unincorporated territories of the County. The proposed ordinance would be expected to result in a significant reduction in the consumption of plastic carryout bags and to significantly increase the use of reusable bags within the unincorporated territories of the County. Although certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in an increase in the number of paper carryout bags manufactured for use,<sup>13</sup> it is anticipated that the proposed ordinance would serve to facilitate an increase in the use of reusable bags, thereby resulting in a reduction in the total number of carryout bags consumed in the County as compared to existing conditions. In addition, although the proposed ordinance would be expected to lead to an increase in the number of reusable bags consumed in the County, the number of reusable bags required would be expected to be significantly lower that the number of carryout bags (both paper and plastic) that are currently used. Therefore, a reduction in the total number of bags manufactured would be expected to lead to a decrease in the amount of water required by bag manufacturing facilities. A potential increase in the production of paper bags, if any, would not be expected to increase the demand for water supplies in California. Any County project or facility is adjudicated by the Basin Plan for water resources and is required to comply with the relevant local or County wastewater regulations and ordinances. Therefore, there would be no expected adverse impacts to utilities and service systems related to having sufficient water supplies available to serve the proposed ordinance from existing entitlements and resources, or having new expanded entitlements needed, and no further analysis is warranted.

## Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to utilities and service systems in relation to having sufficient water supplies available to serve the incorporated cities within the County from existing entitlements and resources, or having new expanded entitlements needed. The proposed ordinances would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores within the incorporated cities of the County. The proposed ordinance would be expected to result in a significant reduction in the consumption of plastic carryout bags and to significantly increase the use of reusable bags within the incorporated cities of the County. Although certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in an increase in the number of paper carryout bags manufactured for use,<sup>14</sup> it is anticipated that the proposed ordinances would serve to facilitate an increase in the use of reusable bags, thereby resulting in a reduction in the total number of carryout bags consumed in the incorporated cities of the County as compared to existing conditions. In addition, although the proposed ordinances would be expected to lead to an increase in the number of reusable bags consumed in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

incorporated cities of the County, the number of reusable bags required would be expected to be significantly lower than the number of carryout bags (both paper and plastic) that are currently used. Therefore, a reduction in the total number of bags manufactured would be expected to lead to a decrease in the amount of water required by bag manufacturing facilities. Any County project or facility is adjudicated by the Basin Plan for water resources and is required to comply with the relevant local or County wastewater regulations and ordinances. Therefore, as with the unincorporated territories of the County, there would be no expected adverse impacts to utilities and service systems related to having sufficient water supplies available to serve the proposed ordinances from existing entitlements and resources, or having new expanded entitlements needed, and no further analysis is warranted.

(e) Result in a determination by the wastewater treatment provider which serves or may serve the project that it has adequate capacity to serve the project's projected demand in addition to the provider's existing commitments?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in impacts to utilities and service systems in relation to resulting in a determination by the wastewater treatment provider which serves or may serve the unincorporated territories of the County that it has adequate capacity to serve the projected demand in the unincorporated territories of the County in addition to the provider's existing commitments. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores within the unincorporated territories of the County. The proposed ordinance would be expected to result in a significant reduction in the consumption of plastic carryout bags and to significantly increase the use of reusable bags within the unincorporated territories of the County. Although certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in an increase in the number of paper carryout bags consumed,<sup>15</sup> the proposed ordinance would also serve to facilitate an increase in the use of reusable bags, thereby resulting in a reduction in the total number of carryout bags consumed in the County compared to existing conditions. In addition, although the proposed ordinance is expected to lead to an increase in the number of reusable bags manufactured for use in the County, the number of reusable bags required would be significantly lower that the number of carryout bags currently consumed. Therefore, over time, a reduction in the total number of bags manufactured would be expected to lead to a decrease in the amount of water required and discharged by bag manufacturing facilities. A potential increase, if any, in the production of paper bags would not be expected to increase wastewater treatment requirements in California. Any County project or facility is adjudicated by the Basin Plan for water resources and is required to comply with the relevant local or County wastewater regulations and ordinances. Therefore, there would be no expected adverse environmental impacts to utilities and service systems related to resulting in a determination by the wastewater treatment provider that serves or may serve the unincorporated territories of the County that it has adequate capacity to serve the projected demand of these areas in addition to the provider's existing commitments, and no further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in impacts to utilities and service systems in relation to resulting in a determination by the wastewater treatment provider that serves or may serve the incorporated cities of the County that it has adequate capacity to serve the projected demand in the incorporated cities of the County in addition to the provider's existing commitments. The proposed ordinances would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores within the incorporated cities of the County. The proposed ordinance would be expected to result in a significant reduction in the consumption of plastic carryout bags and to significantly increase the use of reusable bags within the incorporated cities of the County. Although certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in an increase in the number of paper carryout bags consumed,<sup>16</sup> it is anticipated that the proposed ordinances would also be expected to facilitate an increase in the use of reusable bags, thereby resulting in a reduction in the total number of carryout bags consumed in the incorporated cities of the County compared to existing conditions. In addition, although the proposed ordinances would be expected to lead to an increase in the number of reusable bags manufactured for use in the incorporated cities of the County, the number of reusable bags required would be significantly lower that the number of carryout bags currently consumed. Therefore, over time, a reduction in the total number of bags manufactured would be expected to lead to a decrease in the amount of water required and discharged by bag manufacturing facilities. Any County project or facility is adjudicated by the Water Quality Control Plan for the Los Angeles Region (Basin Plan) for water resources and is required to comply with the relevant local or County wastewater regulations and ordinances. Therefore, as with the unincorporated territories of the County, there would be no expected adverse environmental impacts to utilities and service systems related to resulting in a determination by the wastewater treatment provider that serves or may serve the incorporated cities of the County that it has adequate capacity to serve the projected demand of these areas in addition to the provider's existing commitments, and no further analysis is warranted.

(f) Be served by a landfill with sufficient permitted capacity to accommodate the project's solid waste disposal needs?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would be expected to result in potentially significant impacts to utilities and service systems in relation to being served by a landfill that has sufficient permitted capacity to accommodate the solid waste disposal needs resulting from the implementation of the proposed ordinance. The expected impacts would be reduced to below the level of significance with the incorporation of mitigation measures. The proposed ordinance would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores within the unincorporated territories of the County, which would be expected to result in a significant decrease in the amount of waste attributable to plastic carryout bags. The California Integrated Waste Management Board estimates that approximately 3.9 percent of plastic waste can be attributed to plastic carryout bags related to grocery and other merchandise. That represents approximately 0.4 percent of the total waste stream in California.<sup>17,18</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> California Environmental Protection Agency, Integrated Waste Management Board. December 2004. "Table ES-3: Composition of California's Overall Disposed Waste Stream by Material Type, 2003." *Contractor's Report to the Board*:

Although certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in an increase in the number of paper carryout bags that are consumed,<sup>19</sup> it is anticipated that the proposed ordinance would also lead to an increase in the use of reusable bags, thereby resulting in a reduction in the total number of carryout bags (both paper and plastic) disposed of in the County compared to existing conditions. In addition, paper bags are more likely to be recycled than plastic bags, as supported by the higher recycling rate of paper as compared to that of plastic.<sup>20</sup> Due to the fact that paper bags have a greater volume than plastic bags,<sup>21</sup> some representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances may result in adverse impacts to utilities and service systems related to being served by a landfill with sufficient permitted capacity to accommodate the solid waste disposal needs that would be anticipated to result from implementation of the proposed ordinance. If true, the potential increase in the usage of paper bags that would be expected to result from the implementation of the proposed ordinance would require mitigation to reduce the impact to below the level of significance. However, the County has decided to present the analysis of this issue in an EIR.

### **Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles**

The proposed ordinances would be expected to result in potentially significant impacts to utilities and service systems in relation to being served by a landfill with sufficient permitted capacity to accommodate the solid waste disposal needs that would be anticipated to result from the implementation of the proposed ordinances. The expected impacts would be reduced to below the level of significance with the incorporation of mitigation measures. The proposed ordinances would ban plastic carryout bags issued by certain stores within the incorporated cities of the County, which would be expected to result in a significant decrease in the amount of waste attributable to plastic carryout bags. Due to the greater volume of paper bags than of plastic bags,<sup>22</sup> some representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances would be expected to result in adverse impacts to utilities and service systems related to being served by a landfill with sufficient permitted capacity to accommodate the solid waste disposal needs that would be anticipated to result from implementation of the proposed ordinances. If true, the potential increase in the usage of paper bags that would be expected to result from the implementation of the proposed ordinances would require mitigation to reduce the impact to below the level of significance. However, the County has decided to present the analysis of this issue in an EIR.

<sup>19</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

<sup>20</sup> U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. November 2008. *Municipal Solid Waste in the United States: 2007 Facts and Figures*. Washington, DC. Available at: http://www.epa.gov/waste/nonhaz/municipal/pubs/msw07-rpt.pdf

<sup>21</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *Scottish Executive 2005 Environment Group Research Report (2005/06)*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent486.aspx or http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/57346/0016899.pdf

<sup>22</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *Scottish Executive 2005 Environment Group Research Report (2005/06)*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent486.aspx or http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/57346/0016899.pdf

Statewide Waste Characterization Study, p. 6. Produced by: Cascadia Consulting Group, Inc. Berkeley, CA. Available at: http://www.ciwmb.ca.gov/Publications/default.asp?pubid = 1097

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Note: Plastics make up approximately 9.5 percent of California's waste stream by weight, including 0.4 percent for plastic carryout bags related to grocery and other merchandise, 0.7 percent for non-bag commercial and industrial packaging film, and 1 percent for plastic trash bags.

(g) Comply with federal, state, and local statutes and regulations related to solid waste?

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in adverse environmental impacts to utilities and service systems in relation to compliance with federal, state, and local statutes and regulations related to solid waste. The California Integrated Waste Management Act of 1989 (AB 939) requires the County to attain specific waste diversion goals. These goals can be met through the implementation of County waste reduction policies, which could include the proposed ordinance once adopted. The California Integrated Waste Management Board estimates that approximately 3.9 percent of plastic waste can be attributed to plastic carryout bags related to grocery and other merchandise. That represents approximately 0.4 percent of the total waste stream in California.<sup>23,24</sup> Therefore, the proposed ordinance, which would be expected to significantly reduce the amount of litter attributed to plastic carryout bags, would serve to facilitate compliance with AB 939. Although certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in an increase in the number of paper carryout bags that are consumed,<sup>25</sup> it is anticipated that the proposed ordinance would also promote an increase in the use of reusable bags, thereby resulting in a reduction in the total number of plastic carryout bags disposed of in the County compared to existing conditions. In addition, paper bags are more likely to be recycled than plastic bags, as supported by the higher recycling rate of paper as compared to that of plastic.

The Los Angeles RWQCB adopted a Basin Plan Amendment on March 4, 2004, requiring the TMDL of trash in the Ballona Watershed to be incrementally reduced to zero within 10 years.<sup>26</sup> In addition, the Los Angeles RWQCB adopted a Basin Plan Amendment on August 9, 2007, requiring the TMDL of trash in the Los Angles River Watershed to be incrementally reduced to zero within 9 years.<sup>27</sup> The Los Angeles RWQCB acknowledges that the majority of the trash in these watersheds comes primarily from trash in storm water runoff, and it has been documented that a significant percentage of trash in storm water runoff in the County is composed of plastic film, such as plastic carryout bags.<sup>28</sup> Therefore, the proposed ordinance, which would aim to significantly reduce the amount of litter attributable to plastic carryout bags, would comply with the TMDL requirements of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> California Environmental Protection Agency, Integrated Waste Management Board. December 2004. "Table ES-3: Composition of California's Overall Disposed Waste Stream by Material Type, 2003." *Contractor's Report to the Board: Statewide Waste Characterization* Study, p. 6. Produced by: Cascadia Consulting Group, Inc. Berkeley, CA. Available at: http://www.ciwmb.ca.gov/Publications/default.asp?pubid = 1097

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Note: Plastics make up approximately 9.5 percent of California's waste stream by weight, including 0.4 percent for plastic carryout bags related to grocery and other merchandise, 0.7 percent for non-bag commercial and industrial packaging film, and 1 percent for plastic trash bags.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Los Angeles Regional Water Quality Control Board. 4 March 2004. *Amendments to the Water Quality Control Plan – Los Angeles Region for the Ballona Creek Trash TMDL*. Available at: http://63.199.216.6/larwqcb\_new/bpa/docs/2004-023/2004-023\_RB\_BPA.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Los Angeles Regional Water Quality Control Board. 9 August 2007. *Amendments to the Water Quality Control Plan – Los Angeles Region to Incorporate the TMDL for Trash in the Los Angeles River Watershed*. Available at: http://63.199.216.6/larwqcb\_new/bpa/docs/2007-012/2007-012\_RB\_BPA.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Combs, Suzanne, John Johnston, Gary Lippner, David Marx, and Kimberly Walter. *Results of the Caltrans Litter Management Pilot Study*. Sacramento, CA: California Department of Transportation. Available at: http://www.owp.csus.edu/research/papers/PP020.pdf

the Los Angeles RWQCB. In addition, the adopted TMDL requirements also call for the initial 20percent reduction to be achieved by September 30, 2006, and 100-percent trash reduction to be achieved by September 30, 2015.<sup>29</sup> There would be no expected adverse environmental impacts to utilities and service systems related to compliance with federal, state, and local statutes and regulations related to solid waste. Therefore, no further analysis is warranted.

#### **Incorporated Cities of the County of Los Angeles**

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in adverse environmental impacts to utilities and service systems in relation to compliance with federal, state, and local statutes and regulations related to solid waste. As with the unincorporated territories of the County, the proposed ordinances, which would be expected to significantly reduce the amount of litter attributed to plastic carryout bags, would serve to facilitate compliance with AB 939. Although certain representatives of the plastic bag industry have argued that similar proposed ordinances have the potential to result in an increase in the number of paper carryout bags that are consumed,<sup>30</sup> it is anticipated that the proposed ordinances would also promote increased use of reusable bags, thereby resulting in a reduced total number of plastic carryout bags disposed of in the incorporated cities of the County compared to existing conditions.

As with the unincorporated territories of the County, the proposed ordinances, which would aim to significantly reduce the amount of litter attributable to plastic carryout bags, would comply with the TMDL requirements of the Los Angeles RWQCB. There would be no expected adverse environmental impacts to utilities and service systems related to compliance with federal, state, and local statutes and regulations related to solid waste. Therefore, no further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> City of Los Angeles. 2009. *City of Los Angeles Stormwater Program: Trash TMDLs*. Available at: http://www.lastormwater.org/Siteorg/program/TMDLs/trashtmdl.htm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. *The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco*. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf

### 3.18 MANDATORY FINDINGS OF SIGNIFICANCE

This analysis was undertaken to determine if the proposed ordinances would result in any of the conditions that would require the preparation of an EIR, in accordance with Section 15065 of the State CEQA Guidelines.<sup>1</sup> Mandatory Findings of Significance for the proposed ordinances were evaluated with regard to the information contained in this Environmental Analysis gathered during literature reviews (see Section 4.0, References, for a list of reference materials consulted).

The State CEQA Guidelines require the consideration of three questions when determining whether a project may have a significant effect on the environment.

Would the proposed ordinances:

(a) Do the proposed ordinances have the potential to substantially degrade the quality of the environment, substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife population to drop below self-sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a plant or animal community, substantially reduce the number or restrict the range of a rare or endangered plant or animal or eliminate important examples of the major periods of California history or prehistory?

#### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in Mandatory Findings of Significance in relation to the potential to substantially degrade the quality of the environment, substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife population to drop below self-sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a plant or animal community, reduce the number or restrict the range of a rare or endangered plant or animal, or eliminate important examples of the major periods of California history or prehistory. The proposed ordinance intends to ban plastic carryout bags issued in certain stores in the unincorporated territories of the County, and thus would not be expected to create or result in any changes to the existing environmental as related to biological and cultural resources. As discussed in Section 3.4, Biological Resources, and Section 3.5, Cultural Resources, of this Initial Study, the proposed ordinance does not include any development, alteration, or degradation of any habitat, physical sites, buildings, or structures, nor does it include any ground-disturbing activities. Conversely, the proposed ordinance would be expected to result in beneficial environmental effects (resulting from the reduction of litter in plant and wildlife habitats, aesthetic improvements, and other impacts discussed in this Initial Study) as they relate to biological and cultural resources within the County. Adoption of the proposed ordinance would not permit any direct or indirect degradation of the existing conditions within the County. Therefore, there would be no expected Mandatory Findings of Significance related to the potential to degrade the quality of the environment, substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife population to drop below self-sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a plant or animal community, reduce the number or restrict the range of a rare or endangered plant or animal, or eliminate important examples of the major periods of California history or prehistory. No further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Division 6, Chapter 3, Sections 15000–15387, Appendix G.

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in Mandatory Findings of Significance in relation to the potential to degrade the quality of the environment, substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife population to drop below self-sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a plant or animal community, reduce the number or restrict the range of a rare or endangered plant or animal, or eliminate important examples of the major periods of California history The proposed ordinances would not include any development, alteration, or or prehistory. degradation of any habitat, physical sites, buildings, or structures, nor would they include any ground-The proposed ordinances would be anticipated to result in beneficial disturbing activities. environmental effects as described above. Adoption of the proposed ordinances would not permit any direct or indirect degradation of the existing environmental conditions within the County. Therefore, there would be no expected Mandatory Findings of Significance related to the potential to degrade the guality of the environment, substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife population to drop below self-sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a plant or animal community, reduce the number or restrict the range of a rare or endangered plant or animal, or eliminate important examples of the major periods of California history or prehistory. No further analysis is warranted.

(b) Do the proposed ordinances have impacts that are individually limited, but cumulatively considerable? ("Cumulatively considerable" means that the incremental effects of a project are considerable when viewed in connection with the effects of past projects, the effects of other current projects, and the effects of probable future projects)?

## Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would be expected to result in less than significant impacts to Mandatory Findings of Significance in relation to impacts that are individually limited but cumulatively considerable. The proposed ordinance would not be expected to contribute to the incremental environmental impacts when viewed in connection with the effects of past, current, or reasonably foreseeable projects. Although the proposed ordinance would not entail development, a ban of plastic carryout bags issued at some stores may lead to an increase in the consumption of paper bags as subject stores transition to the use of reusable bags. A temporary increase could result in indirect impacts to air quality, greenhouse gases, hydrology and water quality, noise, and utilities and service systems as discussed in this Initial Study. However, the indirect impacts that would be attributed to the proposed ordinance would be anticipated to be temporary and localized, and the County maintains that the adoption of the proposed ordinance would not permit the violation of existing County policies. Furthermore, the County has proposed efforts to minimize these impacts through outreach and educational programs. In addition, although there have been comparable ordinances in other jurisdictions, the proposed ordinance would not be expected to exacerbate any existing conditions within the County. As such, these indirect impacts would not be cumulatively considerable in connection with the effects of past, current, or reasonably foreseeable projects. Therefore, the expected Mandatory Findings of Significance related to impacts that are individually limited but cumulatively considerable would be below the level of significance. However, the County has decided to present the analysis on this issue in an EIR to verify these findings.

The proposed ordinances would be expected to result in Mandatory Findings of Significance in relation to impacts that are individually limited but cumulatively considerable. The proposed ordinances would not be expected to contribute to the incremental impacts when viewed in connection with the effects of past, current, or reasonably foreseeable projects. As discussed above, a ban on plastic carryout bags issued at certain stores may lead to a temporary increase in the consumption of paper bags as subject stores transition to the use of reusable bags. This temporary increase could result in indirect impacts to air quality, greenhouse gases, hydrology and water quality, noise, and utilities and service systems as discussed in this Initial Study. However, the indirect impacts that would be attributed to the proposed ordinances would be anticipated to be temporary and localized, and the County maintains that the adoption of the proposed ordinances would not permit the violation of existing County policies. Furthermore, the County has proposed efforts to minimize these impacts through outreach and educational programs. As such, these indirect impacts would not be cumulatively considerable in connection with the effects of past, current, or reasonably foreseeable projects. Therefore, the expected Mandatory Findings of Significance related to impacts that are individually limited but cumulatively considerable would be below the level of significance. However, the County has decided to present the analysis on this issue in an EIR to verify these findings.

(c) Does the proposed ordinance have environmental effects which will cause substantial adverse effects on human beings, either directly or indirectly?

### Unincorporated Territories of the County of Los Angeles

The proposed ordinance would not be expected to result in Mandatory Findings of Significance in relation to having environmental effects that would cause substantial adverse effects on human beings, either directly or indirectly. While the adverse impacts related to the issuance and consumption of plastic carryout bags designed for single use, and the litter associated with them, have been evaluated,<sup>2</sup> the proposed ordinance would ban the issuance of such bags to significantly reduce these impacts. However, the proposed ordinance may result in indirect impacts because a ban on plastic carryout bags would be expected to increase the issuance and consumption of paper bags within the unincorporated territories of the County. An increase in the use of paper bags could be expected to result in indirect impacts to air quality, greenhouse gases, hydrology and water quality, noise, and utilities and service systems as discussed in this Initial Study. These indirect impacts to human beings would not be considered substantial as they would be limited and would be significantly reduced by the County's efforts to encourage the use of reusable bags in place of plastic carryout bags. The beneficial environmental impacts discussed in the response to question (a) above and throughout this Initial Study would be expected to have positive impacts on human beings and their environment. In addition, the five goals of the proposed ordinance-(1) litter reduction, (2) blight prevention, (3) coastal waterways and animals and wildlife protection, (4) sustainability (as it relates to the County's energy and environmental goals), and (5) landfill reduction--are intended to directly and indirectly benefit human beings. Therefore, there would be no expected Mandatory Findings of Significance related to environmental effects that would cause substantial adverse effects on human beings, either directly or indirectly, and no further analysis is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. *An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors*. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf

The proposed ordinances would not be expected to result in Mandatory Findings of Significance in relation to having environmental effects that would cause substantial adverse effects to human beings, either directly or indirectly. As previously discussed, the proposed ordinances may result in indirect impacts, as a ban on plastic carryout bags issued at certain stores would be expected to increase the issuance and consumption of paper bags within the incorporated cities of the County. An increase in the use of paper bags would be expected to result in indirect impacts to air quality, greenhouse gases, hydrology and water quality, noise, and utilities and service systems as discussed in this Initial Study. These indirect impacts would not be considered substantial to human beings as they would be limited and would be significantly reduced by the County's efforts to encourage the use of reusable bags in place of plastic carryout bags designed for a single use. The beneficial environmental impacts discussed in the response to question (a) above and throughout this Initial Study would be expected to have positive impacts on human beings and their environment. In addition, the five goals of the proposed ordinance--(1) litter reduction, (2) blight prevention, (3) coastal waterways and animals and wildlife protection, (4) sustainability (as it relates to the County's energy and environmental goals), and (5) landfill reduction--are intended to directly and indirectly benefit human beings. Therefore, there would be no expected Mandatory Findings of Significance related to environmental effects that would cause substantial adverse effects on human beings, either directly or indirectly, and no further analysis is warranted.

- Antelope Valley Air Quality Management District. 20 May 2008. AVAQMD Federal 8-Hour Ozone Attainment Plan. Lancaster, CA.
- Boustead Consulting & Associates, Ltd. 2007. Life Cycle Assessment for Three Types of Grocery Bags—Recyclable Plastic; Compostable, Biodegradable Plastic; and Recycled, Recyclable Paper. Available at: http://www.americanchemistry.com/s plastics/doc.asp?CID=1106&DID=7212
- Bureau of Land Management. Agency information available at: http://www.blm.gov/ca/st/en.html
- California Air Pollution Control Officers Association. January 2008. CEQA and Climate Change: Evaluating and Addressing Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Projects Subject to the California Environmental Quality Act. Sacramento, CA.
- California Air Resources Board. 24 October 2008. Preliminary Draft Staff Proposal: Recommended Approaches for Setting Interim Significance Thresholds for Greenhouse Gases under the California Environmental Quality Act. Available at: http://www.opr.ca.gov/ceqa/pdfs/Prelim\_Draft\_Staff\_Proposal\_10-24-08.pdf
- California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Division 6, Chapter 3, Sections 15000–15387, Appendix G.
- California Department of Conservation, Division of Land Resource Protection, Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program. 2006. *Important Farmland in California 2006*. Sacramento, CA. Available at: ftp://ftp.consrv.ca.gov/pub/dlrp/FMMP/pdf/statewide/2006/
- California Department of Conservation, Division of Mines and Geology. 1966. "Minerals of California Volume (1866–1966)." Bulletin 189. Prepared by: CDMG, Los Angeles, CA.
- California Department of Conservation, Division of Mines and Geology. 1990. "Mines and Mineral Producers Active in California (1988–89)." Special Publication 103. Prepared by: CDMG, Los Angeles, CA.
- California Department of Fish and Game. Accessed on: 24 June 2009. "NCCP Plan Status." *Resource Management*. Available at: http://www.dfg.ca.gov/habcon/nccp/status/PalosVerdes.html
- California Department of Fish and Game. Accessed on: 5 August 2009. "Natural Community Conservation Planning (NCCP)." *Resource Management*. Available at: http://www.dfg.ca.gov/habcon/nccp/
- California Department of Fish and Game. Agency information available at: http://www.dfg.ca.gov/
- California Department of Justice, Office of the Attorney General. 21 May 2008 (Updated 26 September 2008). The California Environmental Quality Act Addressing Global Warming Impacts at the Local Agency Level. Sacramento, CA.

- California Department of Transportation. Accessed September 2009. "Facts at a Glance." Don't Trash California. Available at: http://www.donttrashcalifornia.info/pdf/Statistics.pdf
- California Department of Transportation. Updated 19 May 2008. "Eligible (E) and Officially Designated (OD) Routes." *California Scenic Highway Program*. Available at: http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/LandArch/scenic/cahisys.htm

California Department of Transportation. Web site. Available at: http://www.dot.ca.gov/

- California Department of Water Resources. October 2003 (Accessed 2009). California's Groundwater Bulletin 118 (Update 2003) Report. Sacramento, CA. Available at: http://www.water.ca.gov/pubs/groundwater/bulletin\_118/california's\_groundwater\_bulletin\_118\_entire.pdf
- California Environmental Protection Agency, Integrated Waste Management Board. December 2004. Contractor's Report to the Board: 2004 Statewide Waste Characterization Study. Produced by: Cascadia Consulting Group, Inc. Berkeley, CA. Available at: http://www.ciwmb.ca.gov/publications/localasst/34004005.pdf
- California Environmental Protection Agency, Integrated Waste Management Board. December 2004. "Table 7: Composition of California's Overall Disposed Waste Stream, 2003." *Contractor's Report to the Board: 2004 Statewide Waste Characterization Study*. Produced by: Cascadia Consulting Group, Inc. Berkeley, CA. Available at: http://www.ciwmb.ca.gov/Publications/default.asp?pubid = 1097
- California Environmental Protection Agency, Integrated Waste Management Board. December 2004. "Table ES-3: Composition of California's Overall Disposed Waste Stream by Material Type, 2003." Contractor's Report to the Board: 2004 Statewide Waste Characterization Study. Produced by: Cascadia Consulting Group, Inc. Berkeley, CA. Available at: http://www.ciwmb.ca.gov/Publications/default.asp?pubid = 1097
- California Geological Survey. 2007 (Interim Revision). "Fault-Rupture Hazard Zones in California." Special Publication 42. Supplements 1 and 2 added 1999. Contact: 655 S. Hope Street, #700, Los Angeles, CA 90017. Available at: ftp://ftp.consrv.ca.gov/pub/dmg/pubs/sp/Sp42.pdf
- California Governor. 2005. Executive Order S-3-05. Sacramento, CA.
- California Governor's Office of Planning and Research. 2007. CEQA Guidelines and Greenhouse Gases. Available at: http://www.opr.ca.gov/index.php?a=ceqa/index.html
- California Governor's Office of Planning and Research. 24 August 2007. Senate Bill No. 97, Chapter 185. Available at: http://www.opr.ca.gov/ceqa/pdfs/SB 97 bill 20070824 chaptered.pdf
- California Governor's Office of Planning and Research Technical Advisory. 19 June 2008. CEQA and Climate Change: Addressing Climate Change through California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Review. Sacramento, CA.

- California Integrated Waste Management Board. 12 June 2007. Board Meeting Agenda, Resolution: Agenda Item 14. Sacramento, CA.
- California Natural Diversity Database. Accessed on: 13 October 2009. Santa Monica, CA.
- California Public Resources Code, Division 13, Chapter 2.5, Section 21060.1(a): "Agricultural Land."
- California State Assembly. Assembly Bill 939: "Integrated Waste Management Act," Chapter 1095.
- City of Los Angeles, Sanitation Department of Public Works. June 2006. Technical Report: Assessment of Catch Basin Opening Screen Covers. Los Angeles, CA.
- City of Los Angeles. 10 June 2004. Waste Characterization Study. Los Angeles, CA.
- City of Los Angeles. 2009. City of Los Angeles Stormwater Program: Trash TMDLs. Available at: http://www.lastormwater.org/Siteorg/program/TMDLs/trashtmdl.htm
- City of Rancho Palos Verdes. Accessed on: 24 June 2009. "Natural Communities Conservation Planning Act (NCCP)." Planning & Zoning. Available at: http://www.palosverdes.com/rpv/planning/NCCP/index.cfm
- Code of Federal Regulations, Title 40, Chapter 1, Part 261: "Identification and Listing of Hazardous Waste."
- Code of Federal Regulations, Title 40, Chapter 1, Parts 106–180.
- Combs, Suzanne, John Johnston, Gary Lippner, David Marx, and Kimberly Walter. 1998–2000. *Caltrans Litter Management Pilot Study*. Sacramento, CA: California Department of Transportation.
- Combs, Suzanne, John Johnston, Gary Lippner, David Marx, and Kimberly Walter. *Results of the Caltrans Litter Management Pilot Study*. Sacramento, CA: California Department of Transportation. Available at: http://www.owp.csus.edu/research/papers/PP020.pdf
- County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. October 2008. County of Los Angeles Single Use Bag Reduction and Recycling Program—Program Resource Packet. Alhambra, CA.
- County of Los Angeles Board of Supervisors. 10 April 2007. Board of Supervisors Motion. Los Angeles, CA.
- County of Los Angeles Board of Supervisors. 22 January 2008. *Minutes of the Board of Supervisors*. Los Angeles, CA.
- County of Los Angeles Board of Supervisors. 22 January 2008. Single Use Bag Reduction and Recycling Program (Resolution and Alternative 5). Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/Resources.cfm

- County of Los Angeles Chief Executive Office. 2007–August 2009. Single-Use Reduction and Recycling Program and Expanded Polystyrene Food Containers—Quarterly Progress Reports. Los Angeles, CA.
- County of Los Angeles Department of Parks and Recreation. 2007. Department of Parks and Recreation Annual Report 2005–2006 County of Los Angeles. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://parks.lacounty.gov/cms1\_069242.pdf?Title=2005-2006%20Annual%20Report
- County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works, Environmental Programs Division. August 2007. An Overview of Carryout Bags in Los Angeles County: A Staff Report to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. Alhambra, CA. Available at: http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/PlasticBags/PDF/PlasticBagReport\_08-2007.pdf
- County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works. 5 May 2009. *Plastic Bag Ordinance to be Placed in Title 12 of the Los Angeles County Code* (Draft). Alhambra, CA.
- County of Los Angeles Department of Regional Planning. 1980 (updated 6 December 1990). Existing Adopted Los Angeles County General Plan. Los Angeles, CA. Available at: http://planning.lacounty.gov/generalplan#gp-existing
- County of Los Angeles Metropolitan Transportation Authority. 2004. 2004 Congestion Management Program for Los Angeles County. Los Angeles, CA.
- County of Los Angeles. 1978. Noise Control Ordinance of the County of Los Angeles. Ord. 11778, Section 2 (Art.1, Section 101), and Ord.11773, Section 2 (Art. 1, Section 101). Available at: http://ordlink.com/codes/lacounty/index.htm
- County of Los Angeles. 2 June 2009. Los Angeles County Code. Tallahassee, FL. Available at: http://ordlink.com/codes/lacounty/index.htm
- County of Los Angeles. Accessed June 2009. *Unincorporated Areas*. County of Los Angeles Web site. Available at: http://portal.lacounty.gov/
- European Environment Agency. 5 December 2007. "Processes in Organic Chemical Industries (Bulk Production) Ethylene." EMEP / CORINAIR Emission Inventory Guidebook—2007. Copenhagen, Denmark. Available at: http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/EMEPCORINAIR5/B451vs2.3.pdf
- European Environment Agency. 5 December 2007. "Processes in Organic Chemical Industries (Bulk Production) Polyethylene Low Density." *EMEP / CORINAIR Emission Inventory Guidebook*—2007. Copenhagen, Denmark. Available at: http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/EMEPCORINAIR5/B456vs2.2.pdf
- Federal Emergency Management Agency. December 1980. Flood Insurance Rate Maps for the County of Los Angeles. Washington, DC.
- Friends of the Los Angeles River and American Rivers. 2004. *Great Los Angeles River*. Los Angeles and Nevada City, CA.

- Green Seal, Inc. 13 October 2008. Green Seal Proposed Revised Environmental Standard for Reusable Bags (GS-16). Washington, DC. Available at: http://www.greenseal.org/certification/gs-16 reusable bag proposed revised standard background%20document.pdf
- Grill, Mindy. "What is Air Pollution?" Web site. Available at: http://www.encyclomedia.com
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Chapter 2: Changes in Atmospheric Constituents and in Radiative Forcing. Cambridge, UK, and New York, NY, USA.
- Los Angeles County Fire Department. Accessed on: 6 July 2009. Los Angeles County Fire Department Web site. Available at: http://www.fire.lacounty.gov/
- Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department. Accessed August 2009. Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department Web site. Available at: http://www.lasd.org/lasdservices.html
- Los Angeles Regional Water Quality Control Board. 4 March 2004. Amendments to the Water Quality Control Plan—Los Angeles Region for the Ballona Creek Trash TMDL. Available at: http://63.199.216.6/larwqcb\_new/bpa/docs/2004-023/2004-023\_RB\_BPA.pdf
- Los Angeles Regional Water Quality Control Board. 9 August 2007. Amendments to the Water Quality Control Plan—Los Angeles Region to Incorporate the TMDL for Trash in the Los Angeles River Watershed. Available at: http://63.199.216.6/larwqcb\_new/bpa/docs/2007-012/2007-012\_RB\_BPA.pdf
- Public Resources Code, Section 42250–42257. 2006. Assembly Bill 2449.
- Ralphs Grocery Company. 2009. "Doing Your Part: Try Reusable Shopping Bags." Web site. Available at: http://www.ralphs.com/healthy\_living/green\_living/Pages/reusable\_bags.aspx
- Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. Review of Life Cycle Data Relating to Disposable, Compostable, Biodegradable, and Reusable Grocery Bags. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent486.aspx or http://www.deq.state.mi.us/documents/deq-ess-p2-recycling-PaperPlasticSummary\_2.pdf
- Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. Scottish Executive 2005 Environment Group Research Report (2005/06). Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent486.aspx or http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/57346/0016899.pdf
- Save the Plastic Bag. 2008. The ULS Report: A Qualitative Study of Grocery Bag Use in San Francisco. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/ReadContent700.aspx or http://www.use-less-stuff.com/Field-Report-on-San-Francisco-Plastic-Bag-Ban.pdf
- Save the Plastic Bag. Accessed on: 21 October 2009. Web Site. Available at: http://www.savetheplasticbag.com/
- South Coast Air Quality Management District. "Regional Clean Air Incentives Market (RECLAIM)." Web site. Available at: http://www.aqmd.gov

- South Coast Air Quality Management District. "What AQMD Does." Web site. Available at: http://www.aqmd.gov
- South Coast Air Quality Management District. 1993. CEQA Air Quality Handbook. Diamond Bar, CA.
- South Coast Air Quality Management District. June 2007. 2007 Air Quality Management Plan. Diamond Bar, CA.
- SPI: The Plastics Industry Trade Association. 2007. Web site. Available at: http://www.plasticsindustry.org/
- State of California Department of Finance. May 2009. E-4 Population Estimates for Cities, Counties and the State, 2001–2009, with 2000 Benchmark. Sacramento, CA.
- State Water Resources Control Board, California Regional Water Quality Control Board. 1993. Water Quality Control Plan: Colorado River Basin – Region 7 (Includes Amendments Adopted by the Regional Board through June 2006). Palm Desert, CA. Available at: http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/coloradoriver/publications\_forms/publications/docs/basinpl an\_2006.pdf
- U.S. Census Bureau. 2000. "State & County Quick Facts: Los Angeles County, California." Available at: http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/06/06037.html
- U.S. Census Bureau. 2000. Population Profile of the United States: 2000.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture, Northeastern Area. 1997. *Threatened and Endangered Species and the Private Landowner*. Available at: http://www.na.fs.fed.us/spfo/pubs/wildlife/endangered/endangered.htm
- U.S. Department of the Interior, U.S. Geological Survey. 2006. 2006 Minerals Yearbook: California. Available at: http://minerals.usgs.gov/minerals/pubs/state/2006/myb2-2006ca.pdf
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 15 August 2008. "The Green Book Nonattainment Areas for Criteria Pollutants." *Green Book*. Available at: http://www.epa.gov/oar/oaqps/greenbk/
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2005. "Title I Air Pollution Prevention and Control." Federal Clean Air Act. Available at: http://www.epa.gov/air/caa//
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. April 2009. Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2007. Washington, DC.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. November 2008. *Municipal Solid Waste in the United States: 2007 Facts and Figures*. Washington, DC. Available at: http://www.epa.gov/waste/nonhaz/municipal/pubs/msw07-rpt.pdf

- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. November 2008. "Table 21: Recovery of Products in Municipal Solid Waste, 1960 to 2007." *Municipal Solid Waste in the United States: 2007 Facts and Figures.* Washington, DC. Available at: http://www.epa.gov/waste/nonhaz/municipal/pubs/msw07-rpt.pdf
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Agency information available at: http://www.fws.gov/
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. May 2005. *Habitat Conservation Plans: Working Together for Endangered Species*. Available at: http://www.fws.gov/endangered/pubs/HCPBrochure/HCPsWorkingTogether5-2005web%20.pdf
- United Nations Environment Programme. April 2009. *Marine Litter: A Global Challenge*. Nairobi, Kenya. Available at: http://www.unep.org/regionalseas/marinelitter/publications/docs/Marine\_Litter\_A\_Global\_C hallenge.pdf
- United States Code, Title 33, Chapter 26, Subchapter IV, Section 1342: "National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System." Clean Water Act, Section 402.

United States Code, Title 33, Section 1313: "Water Quality Standards and Implementation Plans."

- Watt, Stephanie, Sapphos Environmental, Inc., Santa Monica, CA. 15 July 2009. Telephone communication with Ms. Carol Trout, Customer Service Department, Duro Bag Manufacturing Company, Florence, KY.
- Watt, Stephanie, Sapphos Environmental, Inc., Santa Monica, CA. 15 July 2009. Telephone communication with Uline Shipping Supply Specialists, Waukegan, IL.

The following individuals contributed to the preparation of this document.

### 5.1 COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS

Contributor:	Title:	Area of Responsibility:
Coby Skye	Civil Engineer	Project management
Suk Chong	Senior Civil Engineer	Strategic coordination
Nilda Gemeniano	Associate Civil Engineer	Coordination
Luke Mitchell	Civil Engineering Assistant	Coordination
Angelica Santa Maria	Administrative Assistant II	Coordination

### 5.2 COUNTY COUNSEL

Contributor:	Title:	Area of Responsibility:
Truc Moore	Deputy County Counsel	Strategic coordination
Judith Fries	Deputy County Counsel	Strategic coordination

## 5.3 COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICE

Contributor:	Title:	Area of Responsibility:
Dorothea Park	Assistant Division Chief	Strategic coordination
Burt Kumagawa	CEO Analyst	Strategic coordination

### 5.4 SAPPHOS ENVIRONMENTAL, INC.

Contributor:	Title:	Area of Responsibility:
Marie Campbell	Principal	Strategic coordination CEQA QA/QC
Laura Kaufman	Environmental Compliance Director	Senior project management
Tony Barranda	Senior Environmental Compliance Specialist	Project manager
Contributor:	Title:	Area of Responsibility:
-------------------	--	---
Eimon Raoof	Environmental Compliance Coordinator	Project Description Hydrology and Water Quality
Stephanie Watt	Environmental Compliance Coordinator	Aesthetics Agriculture Resources Mineral Resources Population and Housing Public Services Recreation
Laura Watson	Environmental Compliance Specialist	Air Quality Greenhouse Gases Transportation and Traffic Utilities and Service Systems
Shelby Petro	Biological Resources Analyst	<b>Biological Resources</b>
Clarus Backes	Cultural Resources Specialist	Cultural Resources
Rebecca Silva	Senior Cultural Resources Coordinator	Cultural Resources
Madeline Worsnopp	Hazardous Materials Coordinator	Geology and Soils Hazards and Hazardous Materials
William Meade	Environmental Analyst	Land Use and Planning Noise
Cristina Carrillo	Technical Editor	Document production
Kenneth Ferretti	Geographic Information System (GIS) Coordinator	GIS analysis and document production
Eugene Ng	Graphics Specialist	Document production

# 5.4.1 SUBCONSULTANTS

Amitabh Barthakur	Principal Economic Research Associates	Socioeconomic analysis
Christine Safriet	Senior Associate Economic Research Associates	Socioeconomic analysis

## 6.1 CLIENT

County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works Client contact: Coby Skye, Civil Engineer Environmental Programs Division 900 South Fremont Avenue, 3rd Floor Alhambra, California 91803

#### 6.2 PUBLIC AGENCIES

#### 6.2.1 State Agencies

California Department of Parks and Recreation Office of Historic Preservation Milford Wayne Donaldson, State Historic Preservation Officer 1416 9th Street, Room 1442 Sacramento, California 95814

California Department of Transportation District 7 Elmer Alvarez, IGR / CEQA Branch Chief 100 South Main Street Los Angeles, California 90012

California Environmental Protection Agency Jami Ferguson, Public Records Officer 1001 I Street Sacramento, California 95814

California Coastal Commissions South Central Coast District Office John (Jack) Ainsworth, Deputy Director Steve Hudson, District Manager 89 South California Street, Suite 200 Ventura, California 93001-2801

California Natural Resources Agency Chris Calfee, Special Counsel Ian Peterson, Assistant Planner 1416 Ninth Street, Suite 1311 Sacramento, California 95814 (916) 653-5656 California Coastal Commissions South Coast District Office Mr. John (Jack) Ainsworth, Deputy Director Mr. Gary Timm, District Manager 200 Oceangate, 10th Floor Long Beach, California 90802-4416

California Native American Heritage Commission Mr. Dave Singleton, Program Analyst 915 Capitol Mall, Room 364 Sacramento, California 95814

California Department of Conservation Division of Recycling Bridgett Luther, Director of Conservation 801 K Street, MS 19-01 Sacramento, California 95814

California Air Resources Board Robert Fletcher, Chief 1001 I Street Sacramento, California 95812

California Integrated Waste Management Board Mindy Fox, Manager of the Office of Education and the Environment Chris Peck, Manager of the Office of Public Affairs 1001 I Street Sacramento, California 95812-4025

State Water Resources Control Board Gita Kapahi, Director 1001 I Street Sacramento, California 95814

California Water Quality Control Board, Region 4 Ejigu Solomon, Stormwater – Compliance and Enforcement Manager 320 West Fourth Street, Suite 200 Los Angeles, California 90013

Office of Planning and Research State Clearinghouse Scott Morgan, Assistant Deputy Director and Senior Planner 1400 Tenth Street (Corner of 10th and N Streets) Sacramento, California 95814

#### 6.2.2 Regional Agencies

South Coast Air Quality Management District Steve Smith, Program Supervisor – CEQA Section Planning Rule Development & Area Sources 21865 Copley Drive Diamond Bar, California 91765

Southern California Association of Governments Jacob Lieb, Manager of Assessment 818 West 7th Street, 12th Floor Los Angeles, California 90017

County Sanitation Districts of Los Angeles County Ruth I. Frazen, Customer Service Specialist Facilities Planning Department 1955 Workman Mill Road Whittier, California 90601

### 6.2.3 County Agencies

### 6.2.3.1 Supervisorial Districts

First Supervisorial District Gloria Molina, Supervisor, First District 856 Kenneth Hahn Hall of Administration 500 West Temple Street Los Angeles, California 90012

Second Supervisorial District Mark Ridley-Thomas, Supervisor, Second District 866 Kenneth Hahn Hall of Administration 500 West Temple Street Los Angeles, California 90012 (213) 974-2222

Third Supervisorial District Zev Yaroslavsky, Supervisor, Third District 821 Kenneth Hahn Hall of Administration 500 West Temple Street Los Angeles, California 90012

Fourth Supervisorial District Don Knabe, Supervisor, Fourth District 822 Kenneth Hahn Hall of Administration 500 West Temple Street Los Angeles, California 90012 Fifth Supervisorial District Michael D. Antonovich, Supervisor, Fifth District 869 Kenneth Hahn Hall of Administration 500 West Temple Street Los Angeles, California 90012

## 6.2.3.2 Public Service Agencies

County of Los Angeles Fire Department Administrative Services – Planning Division Debbie Aguirre, Chief of Planning Division 1320 North Eastern Avenue Los Angeles, California 90063

County of Los Angeles Sheriff's Department Leroy D. Baca, Sheriff Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department 4700 Ramona Boulevard Monterey Park, California 91754

Los Angeles Unified School District Office of Environmental Health and Safety Yi Hwa Kim, Deputy Director of Environmental Health and Safety 333 South Beaudry Avenue, 20th Floor Los Angeles, California 90017

County of Los Angeles Metropolitan Transportation Authority Susan Chapman, Program Manager, Long Range Planning One Gateway Plaza Los Angeles, California 90012

Office of the Los Angeles County Clerk Environmental Filings 12400 Imperial Highway, Room 2001 Norwalk, California 90650

### 6.3 **PRIVATE ORGANIZATIONS**

Economics Research Associates (an AECOM company) Amitabh Barthakur, Principal 10990 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1500 Los Angeles, California 90024

#### 6.4 STAKEHOLDERS

Abramson, Sarah Heal the Bay sabramson@healthebay.org 1444 9th Street Santa Monica, California 90401

Acton Market Meets 3638 Smith Avenue Acton, California 93510

Aguirre, Iris iaguirre@ph.lacounty.gov

Alamillo, James Heal the Bay jalamilo@healthebay.org 1444 9th Street Santa Monica, California 90401

Alba, Andrew afalba@earthlink.net 91801

Albertsons 23850 W. Copper Road Valencia, California 91355

Ali, Sarah sarahali5555@gmail.com 90065

Altamirano, Molly liv\_mmaca@yahoo.com 90670

Alva, Paul palva@dpw.lacounty.gov

Ang, Mooler mang@dpw.lacounty.gov 91030; 91803

aracely13@hotmail.com 90501; 90250

Atwater, Brian batwater@con-fab.com 91402; 90058 Ayala, Becky bayala2@wm.com 93551

ay332@yahoo.com 90041

Baccillieri, Anthony tonybacci@roadrunner.com 91402; 91412

Banna, Hossam hbanna@dpw.lacounty.gov

Banuelos, Delores d3sbanuelos@verizon.net 90604; 90650

Barbic, L lbarbic@aol.com 91001

Barger, Stephanie Earth Resource Foundation P.O. Box 12364 Costa Mesa, California 92627 Stephanie.Barger@earthresource.org

Bateman, Robert, Roplast, rbateman@roplast.com 3155 South 5th Avenue Oroville, California 95966

Beck, Brett bbeck@memorialcare.org

Berends, Ed eberends@ceo.lacounty.gov

Best Way Markets 19050 La Puente Road West Covina, California 91792

Billet, Debra d\_billet@yahoo.com 93536

Bingham, Casey cbingham@santa-clarita.com 91355; 91321 Bolden, Jacy City of Encinitas jacybolden@sbcglobal.net 90045; 90066

Bolin, Stephen srbolin@verizon.net 91711

Bozman, Erick Walgreens No. 07529 27983 Sloan Canyon Road Castaic, California 91384

Brant, Aaron Dadwizard@live.com 91780

Briley, Barbara barbara.briley@westcovina.org

Brill, Rene rbrill@dpw.lacounty.gov 91206; 90606

Brooks, B. send2brooks@ca.rr.com 90712; 90278

Browne, Catherine Crown Poly, General Manager, c\_browne@crownpoly.com 5700 Bickett Street Huntington Park, California 90255

Bruce bfrodin1@msn.com 91773

Bruskotter, Karl City of Santa Monica Karl.Bruskotter@SMGOV.NET

Brusseau, Tammy Albertsons, Sr. VP of Sales & Merchandising tammy.brusseau@supervalu.com 1421 S. Manhattan Avenue Bundy, Carola gardenways@yahoo.com 90247

Burdick, Natalie nburdick@healthebay.org 90405

Burgos, Frank Food4Less, Manager of Store Operations francisco.burgos@food4less.net P.O. Box 54143 Los Angeles, California 90054

Burrell, Stephen City of Hermosa Beach, Recycling Coordinator sburrell@hermosabch.org

Cahn, Steven scahn@calstrat.com

captainkelp@smbaykeeper.org

Carelli, Angi freewly@aol.com 90803

Caret, Paul pdcarey@msn.com 91406; 90013

Carlson, James jcarlson@ci.sierra-madre.ca.us 91024

Casana, Andrew California Restaurant Association, Senior Director of Local Government Affairs andrew@englanderpr.com acasana@calrest.org 115 Pine Avenue, Suite 300 Long Beach, California

Castaneda, Joe Howie's Ranch Market 6580 San Gabriel Boulevard San Gabriel, California

Castaneda, Juana juana3195@sbcglobal.net 90008 Castillo, Luis Greenland Market 18901 Colima Road Rowland Heights, California 91748

Castro, Vivian vcastro@ci.covina.ca.us 91724

Cawte, Feliza City of Azusa, Assistant Recycling Coordinator fcawte@ci.azusa.ca.us 729 N. Azusa Avenue Azusa, California 91702

Chapin, Laura thechapins@charter.net

Chavez, Grissel gchavez@ci.norwalk.ca.us 90650

Chavez, Ray City of Pico Rivera, Recycling Coordinator rchavez@pico-rivera.org

Chen, Joannie joanniechen@yahoo.com 91007

Chong, Suk schong@dpw.lacounty.gov 91803

Choy, Howard hchoy@isd.lacounty.gov

Choy, Julia Fresco Supermarket 15233 Gale Avenue City of Industry, California 91745

Chung, Andy koohyun@koreadaily.com 90004; 90005

Clemons, Lsue SCLM@memo.IKEA.com 91502; 91384 Cobb, Judy judycobb@earthlink.net 91001

Cobla, Veronica vcolba@bos.lacounty.gov

Coca, Karen City of Los Angeles Bureau of Sanitation, AB939 Program Manager Karen.Coca@lacity.org 1149 South Broadway 9th Floor Los Angeles, California 90015

Coe-Juell, L lcoe-juell@citymb.info

Cohen, Margo Marjfcohen@aol.com 91324

Collins, TJ Squirtandgizmo@yahoo.com 91791

Compton, Cindy cynthialou@earthlink.net 91024; 91351

Conlon, Linda linda91304@gmail.com 91304

Cook, Jennifer cookjennifer1@yahoo.com 90018; 90036

Coon, Sandra photosbyslc@msn.com 91741

Core, Mason masonic2@earthlink.net 91803

Costanzo, Anne abcostanzo2@yahoo.com 90036 Costello, Darrell Roplast Industries dcostello@roplast.com

Cost Saver Market 855 Sepulveda Boulevard Torrance, California 90502

Cote, William O. Superior Grocers, Chief Financial Officer bcote@superiorgrocers.com 15510 Carmenita Road Santa Fe Springs, California 90670

Covarrubias, Marco marco6059@hotmail.com 91773

Crandall, Rick Albertsons, Director of Environmental Stewardship Operations rick.crandall@supervalu.com 1421 S. Manhattan Avenue Fullerton, California 92831

Crayton, Ralph ramacray@pacbell.net 90008

Crow, Tara tara.publicmail@gmail.com 90272; 90401

Cruz, Becky beckysez@yahoo.com 91745

Cruz, Melanie melaniescruz@gmail.com 90501

Cuecuecha, Hector hcuecuec@sbcglobal.net 91803

Cuevas, Edmundo edmundo.cuevas@asm.ca.gov 90037 Cummins, Anna Algalita Marine Research Foundation, Education Advisor annacummins@gmail.com

CVS 3650 Nogales Street West Covina, California 91792

CVS 4501 W. Slauson Avenue Los Angeles, California 90043

CVS 451 S. Sierra Madre Boulevard Pasadena, California 91107

CVS 2141 S. Hacienda Boulevard La Puente, California 91745

CVS #8898 7300 Alameda Street Walnut Park, California 90255

CVS #9507 650 E. El Segundo Boulevard Los Angeles, California 90059 (310) 327-5520

CVS Pharmacy #9696 10048 Mills Avenue Whittier, California 90624

Cyr, Rodney 4ever Bags - The Environmental Coalition rodney@4everbags.org; rodscyr@msn.com 5994 South Holly Street #102 Greenwood Village, Colorado 80111

Cyrus, Latoya latoyacyrus@caaprofessionals.com 90505; 91302

Dahlberg, Craig crdahlberg@mac.com 91711

Dan, Allen pwdir@ccis.com Darlene Natdarron@yahoo.com

Dascoli, Ernie Duro Bag Manufacturing Co., Sales Representative

Davalos, Eva eva.davalos@att.net 90022

Davis, Jim jdavis@cityofsignalhill.org

Davis, Kevin kevind60@yahoo.com 90002

Davis, Tony CVS 5399 W Centinela Avenue Los Angeles, California 90045

DeBose, Patricia pdebose1@yahoo.com 90027; 90028

Dedeaux, Marcia marciadx@gmail.com 90025

Delgado, Janet LA County Department of Public Health, Bureau of Environmental Protection jdelgado@ph.lacounty.gov 91706; 91740

Dellinger, Barbara bdelli@rialtoca.gov 90210

Denos Wilcox, Robert robertgd@pobox.com 91387

DePaul, Robin robindepaul@roadrunner.com 90807; 90806

DeSalvio, Tami desalt@earthlink.net 91711 Dickson, Lynn lalliston@hotmail.com 90278

Dixon-Davis, Diana 31st District PTSA, Director of Legislation Diana.dixon.davis1@Juno.com 10832 Andora Avenue Chatsworth, California 91311

dlellan@santa-clarita.com 91355; 91387

dnb892@aol.com 91770

Dodson, Matthew California Grocers Association, Director of Local Government Relations mdodson@cagrocers.com 1020 N. Lake Street Burbank, California 91502-1624; 91101

Donley, Monica monica5551@yahoo.com 91401

Doyle, Esther edoyle@ci.sierra-madre.ca.us 91024

Driscoll, Virginia vldrisco@sbcglobal.net 90232

Duarte, Yazmin yazminduarte15@hotmail.com 91733

Dunbar, Judith American Chemistry Council-Plastics Division, Director of Environmental & Technical Issues judith\_dunbar@americanchemistry.com 1300 Wilson Boulevard Arlington, VA 22209

Duran, Yvonne yd22@mac.com 90602; 90601 Early, Bryan Californians Against Waste, Policy Associate BryanEarly@CAWrecycles.org 921 11th Street, Suite 420 Sacramento, California 95814

Edwards, Joi joiedwards@sbcglobal.net 90047

Egoscue, Tracy Santa Monica Baykeepers, Executive Director www.smbaykeeper.org P.O. Box 10096 Marina del Rey, California 90295

eittinger@hotmail.com

Ek, John Ek & Ek, President john@ek-ek.com 633 West 5th Street, Suite 2600, Los Angeles, California 90063

El Super 1301 E. Gage Los Angeles, California

emichaut@nrdc.org

Englund, Nicole NEnglund@lacbos.org

Eriksen, Marcus Algalita Marine Research Foundation, Director of Research and Education www.algalita.org; marcuseriksen@hotmail.com 148 Marina Drive Long Beach, California 90803

Eshom, Rachel reshom@pacbell.net 91801

Espitia, Julie pjespitia@msn.com 90660

fedco2002@yahoo.com 91766; 91765 Flahrety, Brian Vons Co. #2030 25850 the Old Road Valencia, California 91355

Flowers, Christine Keep California Beautiful cflowers@cleanca.org

Fogg, Meredith Office of Assemblymember Lloyd Levine, Field Representative meredith.fogg@asm.ca.gov 6150 Van Nuys Boulevard, Suite 300 Van Nuys, California 91401

Fomalont, Robin robin@fomalont.com 90290

Fong, Alfred afong@ph.lacounty.gov 91770; 91706

Ford, Tom Santa Monica Baykeepers, Kelp Restoration Project Director P.O. Box 10096 Marina del Rey, California 90295

Forkish, Jennifer Ek & Ek jennifer@ek-ek.com; jforkish@rosekindel.com 633 West 5th Street, Suite 2600 Los Angeles, California 90063

Foster, Lisa 1 Bag at a Time, President lisa@1bagatatime.com 10700 Santa Monica Boulevard, No. 7 Los Angeles, California 90025

Francis, Marieta Algalita Marine Research Foundation, Operations Director marieta@algalita.org 148 Marina Drive Long Beach, California 90803 Franco, Jr., Victor Ek & Ek victor@ek-ek.com 633 West 5th Street, Suite 2600 Los Angeles, California 90063

Franco, Marisela me21\_me29@yahoo.com 90631; 90255

Fries, Judith jfries@counsel.lacounty.gov,

Galanty, Mark xgalanty@juno.com 90232; 90401

Gall, Tina City of Bell tgall@cityofbell.org

Gambiln, Mark Vons Co. No. 3086 2122 S. Hacienda Boulevard Hacienda Heights, California 91745

Gamino, Rogelio rgamino@ladpw.org 91803; 91770

Gandara, Elaine Lippz71@sbcglobal.net 90640

Gavino Gray, Christina incanprincess@gmail.com 91210; 91392

Gemeniano, Nilda ngemenia@dpw.lacounty.gov 91789

geoduck88@yahoo.com 91405

GHertzberg@lacbos.org

Gibson, Cyrena CyrenaKay@aol.com 91702 Gold, Mark Heal the Bay, Executive Director mgold@healthebay.org 1444 9th Street Santa Monica, California 90401

Goldberg, Greg Walgreens Pharmacy 11604 E. Whittier Boulevard Whittier, California 90606

Gomez, Eric erick\_gee@hotmail.com 90806; 90802

Gonzalez, Consuelo ninitulita@hotmail.com 90292

Gou, Paul paul\_gou@yahoo.com 90631

Graham, Becky bjgraham1156@gmail.com 91352; 91390

Grande, Pete Command Packaging, President pete\_grande@commandpackaging.com 3840 East 26th Street Los Angeles, California 90023

Greg Rite Aid Pharmacy 1237 W Carson Street Torrance, California 90502

Greg Big Saver Foods 5829 Compton Avenue Los Angeles, California 90001

Grillo, Kristine kristinegrillo@hotmail.com 90039

Grossman, Robin orbie@aol.com 90036 Grubman, Shelly thegrubmans@sbcglobal.net 91316

Guembes, Anthony tony@ecolatoday.com 90028

Guglielmo, Neil M. City of Los Angeles Bureau of Sanitation, Division Manager, Solid Resources Citywide Recycling Neil.Guglielmo@lacity.org 1149 South Broadway, 10th Floor Los Angeles, California 90015

Gusman, Stella furball641@yahoo.com 90605

H, Sam fznegtneqravat\_090411@cy.ath.cx 90640

Hajialiakbar, Bahman bhaji@dpw.lacounty.gov 91791

Hall, Mary maryberrytoo@yahoo.com 91733; 91214

Hampel, Kreigh khampel@ci.burbank.ca.us 91502

Hansen, Laurie California Film Extruders & Converters Association; ACC, Progressive Bag Alliance, Director of Government Relations lauriehansen@att.net 2402 Vista Nobleza Newport Beach, California 92660

Harbin, Trent Creative Environmental Solutions, President trentharbin@aol.com 4397 Somerset, Suite 203 Detroit, MI 48224-3465 Harbin, Wayne Creative Environmental Solutions (310) 776-1319 4951 Castana Avenue, #41 Lakewood, California 90712

Harris, Lisa lisa\_harris@longbeach.gov

Hassan, Kasaundra Community Development Commission kasaundra.hassan@lacdc.org

Heideman, Alicia City of Lomita, Associate Planner a.heideman@lomitacity.com P.O. Box 339 24300 Narbonne Avenue Lomita, California 90717

Helou, Alex E. City of Los Angeles Bureau of Sanitation, Assistant Director Alex.Helou@lacity.org 1149 South Broadway, 9th Floor Los Angeles, California 90015

Hendry, Suzi Hendrys1@aol.com 91304; 91307

Henry, Janet janettupyhenry@yahoo.com 90240; 90241

Henson, Paula terrabellalandscape@gmail.com 90066

Hernandez, Irma hernandezi@accessduarte.com 91010; 90802

Herrera, Claudia cl@group3aviation.com 91406; 91423

Heyning, Corinne corinnejohnheyning@verizon.net

Hilary Ralphs Grocery Co. #630 2270 N. Lake Avenue Altadena, California 91001

Hoffman, Dave Albertsons #6580 17120 Colima Road Hacienda Heights, California 91745

hhogan@pmcworld.com 90210

Howard, Bill Food4Less, Director william.howard@food4less.net 1100 W. Artesia Boulevard Compton, California 90220

Howard, Kenneth kennethhoward@msn.com 91209

Hsiau, Zoe zoehsiau@yahoo.com 91007; 91770

Hughs, Matt Hows Market (626) 577-2210 3035 Huntington Drive Pasadena, California 91107

Huizar, Grace City of Redondo Beach, Recycling Specialist grace.huizar@redondo.org 531 N. Gertruda Avenue Redondo Beach, California 90277

Hundley, John johnhundley@yahoo.com 90716

Hunter, Wayde whunter01@aol.com 91344 Hyunh, Tai Phan, Dao SF Supermarket 18475 Colima Road Rowland Heights, California 91748

ibarbati@ceo.lacounty.gov

Illingworth, Carlos Vons, Manager of Public Affairs and Governmental Relations carlos.illingworth@safeway.com 618 Michillinda Avenue Arcadia, California 91007-6300 Mailing: P.O. Box 513338 Los Angeles, California 90051-1338

info@cfeca.org

Jackson, Shari ACC, Progressive Bag Affiliates

Jacoby, Jenzi jvrubalcava@gmail.com 90604

James, Kirsten Heal the Bay, Staff Scientist kjames@healthebay.org 1444 9th Street Santa Monica, California 90401

Jendrucko, Susan girlrun@yahoo.com 90503

jcomey@ph.lacounty.gov

Jew, Eleen ejew@strategicpartners.net 91105; 90012

Jimenez, Anita City of Santa Fe Springs, Recycling Coordinator anitajimenez@santafesprings.org

Jimenez, Natalie njimenez@dpw.lacounty.gov 91803 John john@ek-ek.com

Johnson, Neil njohnson@ciwmb.ca.gov

Jolly, Larry Creative Environmental Solutions; Nu-Earth, Inc. 4951 Castana Avenue #41 Lakewood, California 90712

Jolly, Andrea Harbin Creative Environmental Solutions; Nu-Earth, Inc. andreajollyharbin@yahoo.com 4951 Castana Avenue #41 Lakewood, California 90712

Jones, Josiah 1 Bag at a Time, Logistics Manager josiah@1bagatatime.com 2037 Pontius Avenue Los Angeles, California 90025

Joseph, Stephen sljoseph@earthlink.net 90210; 90211

Joyce, Bonnie b\_joyce40@sbcglobal.net 90746; 90222

juantlguer@aol.com 90280

juliejburke2@hotmail.com 90212

Junior, Sammy Cost Saver Market 22905 S. Vermont Avenue Torrance, California 90502

junk@gnoht.com 90025

Kalscheuer, Cary City of Azusa, Recycling Coordinator, Assistant Director ckalscheuer@ci.azusa.ca.us 729 N. Azusa Avenue Azusa, California 91702 Karabinus, Doris M. Dkarabinus@aol.com 91803

Katona, Karly KKatona@bos.lacounty.gov

Kaye, Janet janetkaye@gmail.com 91604

Kelly, Dexter Los Angeles Audubon Society, President LAAS@laaudubon.org 7377 Santa Monica Boulevard West Hollywood 90046-6694

Kerchner, Diane ladydimarie@verizon.net 91773

Khanukayev, Maksim mkhanukayev@ladpw.org 91803

Kharaghani, Shahram City of Los Angeles Bureau of Sanitation, Division Manager, Watershed Protection Division Shahram.Kharaghani@lacity.org 1149 South Broadway Los Angeles, California 90015

Khatchadorian, Sevak skhatchadorian@dpw.lacounty.gov

Kim, Mr. Dominguez Food Warehouse 15107 S. Atlantic Avenue, E. Rancho Dominguez, California 90221

Kludt, David dckludt@gmail.com 91101

Kraus, Marsha mauskraus@gmail.com 90278; 90024

Kripal, Louise wesiek@aol.com 90802 Kubani, Dean City of Santa Monica, Manager of Environmental Programs Division dean.kubani@smgov.net 200 Santa Monica Pier, Suite J Santa Monica, California 90401

Kumagawa, Burt Los Angeles County Chief Executive Office, CEO Analyst bkumagawa@ceo.lacounty.gov

Kwan, Frank LA County Office of Education, Director of Communications kwan\_frank@lacoe.edu 9300 Imperial Highway Downey, California 90242-2890

Lafarga, Dave Stater Brothers #15 14212 Mulberry Drive Whittier, California 90604

Lafaurie, Mario res0va9h@verizon.net 90066; 90025

Laimon, Sara Environmental Charter High School, Green Ambassadors sara\_laimon@echsonline.org 4234 West 147th Street Lawndale, California 90260

Larco, Lolita lolalarco@yahoo.com 91387

Lashuay, Shawn slashuay73@yahoo.com 90260 Lau, Helen hhllau@gmail.com 91030; 90015

Lawrence, Brenda brendalawrence@roadrunner.com 91410; 90074

Lenoue, Larry llenoue@yahoo.com 91733; 91214 Leon-Grossmann, Andrea ladigicom@aol.com 90064; 90501

lfcphoto@gmail.com 91403; 91367

Liang, Carol Carolcub@hotmail.com 91780

Libid, Jewel jlibid@ladpw.org 91765

Limon, Vicky LA County Office of Education, Program Coordinator limon\_vicky@lacoe.edu 9300 Imperial Highway Downey, California 90242-2890; 90240

Lin, Lisa alessandralin@yahoo.com 91007

Lindahl, Brad City of Redondo Beach brad.lindahl@redondo.org 531 N. Gertruda Avenue Redondo Beach, California 90277

lindsayralbert@mac.com 90265

Lopez, Martin La Plaza Supermarket 1425 N. Hacienda Boulevard La Puente, California 91744

Lopez-Marcus Zorayda zorayda\_lopez@yahoo.com 91403

Lozano, Jose jozer1@yahoo.com 90240; 90241 Lucha, Benjamin blucha@cityofpalmdale.org 93550; 93552

Majchrzak, Annette amajchrz@yahoo.com 90712

Mamakos, Claire bronzedeer@msn.com

Manoukian, Vahe Plastic Recycling Corporation of California, Quality Inspector Vahe@prcc.biz P.O. Box 1327 Sonoma, California 95476

Marcus Stater Brothers 11750 Whittier Boulevard Whittier, California 90601

Martinez, Daniel Stater Brothers #67 19756 Colima Road Rowland Heights, California 91748

Martinez, Samantha Rose & Kindel, Deputy Managing Director smartinez@rosekindel.com Wilshire Grand Hotel 900 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1030 Los Angeles, California 90017

Mastro, Chris Los Angeles County Department of Public Health cmastro@ph.lacounty.gov 5050 Commerce Drive Baldwin Park, California 91706; 335-A East K-6 Lancaster, California 93535

Mattoo, Kachan Office of Assemblymember Lloyd Levine, Field Representative Kachan.Mattoo@asm.ca.gov 6150 Van Nuys Boulevard, Suite 300

Maturino, Joe JMaturin@san.lacity.org 90015 McCallum, Melinda melslacal@sbcglobal.net 91602; 90036

mbuising@ladpw.org 91205

McCarthy, Meredith mmccarthy@healthebay.org 90404; 90220

McDonald, Donald dmcdonald@all-star.com 91109; 91104

McEachen, Bee itsmceachens@yahoo.com 91780

McLaughlin, Catherine cathercm@gmail.com 90016; 90290

Mcleod, Michelle Albertson's Store #6922 26850 The Old Road Valencia, California 91381

McLurkin, Charles Charles.McLurkin@asm.ca.gov

Mejia, W wmejia@lacsd.org

Melendez, Rene rmelendez@dpw.lacounty.gov 91207; 91202

Merhabskie, Rita ritamerhabskie@yahoo.com 90630

Michaut, Evelyne Natural Resources Defense Council, Climate Solutions and Sustainable Cities Specialist emichaut@ecotech-intl.com 1314 Second Street Santa Monica, California 90401 Mike Ralphs Grocery Co. 27760 Mcbean Parkway Valencia, California 91354

Mike, Bodega R-Ranch Market #4 8601 Hooper Avenue Los Angeles, California 90002

Miller, Catherine catmiller24@verizon.net 93535; 93534

Miller, Josephine City of Santa Monica josephine.miller@smgov.net

mmeza13@yahoo.com 91770

Mohajer, Mike MikeMohajer@yahoo.com 91773; 90012

Monreal, Lisa Imonreal@ci.san-dimas.ca.us 91773

Monterrosa, Antonino atmonterrosa@yahoo.com 91324; 90025

Montoya, Tania GloriaE123@aol.com 90255; 90638

Moon, Elvin ewmoon@ewmooninc.net 90034

Moore, Truc tlmoore@counsel.lacounty.gov

Morell, Nick Sanitation Districts of Los Angeles County, Rec Coordinator nmorell@lacsd.org Morla, Ruben California Verde Magazine info@californiaverde.org; saveenergynow@hotmail.com 90605; 90604

Morris, Howard City of Pomona, Solid Waste Manager Howard\_Morris@ci.pomona.ca.us 636 W. Monterey Avenue Pomona, California 91768-3527

Morshidian, Alina City of Glendale, Administrative Analyst amorshidian@ci.glendale.ca.us 633 E. Broadway, Room 209 Glendale, California 91206; 91208

Moulton, Susan Waste Management SMoulton@wm.com

mteresav@gmail.com

Mullin, Mike City of Los Angeles Mayor's Office michael.mullin@lacity.org 200 North Spring Street, Room 303 Los Angeles, California 90012

Munoz, Irma Mujeres de la Tierra, President/Founder IrmaMunoz@yahoo.com 1550 San Fernando Road Los Angeles, California 90065

Murray, Kenneth Los Angeles County Department of Public Health

Nakamura, Ellen snapnakamura@gmail.com 90292

Napolitano, S SNapolitano@lacbos.org,

Neumann, Denise dneumann@beverlyhills.org 90210; 90064 Nguyen, Angie anguyen@dpw.lacounty.gov

Niles, Jesse helterskelter@rocketmail.com 90713

Nilsson, Kimberly Solid Waste Solutions, Inc., City Permit Services kim@sws-inc.com 91302; 90265

Nissman, Susan SNissman@bos.lacounty.gov Norma nmorta@netzero.com 90022

Obena, Rhianna rhianna.obena@gmail.com 91748; 90631

Olmos, Cecilia cepsi86@gmail.com 90022

Omar Food 4 Less 11840 Wilmington Avenue Los Angeles, California 90059

Ordaz, Hector El Super 3405 E. Cesar E. Chavez Avenue Los Angeles, California 90063

Orsino, Ralph ralph.orsino@verizon.net, 90241

Ortega, Adan Rose & Kindel; Plastics Association aortega@rosekindel.com Wilshire Grand Hotel 900 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1030 Los Angeles, California 90017

Osuna, Susie sosuna@lacbos.org, Pao, Clement clement\_pao@yahoo.com 91748; 91789

Papazyan, Sara papazyangary@yahoo.com 93551; 93510

Parathara, Jane City of Los Angeles Bureau of Sanitation, Sanitary Engineering Associate Jane.Parathara@lacity.org 1149 South Broadway, 9th Floor Los Angeles, California 90015

Park, Dorothea Los Angeles County CEO, CEO Manager dpark@ceo.lacounty.gov 500 W. Temple Street Los Angeles, California

Park, Royce Ralphs Grocery Co. 520 Workman Mill Road La Puente, California 91746

Parsons, John johnparsons@att.net

Patti, Mark mpatti@santa-clarita.com

Paulas, Gina gpaulas@sbcglobal.net 91381

Payless Foods 620 E. El Segundo Boulevard Los Angeles, California 90059

Peduzzi, Anita American Forest & Paper Association anita\_peduzzi@afandpa.org,

Peel, Tanya info@allgreenthings.com 91364; 91367

Peretz, Annette City of Bell, Director of Community Services aperetz@cityofbell.org Perez, Brenda bperez@pacela.org 91406; 91801

Peters, Heather, hpeters@wm.com 93551

Platt, Martha martha\_platt@yahoo.com 90230

Plummer, Gerry gplummer@isd.lacounty.gov 90063; 91012

Pope, Jennifer uasragreencoordinator@gmail.com 90066

Power, Kristin California Grocers Association kpower@CaliforniaGrocers.com

Prassomsri, Darunee jazz2chin@yahoo.com 90027; 90606

Preciado, Sergio Ek & Ek sergio@ek-ek.com 633 West 5th Street, Suite 2600 Los Angeles, California 90063

Pugh, Alex Los Angeles Chamber of Commerce, Environmental Policy Analyst apugh@lachamber.org 350 S. Bixel Street Los Angeles, California 90017

Quiroz, Michele mquiroz@elmonteca.gov 91803

qzxmp@yahoo.com 90503

Rancier, Racquel racquel.rancier@gmail.com 93551; 90036 Ralphs 5245 W. Centinela Avenue Los Angeles, California 90045

Ralphs Grocery Co. 2675 Foothill Boulevard La Crescenta, California 91214

Ralphs Grocery Co. 4700 Admiralty Way Marina Del Rey, California 90292

Ralphs Grocery Co. 31970 Castaic Road Castaic, California 91384

Ralphs Grocery Store 29675 The Old Road Castaic, California 91384

Ranells, JR jranells@ci.la-verne.ca.us 91750

Reason, Debra Delcylb9@aol.com 90808; 90814

Redmond, Tim Gelson's / Mayfair, Sr. Director of Store Operations tredmond@gelsons.com 19500 Plummer Street Northridge, California 91321

Reed, Wendy avconservancy@yahoo.com 91803

Rey, Dave Albertsons Store #6537 19725 Colima Road Rowland Heights, California 91748

Ricardo Food 4 Less 11407 S. Western Avenue Los Angeles, California 90047 Rios, Bernardo cpolyece@yahoo.com 90031

Rita, Patrick Orion Advocates American Forest & Paper Association prita@orionadvocates.com 1211 Connecticut Avenue NW, Suite 600 Washington, DC 20036

Rite Aid #5432 5490 Whittier Boulevard East Los Angeles, California 90022

Rite Aid #5455 11750 Wilmington Avenue Los Angeles, California 90059

Rite Aid #5526 735 E. Altadena Drive Altadena, California 91001

Rite Aid # 5538 2647 W. Foothill Boulevard La Crescenta, California 91214

Rite Aid #5562 31910 Castaic Road Castaic, California 91384

Rite Aid #5592 2060 S. Hacienda Boulevard Hacienda Heights, California 91745

Rite Aid Pharmacy #5423 1534 E. Florence Avenue Los Angeles, California 90001

Rite Aid 18993 E. Colima Road Rowland Heights, California 91748

Robert Food 4 Less 851 Sepulveda Boulevard Torrance, California 90502 Robertson, James jrobe00@yahoo.com 91711

Robles, Sandra S. Planning & Development Department, Sustainability Section sarobles@cityofpasadena.net (626) 744-7546

Roddy, Maria mariaroddy@att.net 90016

Rodriguez, Emilio erodjr@verizon.net 90242; 90241

Rosenbaum, Joshua City of Signal Hill, Solid Waste Manager jrosenbaum@cityofsignalhill.org

Ruan, Dean 99 Ranch Market 1645 S. Azusa Avenue Hacienda Heights, California 91745

Rubin, Fred frubin@dpw.lacounty.gov

Ruiz, Carlos caruiz@dpw.lacounty.gov

Ruiz, Hector Food 4 Less 1801 N. Hacienda Boulevard La Puente, California 91744

Ruiz, Jessica ms.jruiz@yahoo.com 91030

Ruiz, Leslie leslieruiz80@yahoo.com 90731

Sahagun, Olga osahagun@ceo.lacounty.gov Sales, Kevin kevin@kjservices.net 90603; 90670

Samaniego, Steve steve.samaniego@westcovina.org

Sanchez, Elisa elisas@att.net 90732

Sanchez, Socorro Top Valu Market #14 4831 Whittier Boulevard Los Angeles, California 90022

Sanchez, Vicente rvsnchz3@aim.com 91605; 93552

Sandoval, J. JSandoval@isd.lacounty.gov

Sandoval, Marcella buttercup\_2@myway.com 91343

Santamaria, Angelica asantamaria@dpw.lacounty.gov 91803; 90040

Savinar, Charles csavinar@roadrunner.com 91605

sanunsen@lacsd.org 90601

Schulz, Jim International Paper, Senior Account Manager (714) 345-9600

Sehgal, Ritu Los Angeles County Internal Services Department, Purchasing Division rsehgal@isd.lacounty.gov

Sheehan, Lari Isheehan@ceo.lacounty.gov Shelton, Kirk Los Angeles County Department of Consumer Affairs KShelton@dca.lacounty.gov

Shestek, Tim American Chemistry Council, Director, Western Region State Affairs & Grassroots Tim\_Shestek@Americanchemistry.com 1121 L Street, Suite 910 Sacramento, California 95814

Silverman, Lisa Isilverman@sinaitemple.org 91607; 90024

Silverman, Ron Sierra Club, Los Angeles Chapter, Senior Chapter Director ron.silverman@sierraclub.org 3435 Wilshire Boulevard #320 Los Angeles 90010-1904

Simhaee, David Crown Poly, Plant Manager d\_simhaee@crownpoly.com 5700 Bickett Street Huntington Park, California 90255

Simonian, Sevan CVS Pharmacy #4065 858 Sunset Avenue La Puente, California 91744

Siongco, Philip psiongco@yahoo.com 91790

Skinner, Damian damian.skinner@culvercity.org

Skye, Coby cskye@dpw.lacounty.gov 90814; 91803

Smart & Final 1125 E. El Segundo Boulevard Los Angeles, California 90059

Smart & Final #348 21600 S. Vermont Avenue Torrance, California 90502 Slotsve, Mia Miaathome4u@yahoo.com 91381

Spencer, Rene Rene.Spencer@lacity.org

Steele, Nancy nancy@lasgrwc.org 90012; 91001

Stielstra, Sorrel sstielst@gmail.com 91711

Stone, Cornelia bastiaans@earthlink.net 91324

Suarez, Karen fastcolors@champmail.com 174 Madeline Drive Monrovia, California 91016

sanunsen@lacsd.org 90601

Super King Market 2260 Lincoln Avenue Altadena, California 91001

Superior Grocers 3600 Cesar E. Chavez Avenue Los Angeles, California 90063

T.S. Emporium 1457 S Nogales Street Rowland Heights, California 91748

Tabaja, Abbas Basha Market 20802 E. Arrow Highway Covina, California 91724

Tafralian, Nicole gorillagirl@socal.rr.com 91406 Tamminen, Leslie Heal the Bay, Legislative Director Itamminen@healthebay.org 1444 9th Street Santa Monica, California 90401

Tavarez, Ruben Food 4 Less 7810 Norwalk Boulevard Whittier, California 90606

Tholen, Lisa lisa.tholen@greener-by-design.com 90302

Thomas, Lisa letmurren@yahoo.com 91351

Thompson, Emiko ethomp@dpw.lacounty.gov 91803

Tignor, Amber viamber@yahoo.com 90041

Togioka, Mark mark.togioka@lausd.net 90012; 90249

Top Valu Market #03 10819 Hawthorne Boulevard Lennox, California 90304

Top Valu Market #18 970 W 1st Street San Pedro, California 90731

Torres, Michelle mecca814@yahoo.com 90660

Trojan, Laura Ralphs Grocery Co. 24975 Pico Canyon Road Stevenson Ranch, California 91381 Troncoso, Gina ginatron@sbcglobal.net 90255; 90241

Tseng, Iwen itseng@dpw.lacounty.gov 90042; 91803

Tu, Auset my365bookkeeper@yahoo.com 90019; 90008

Tusa, Vito vito.t@sbcglobal.net 91007

Vaille, Alfre Alfre\_Vaille@longbeach.gov

Valdemarsen, Lis lvaldemarsen@iccsafe.org 91789; 90601

Valenzuela, Daniel valenzuelad@saic.com 92821

Valenzuela, Jose Superior Grocers 7316 Compton Avenue Los Angeles, California 90001

Valu + 15055 Mulberry Drive Whittier, California 90604

Vanderneut, Laura City of Lomita L.Vanderneut@lomitacity.com P.O. Box 339 24300 Narbonne Avenue Lomita, California 90717

Vant Hul, Cynthia Waste Management CVantHul@wm.com

Vasquez-Krieg, Carina carina.vasquez@westcovina.org 91790 Vega, Catherine Natural Resources Defense Council, Staff Analyst cvega@nrdc.org 1314 Second Street Santa Monica, California 90401

Velasco, Sal sal\_velasco@hotmail.com 90502

Viera-Orr, Erin eviera@janegoodall.org 90046; 90007

Vignati, Tracy Jazzski@aol.com 90034

Villalobos, Gerry Los Angeles County Department of Public Health gvillalobos@ph.lacounty.gov

Villanueva, Jorge gevillan@yahoo.com 90001; 90255

Villasenor, Nancy Nancy\_Villasenor@longbeach.gov

Vivanti, K kvivanti@lakewoodcity.org 90712

Voccola, J jvoccola@ci.malibu.ca.us 90265

von Wetter, Anne-Christine vonwetter@gmail.com 90290

Walgreens #07556 28460 Haskell Canyon Road Saugus, California 91390

Walgreens #09468 13331 Telegraph Road Whittier, California 90605 Walgreens #125 6325 Rosemead Boulevard San Gabriel, California 91775

Wal-Mart Store #2297 25450 The Old Road Stevenson Ranch, California 91381

Warshauer, Melodye mellerner@aol.com 91302

Washington, Ray sales@phonesells.net 90247

Wells, Rebecca aCookieMomster@sbcglobal.net 90262; 90803

Wetter, Dean dean.wetter@ci.corona.ca.us,

Whit, John bonefish27@aol.com 90266

White, Annie awhite@globalgreen.org,

White-Dove, Marie titans2superbowl@sbcglobal.net 93550

Wicker, Lizza lizza.wicker@yahoo.com 90045

Wilson, Pamela 99 Ranch Market 1015 Nogales Street Rowland Heights, California 91748

Wippel, Vickie Waste Management, Community Relations Manager VWippel@wm.com

Wong, John johnwong1@verizon.net 90266 Woomer, Mickey Trader Joe's 7260 N. Rosemead Boulevard San Gabriel, California 91775

Wout, Michael dutchhockeyman@ca.rr.com 91042

Yim, Priscilla gloryjc@socal.rr.com 91108

Zaldivar, Enrique C. City of Los Angeles Bureau of Sanitation, Director Enrique.Zaldivar@lacity.org 1149 South Broadway, 9th Floor Los Angeles, California 90015

Zandel, Lily LilyZee@aol.com 90232